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Dear Colleague:

It has been my distinct pleasure to lead the Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus
Pandemic for the 118™ Congress. I was honored to be entrusted with a great responsibility: to
investigate a once in 100-year pandemic and to prepare America for next time—and there will be
a next time. This is a responsibility I took very seriously, and I believe that seriousness and
teamwork has translated to much success.

Five years ago, on December 1, 2019, was what would eventually be the first confirmed
case of COVID-19. After that, a pandemic devastated the world at nearly never before seen
proportions, leaving millions dead and millions more concerned about long-term consequences.

COVID-19 was novel. The brightest scientists and medical experts were learning on the
job to determine how to treat both the underlying disease and the second order side effects.

Since February 2023, the Select Subcommittee sought to produce a full after-action report
to provide a road map of how we, in Congress, the Executive, and the private sector may better
prepare for and respond to future pandemics. Throughout this process, the Select Subcommittee
sent more than 100 investigative letters, conducted 38 transcribed interviews or depositions, held
25 hearings or meetings, and reviewed more than one million pages of documents from dozens
of custodians. This work looks back on many events, comments, guidances, and other actions, to
look forward. This is the single most thorough review of the pandemic conducted to date.

Most of you know me. You know I strive to work collegially, with our fellow Americans,
to provide results for all of us. That is the same mentality I brought to my work as Chairman of
the Select Subcommittee. During a time of intense partisanship, the Select Subcommittee had
bipartisan consensus across multiple topics.

1) The possibility that COVID-19 emerged because of a laboratory or research related
accident 1s not a conspiracy theory.

2) EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. and Dr. Peter Daszak should never again receive U.S. taxpayer
dollars.

3) Scientific messaging must be clear and concise, backed by evidentiary support, and come
from trusted messengers, such as front-line doctors treating patients.

4) Public health officials must work to regain American’s trust; Americans want to be
educated, not indoctrinated.




5) Former New York Governor Andrew Cuomo participated in medical malpractice and
publicly covered up the total number of nursing home fatalities in New York.

In addition to these notable bipartisan successes, the Select Subcommittee developed
extensive findings, some of which include:

1) The U.S. National Institutes of Health funded gain-of-function research at the Wuhan
Institute of Virology.

2) The Chinese government, agencies within the U.S. Government, and some members of
the international scientific community sought to cover-up facts concerning the origins of
the pandemic.

3) Operation Warp Speed was a tremendous success and a model to build upon in the future.
The vaccines, which are now probably better characterized as therapeutics, undoubtedly
saved millions of lives by diminishing likelihood of severe disease and death.

4) Rampant fraud, waste, and abuse plagued the COVID-19 pandemic response.

5) Pandemic-era school closures will have enduring impact on generations of America’s
children and these closures were enabled by groups meant to serve those children.

6) The Constitution cannot be suspended in times of crisis and restrictions on freedoms sow
distrust in public health.

7) The prescription cannot be worse than the disease, such as strict and overly broad
lockdowns that led to predictable anguish and avoidable consequences.

Chairing the Select Subcommittee for the 118" Congress has been my honor. I said from
the beginning, this work is the single most impactful responsibility I have undertaken in 12 years
in Congress, and it has been. This work will help the United States, and the world, predict the
next pandemic, prepare for the next pandemic, protect ourselves from the next pandemic, and
hopefully prevent the next pandemic. Members of the 119" Congress should continue and build
off this work, there is more information to find and honest actions to be taken.

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted a distrust in leadership. Trust is earned.
Accountability, transparency, honesty, and integrity will regain this trust. A future pandemic
requires a whole of America response managed by those without personal benefit or bias. We can
always do better, and for the sake of future generations of Americans, we must. It can be done!

Sincerely,

Brad Wenstrup, D.P.M.
Chairman
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The Origins of the Coronavirus Pandemic, Including but Not Limited to the
Federal Government’s Funding of Gain-of-Function Research

I The Unknown Origins of COVID-19

FINDING: SARS-CoV-2, the Virus that Causes COVID-19, Likely Emerged Because of a
Laboratory or Research Related Accident.

Four years after the onset of the worst pandemic in 100 years, the weight of the evidence
increasingly supports the lab leak hypothesis. Since the Select Subcommittee commenced its
work in February 2023, more and more senior intelligence officials, politicians, science editors,
and scientists increasingly have endorsed the hypothesis that COVID-19! emerged as the result
of a laboratory or research related accident.

In January 2021, the State Department published an unclassified Fact Sheet entitled,
“Fact Sheet: activity at the Wuhan Institute of Virology,” [hereinafter “Fact Sheet”] that stated
the following.

1) “The U.S. government has reason to believe that several researchers inside the WIV
became sick in autumn 2019, before the first identified case of the outbreak, with
symptoms consistent with both COVID-19 and common seasonal illness.”? The June
2023 ODNI Assessment entitled, “Potential Links Between the Wuhan Institute of
Virology and the Origin of the COVID-19 Pandemic,” [hereinafter “June 2023 ODNI
Assessment”] supported this conclusion.’

2) “The WIV has a published record of conducting “gain-of-function” research to engineer
chimeric viruses.”* The June 2023 ODNI Assessment supported this conclusion and went
further, stating, “[s]cientists at the WIV have created chimeras, or combinations of
SARS-like coronaviruses through genetic engineering, attempted to clone other unrelated
viruses, and used reverse genetic cloning techniques on SARS-like coronaviruses.” The
June 2023 ODNI Assessment continued, “[s]Jome of the WIV’s genetic engineering
projects on coronaviruses involved techniques that could make it difficult to detect
intentional changes.”®

3) “Despite the WIV presenting itself as a civilian institution, the United States had
determined that the WIV collaborated on publications and secret projects with China’s
military...since at least 2017.”7 Again, the June 2023 ODNI Assessment supported this

! Throught this Report, “COVID-19” is used to describe SARS-CoV-2.

2 FACT SHEET: ACTIVITY AT THE WUHAN INSTITUTE OF VIROLOGY, U.S. DEP’T OF STATE (Jan. 15, 2021) [hereinafter
“Fact Sheet™].

3 POTENTIAL LINKS BETWEEN THE WUHAN INSTITUTE OF VIROLOGY AND THE ORIGIN OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC,
OFFICE OF THE DIR. OF NAT’L INTELLIGENCE (June 2023) [hereinafter “June 2023 ODNI Assessment”].

4 Fact Sheet, supra note 2.

5 June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.

o1d.

" Fact Sheet, supra note 2.
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conclusion, stating, “...WIV personnel have worked with scientists associated with the
PLA on public health-related projects and collaborated on biosafety and biosecurity
projects.”®

Further, the June 2023 ODNI Assessment stated, “[s]Jome WIV researchers probably did
not use adequate biosafety precautions at least some of the time prior to the pandemic in
handling SARS-like coronaviruses, increasing the risk of accidental exposure to viruses.””

In February and March of 2023, DOE and FBI publicly acknowledged their respective
assessments that COVID-19 was the likely result of a lab incident—FBI with moderate
confidence and DOE with low confidence.'® Other intelligence elements assess COVID-19’s
emergence was likely zoonotic, albeit all with low confidence.'!

On March 8, 2023, Dr. Redfield testified:

Dr. Robert Redfield (March 8, 2023)

From the earliest days of the pandemic, my view was that both theories
about the origin of COVID-19 needed to be aggressively and thoroughly
examined. Based on my initial analysis of the data, I came to believe—and
still believe today—that it indicates COVID-19 infections more likely were
the result of an accidental lab leak than the result of a natural spillover event.
This conclusion is based primarily on the biology of the virus itself,
including its rapid high infectivity for human-to-human transmission which
would then predict rapid evolution of new variants, as well as a number of
other important factors to include the unusual actions in and around Wuhan
in the fall of 2019..."?

One month later in April 2023, Mr. Ratcliffe testified:

The Honorable John Ratcliffe (April 18, 2023)

First, let me state the bottom-line up front. My informed assessment as a
person with as much access as anyone to our government’s intelligence
during the initial year of the pandemic has been and continues to be that a
lab leak is the only explanation credibly supported by our intelligence, by
science, and by commonsense. From a view inside the IC, if our
intelligence and evidence supporting a lab leak theory was placed side-by-

8 June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.

o1d.

10 Hannah Rabinowitz, FBI Director Wray acknowledges bureau assessment that Covid-19 likely resulted from lab
incident, CNN (updated Mar. 1, 2023); Jeremy Herb & Natasha Bertrand, US Energy Department assesses Covid-19
likely resulted from lab leak, furthering US intel divide over virus origin, CNN (Feb. 27, 2023).

' June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.

12 Investigating the Origins of COVID: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118
Cong, 1, (Mar. 8, 2023) [hereinafter “Investigating the Origins of COVID-19].
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side with our intelligence and evidence pointing to a natural origins or
spillover theory, the lab leak side of the ledger would be long, convincing,
even overwhelming, while the spillover side would be nearly empty and
tenuous. '

In January 2024, Mr. Wade voiced his increasing support for a lab incident origin.'* Mr.
Wade astutely noted that “SARS2 possesses a furin cleavage site, found in none of the other 871
known members of its viral family, so it cannot have gained such a site through the ordinary
evolutionary swaps of genetic material within a family.”!> With the natural evolution of a furin
cleavage site being nonexistent, Mr. Wade further noted that EcoHealth and the WIV’s DEFUSE
proposal, which was rejected by DARPA, sought to do what nature had not been ever known to
do—insert a furin cleavage site into a SARS2 virus.'® It is, therefore, more than just a
coincidence that COVID-19 emerged from the city with a lab preparing to conduct this research
under cost-effective yet risky BSL-2 protocols.!”

In June 2024, Dr. Chan explained five key points that support the lab leak scenario as
more plausible than a zoonotic spillover.'®

First, COVID-19 emerged in Wuhan, the city that happens to be the location of the
China’s foremost research lab for SARS-like viruses.'® Dr. Shi, has been researching SARS-like
viruses for over a decade and even initially wondered if the outbreak came from the WIV.%

Next, in 2018, a year before the outbreak, EcoHealth, in partnership with the WIV, in a
grant application to DARPA proposed to create a virus with SARS-CoV-2’s defining features. In
their application to DARPA, EcoHealth and its WIV partners stated their intent to create a
SARS-like virus with a furin cleavage site, which is the exact same feature that made humans
susceptible to COVID-19 infection.?!

Third, the WIV has a track record of engaging in this type of airborne viral research
under low biosafety conditions.?? At the WIV, it was known that Chinese researchers conducted
this type of research under BSL-2 protocols, which do not require masking at all times and
involves less protective equipment.? In the U.S., this type of research would be conducted under
BSL-3 protocols, which require stricter personal respirator use at all times and more protective

13 Investigating the Origins of COVID Part 2: China and the Available Intelligence: Hearing Before the Select
Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong, 1, (Apr. 18, 2023) [hereinafter “Investigating the Origins of
COVID Part 2: China and the Available Intelligence”].

14 Nicholas Wade, The Story of the Decade, CITY JOURNAL (Jan. 25, 2024).

15

o1

7 1d.

18 Alina Chan, Why the Pandemic Probably Started in a Lab, in 5 Key Points, THEN.Y. TIMES (June 3, 2024)
[hereinafter “Chan’].
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equipment.?* In fact, in a draft proposal for the grant to DARPA, Dr. Daszak acknowledged that
some of the SARS-CoV-2 research would be conducted at BSL-2 at the WIV.?

The modeling team will use these data to build models of 1) risk of vira
evolution and spillover, and ) strategies to maximize inoculation strategy.
Data on the diversity of bat spike proteins, prevalence of recombinant CoVs, ability to
bind and infect human cells, degree of clinical signs in mouse models, will be used to
estimate evolutionary rates, rates of recombination, and capacity to generate novel
strains capable of human infection. Using dynamic metapopulation models, we will
estimate the flow of genes within each bat cave, based on the known host and viral
assemblages. This will inform how rapidly new CoV strains with distinct phenotypic
characteristics evolve. Because of our unigue collaboration ameng world-class
modelers, and corenavirologists, we will be able to test model predictions of viral
capacity for spillover by conducting spike protein-based binding and cell culture
experiments. The B5L-2 nature of work on SARSr-CoV's makes our system highly cost-
effective relative to other bat-virus systems [e.g. Ebola, Marburg, Hendra, Nipah), which

require B5L-4 level facilities for cell culture. _—{ Commented [BRS17]: IN the US, these recombinant
We will use modeling approaches, the data above, and other blological and zg:g;“ﬁﬂ;:rmm'lmmm’:ﬁ; ::_m:‘::_;"’m
ecological data to estimate how rapidly high-risk SARSr-CoV's will re-colonize a bat primary human cells.
. : In china, might be growin these virus under belZ US
population following iImmune boosting or priming. We will obtain model estimates of | reseachers wil Liely fresk out

the frequency of inoculation required for both approaches, what proportion of a
population needs to be reached to have effective viral dampening, and whether specific
seasons, or locations within a cave would be more effective to treat. We will then model

Fourth, the evidence supporting that COVID-19 came from an animal at the Huanan
Seafood Market in Wuhan is tenuous.?® Dr. Chan points of that “the existing genetic and early
case data show that all known COVID-19 cases probably stem from a single introduction of
SARS-CoV-2 into people, and the outbreak at the Wuhan market probably happened after the
virus had already been circulating in humans.”?’ Furthermore, no infected animal has been
verified at the Wuhan market or its supply chain.?

Finally, key evidence that would be expected if the virus had emerged from the wildlife
trade is still missing.? In previous outbreaks, such as SARS in 2002 and MERS in 2012,
infected animals were found, the earliest cases occurred in people exposed to live animals, and
ancestral variants of the virus found in animals were discovered, but none of this evidence has
been discovered for COVID-19.%°

In September 2024, Mr. Boris Johnson, former British Prime Minister, stated his belief
that the COVID-19 pandemic originated via a laboratory or research related accident in Wuhan.?!

#Ud.

25 Emily Kopp, American scientists misled Pentagon on research at the Wuhan Institute of Virology, U.S. RIGHT TO
KNow (Dec. 18, 2023).

26 Chan, supra note 18.

71d.
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31 Jane Dalton, Boris Johnson claims Covid originated in lab, in sudden U-turn in his views, INDEPENDENT (Sept.
29, 2024).
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Mr. Johnson noted that the pandemic “now looks overwhelmingly likely that the mutation was
the result of some botched experiment in a Chinese lab.”3?

In November 2024, Biden-Harris Administration COVID-19 Response Coordinator, Dr.
Ashish K. Jha, wrote that Chinese “senior military officers have been writing for years about the
potential benefits of offensive biological warfare.”** He also acknowledged that the COVID-19
virus might have accidentally leaked from a lab.>*

On November 21, 2024, Dr. Tim Spector, Professor at King’s College London, who
played a significant role in the pandemic response in the United Kingdom, recently doubled
down on his belief that the lab leak is the most likely source of the pandemic.* Dr. Spector noted
that “[i]t’s looking increasingly like that was a bit of a cover-up and the most likely source of this
was a lab leak from Wuhan.”3°

Over the course of the pandemic, there have also been studies suggesting COVID-19’s
emergence was zoonotic and transferred from an animal to a human.’” Dr. Lipkin described two
of these studies as “armchair epidemiology,”*® Dr. Baric described one as having a “major
problem,”* and Dr. Holden Thorp, the Editor-in-Chief of Science (the publisher of two of these
studies) testified these studies “do not conclusively prove [ ] the theory of natural origin.”*

As Mr. Ratcliffe testified, the ledger on the side of lab leak is full of convincing evidence
while the spillover side is nearly empty. Since January 2020, the body of evidence has only
grown stronger in support of a lab leak theory.

FINDING: “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2” Was “Prompted” by Dr. Anthony Fauci to
“Disprove” the Lab Leak Theory.

On February 16, 2020, Dr. Rambaut, on behalf of himself and his co-authors, Dr.
Andersen, Dr. Lipkin, Dr. Holmes, and Dr. Garry posted “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2"

32 1d.

33 Ashish K. Jha, et al., The U.S. could soon face a threat ‘more powerful’ than nuclear weapons, THE WASH. POST
(Nov. 11, 2024).

#*d.

35 Sarah Knapton, Lab leak most likely source of Covid, says Prof Tim Spector, THE TELEGRAPH (Nov. 21, 2024).

3 1d.

37 Alexander Crits-Christoph, et. al., Genetic tracing of market wildlife and viruses at the epicenter of the COVID-19
pandemic, CELL 187: 5468-5482; Edward Holmes, et. al., The origins of SARS-CoV-2: A critical review, CELL 184:
4848-4856; Jonthan Pekar, et. al., The molecular epidemiology of multiple zoonotic origins of SARS-CoV-2, SCIENCE
377:960-966; Michael Worobey, et. al., The Hunan Seafood Wholesale Market in Wuhan was the early epicenter of
the COVIDI-9 pandemic, SCIENCE 377: 951-959; Edward Holmes, et. al., The emergence and evolution of SARS-
CoV-2, ANN. REV. VIROL. (Sept. 11, 2024).

38 Transcribed Interview of lan Lipkin, M.D., John Snow Professor of Epidemiology, Columbia Univ. (Apr. 6, 2023)
[hereinafter “Lipkin TI”].

39 Transcribed Interview of Ralph Baric, Ph.D., Professor, University of N. Carolina, at 102 (Jan. 22, 2024)
[hereinafter “Baric TI”].

40 Academic Malpractice: Examining the Relationship Between Scientific Journals, the Government, and Peer
Review: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong, (Apr. 11, 202) (Statement
of Dr. Holden Thorp, Editor-in-Chief, Science Journals).
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on the website Virological.*' One month later, on March 17, 2020, “The proximal origin of
SARS-CoV-2” [hereinafter “Proximal Origin”] was published in Nature Medicine.**

The authors of Proximal Origin stated two primary conclusions: (1) “...[COVID-19] is
not a laboratory construct or a purposefully manipulated virus,” and (2) “we do not believe that
any type of laboratory-based scenario is plausible.”*

January 2020

According to Dr. Farrar, the initial discussions regarding the sequence of COVID-19 and
any unusual aspects began on January 8 or 9.* At that point it is unclear what the concerns were
or who exactly was involved, however e-mails suggest that Dr. Farrar called both Chinese
officials and Dr. Collins.*®

Message

From: leremy Farrar

Sent: 7/28/202012:36:51 AM
To: Edward Holmes

cc: Kristian G. Ande”, anthony (NtH/N1A1D) (€] [
Subject: Re: The authors who wrote the paper saying that SARS-CoV-2 is not human enginesred first tried convincing

Anthony Fauci of the opposite.

Thanks Eddie.

| will recheck emails and phones, | will try and do that today.

| think it really starts on the 8/9" January and the calls you and | had with China and the criginal sequence.
And others were also on those calls = Francis Collins, Mike Ferguson, Patrick Vallance.

| would suggest we get the sequence of events absolutely right before replying.

Best wishes Jeremy

According to Dr. Farrar he became aware of “chatter” suggesting the virus looked almost
engineered to infect human cells in the last week of January.*® In Dr. Farrar’s own words, “[t]hat
got my mind racing. This was a brand-new virus that seemingly sprang from nowhere. Except

41 Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2, VIROLOGICAL (Feb. 16, 2020),
https://virological.org/t/the-proximal-origin-of-sars-cov-2/398.

42 Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2, NATURE MEDICINE (Mar. 17, 2020)
[hereinafter “Proximal Origin”].

B

4 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Eddie Holmes, Ph.D., et. al., Professor, University of Sydney
(July 28, 2020, 12:36 AM).

4 Id. (Dr. Collins did not recall being on any calls with Chinese officials or Dr. Farrar, separately or together, during
this time period.)

46 Jeremy Farrar, Spike: The Virus vs. The People — The Inside Story (Profile Books 2021) [hereinafter “Spike: The
Virus vs. The People — The Inside Story™].
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that this pathogen had surfaced in Wuhan, a city with a BSL-4 virology lab which is home to an
almost unrivalled collection of bat viruses.”*” Dr. Farrar’s first concern was, “[c]ould the novel-
coronavirus be anything to do with ‘gain-of-function’ (GOF) studies?”*® This is a type of
research that Dr. Farrar, much like Dr. Fauci, believed to be “ultimately useful.”*

Around this same time, Dr. Andersen shared his concerns regarding the possibility the
COVID-19 pandemic was the result of a lab leak and that it had properties that may have been
genetically modified or engineered—specifically the furin cleavage site—with Dr. Holmes.>°
According to Dr. Holmes, Dr. Andersen texted, “Eddie, can we talk? I need to be pulled off a
ledge here.”!

Dr. Andersen went on to express concerns regarding two distinct aspects of the virus—the
RBD and the furin cleavage site. Dr. Andersen also found a paper written by Dr. Baric and Dr.
Shi [hereinafter “Baric/Shi Paper”] that purported to have inserted furin cleavage sites into
SARS. As recounted by Dr. Farrar, this paper was a “how-to-manual for building the Wuhan
coronavirus in a laboratory.”>? Dr. Holmes responded, “fuck, this is bad” and “oh my god what
worse words than that.”>3

On January 30, 2020, Dr. Holmes relayed Dr. Andersen’s concerns to Dr. Farrar via his
burner phone.** Dr. Andersen recalled Dr. Holmes saying that Dr. Farrar acted as Dr. Holmes’
“handler.”>® Then, as Dr. Holmes characterized it, the conversations went from “zero to 100.”3°

January 31, 2020

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Andersen testified that after discussing his concerns with
Dr. Farrar, they began to organize a conference call [hereinafter “February 1 Conference Call”].”’
The February 1 Conference Call was a forum for Dr. Andersen to “walk through my concerns
and then...discuss it.”®

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

And Jeremy [Farrar] gets all of this set up. He, I’m sure, has been in touch
with Tony Fauci at the time, reaches out to Dr. Fauci, asks him to call me.>’

1.

®Id.

Y

30 Vincent Racaniello, This Week in Virology 940 (Sept. 28, 2022) [hereinafter “Racaniello”].
SUId.

52 Spike: The Virus vs. the People, supra note 46.

33 Id; Racaniello, supra note 50.

M Id.

35 Transcribed Interview of Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, at 16 (June 16, 2023) (hereinafter
“Andersen TI”).

36 Racaniello, supra note 50.

57 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.

8 Id.

¥ Id.
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It 1s unclear whether Dr. Farrar and Dr. Fauci had significant contact prior to the call, but
it was at this point that Dr. Farrar alerted Dr. Fauci to potential concerns and they began
orchestrating a conference call.®® Dr. Fauci’s assistant replied, “Will call shortly...”%!

From: Jeremy Farrar W
Sent: Friday, January 31, :
To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E] _

Subject: Phone call

Tony

Really would like to speak with you this evening

It is 10pm now UK

Can you phone me on +44 _

Jeremy

From: "Conrad, Patricia (NIH/NIAID) [E]“—on behalf of "Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E]"

Date: Friday, 31 January 2020 at 22:34
To: Jeremy Farrar
Subject: RE: Phone call

Will call shortly...

Patricia L. Conrad

Public Health Analyst and

Special Assistant to the Director

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases

The National Institutes of Health

Bethesda, Maryland 20892

fax

Presumably, Dr. Fauci and Dr. Farrar discussed the concerns raised by Dr. Andersen and
Dr. Holmes because after their call, Dr. Farrar responds to Dr. Fauci and asks him to call Dr.
Andersen, stating, “[t]he people involved are: Kristian Andersen..., Bob Garry..., Eddie
Holmes.”®?

 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 31, 2020, 5:23 PM).

6! E-Mail from Patricia Conrad, Special Asst. to the Dir., Nat’] Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of
Health, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D.. Dir., Wellcome Trust (Jan. 31, 2020, 22:34).

62 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 31, 2020, 5:57 PM).
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From: Jeremy Farrar W

Sent: Friday, January 31, 2

To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E] _
Subject: Re: Phone call

Thanks Tony

Can you phone Kristian Anderson

I

He is expecting your call now.

The people involved are:

Kristian Anderson

https://www.scripps.edu/faculty/andersen/

Bob Garry

Eddie Holmes

https://sydney.edu.au/science/about/our-people/academic-staff/edward-holmes.html|

Dr. Fauci memorialized his January 31, 2020 conversation with Dr. Andersen.® In this e-
mail, Dr. Fauci raised direct concerns regarding the furin cleavage site, directed Dr. Andersen to
“get a group of evolutionary biologists together to examine carefully the data to determine if his
concerns are validated,” and stated that if there is a possibility COVID-19 came from a lab leak,
they would need to “report it to the appropriate authorities.”%* This appears to be Dr. Fauci’s first
mention of setting up a conference call and drafting a report. Dr. Fauci concluded by saying, “...I
will alert my U.S. Government official colleagues of my conversation...and determine what
further investigation they recommend.”%’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

63 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’] Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, & Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Jan. 31, 2020,
4:38 PM).

6 1d.
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On Fri, Jan 21, 2020 at 4:38 PM Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E] _wmte:

Jeremy:

| just got off the phone with Kristian Anderson and he related to me his concern about the

Furine site mutation in the spike protein of the currently circulating 2019-nCoV. | told him
that as soon as possible he and Eddie Holmes should get a group of evolutionary biologists
together to examine carefully the data to determine if his concerns are validated. He should
do this very quickly and if everyone agrees with this concern, they should report it to the
appropriate authorities. | would imagine that in the USA this would be the FBI and in the UK
it would be MI5. It would be important to quickly get confirmation of the cause of his
concern by experts in the field of coronaviruses and evolutionary biology. In the meantime, |
will alert my US. Government official colleagues of my conversation with you and Kristian and
determine what further investigation they recommend. Let us stay in touch.

Best regards,

Tony

Anthony §. Fauci, MD
Director

REV0000750

Mational Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases

Mational Institutes of Health
Bethesda, MD 20882-2520
Phone:

FAX:

E-mail:

The information in this e-mail and any of its attachments is confidential and may contain sensitive
information. It should not be used by anyone who is not the original intended recipient. if you have received
this e-mail in error please inform the sender and delete it from your mailbox or any other storage devices. The
MNational Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) shall not accept liahility for any statemenis made
that are the sender's own and not expressly made on behalf of the NIAID by one of its representatives.

Dr. Andersen testified that January 31 was the first time he spoke to Dr. Fauci personally,
outside of potential interactions at conferences.®® Accordingly, it was also on the January 31
phone call between Dr. Fauci and Dr. Andersen when the first discussion of a paper regarding a
possible lab leak took place.%’

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. Was this the first time that you had ever spoken to Dr. Fauci, like
personally?

A. Probably. Yeah...
Outside of conferences or - -?

A. Sure. Yes. Yes. Yes. Absolutely, yes.

ksksk

%6 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.
7 Id.
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Q. So, I think you testified, and you can correct me if this isn’t a fair
characterization, that Dr. Fauci suggested a peer-reviewed paper of
some kind. When did that suggestion happen?

A. That happened - - again, the first phone call I had with him, which
was immediately prior - - I think a day prior [January 31], right, to
the conference call itself [February 1] where I relayed my initial
concerns and findings. He specifically suggested considering
writing a peer-reviewed publication on 1it, and specifically I
remember hearing him saying that if you think this came from a lab,
you should write this up as a peer-reviewed paper, so it can be
judged by the peer community basically, yeah.5®

Then, Mr. Folkers forwarded Dr. Fauci an article entitled, “Mining coronavirus genomes
for clues to the outbreak’s origins.”® This article directly mentions the Baric/Shi Paper that Dr.
Andersen found alarming, and links directly EcoHealth to the WIV.” Dr. Fauci forwarded the
article to Dr. Farrar and Dr. Andersen and said, “[t]his just came out today. You may have seen it.
If not, it is of interest to the current discussion.””! Dr. Andersen responded:’?

From: Kristian G. Andersen _

Sent: Friday, January 31, 2020 10:32 PM

To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) (E] N

cc: Jeremy Farrar |GG

Subject: Re: FW: Science: Mining coronavirus genomes for clues to the outbreak’s origins

Hi Tony,

Thanks for sharing. Yes, | saw this earlier today and both Eddie and myself are actually quoted in it. It's a great article,
but the problem is that our phylogenetic analyses aren’t able to answer whether the sequences are unusual at individual
residues, except if they are completely off. On a phylogenetic tree the virus looks totally normal and the close clustering
with bats suggest that bats serve as the reservoir. The unusual features of the virus make up a really small part of the
genome (<0.1%) so one has to look really closely at all the sequences to see that some of the features (potentially) look
engineered.

We have a good team lined up to look very critically at this, so we should know much more at the end of the weekend. |
should mention that after discussions earlier today, Eddie, Bob, Mike, and myself all find the genome inconsistent with
expectations from evolutionary theory. But we have to look at this much more closely and there are still further analyses
to be done, so those opinions could still change.

Best,
Kristian

8 1d.

% E-Mail from Greg Folkers, Chief of Staff, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 31, 2020):; Jon
Cohen, Mining coronavirus genomes for clues to the outbreaks’ origins, SCIENCE (Jan. 31, 2020).

70 Jon Cohen, Mining coronavirus genomes for clues to the outbreaks’ origins, SCIENCE (Jan. 31, 2020).

"1 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, & Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Jan. 31,
2020).

2 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir.. Nat’l Inst. of
Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust (Jan. 31, 2020,
10:32 PM).
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Dr. Andersen clarified what “unusual features” he was referencing.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. Which features, at that time, were you talking about?

A. Yeah, I’m talking about, like, the furin cleavage site, the receptor
binding domain, and a few things associated with that, the BamH1
restriction site that I mentioned, as well as some features associated
with that - - basically, what I ended up presenting the next day at
that conference call.”

Dr. Andersen subsequently confirmed that when he said the “genome inconsistent with
expectations from evolutionary theory” he meant he thought COVID-19 could have been
engineered.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. ...[W]as it the furin cleavage site and the RBD that looked
inconsistent from evolutionary theory?

skok ok

A. And when I’m saying the genome is inconsistent with expectations

from evolutionary theory, it’s a bit of a fancy way of basically
saying, like, look, guys, I think this could be engineered.”

The next day, February 1, 2020, a group of scientists, including Dr. Fauci, gathered via
conference call for Dr. Andersen to present these findings and discuss a path forward.

February 1, 2020

On February 1, 2020, Dr. Farrar emailed a large group to set up the February 1
Conference Call to discuss Dr. Andersen’s concerns about the origins of COVID-19. The original
attendee list included:

Kristian Andersen
Bob Garry
Christian Drosten
Tony Fauci

Mike Ferguson
Ron Fouchier
Eddie Holmes

3 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.
" Id.
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Marion Koopmans
Stefan Pohlmann
Andrew Rambaut
Paul Schreier
Patrick Vallance.”

Despite Dr. Farrar sending the invitation on February 1, Dr. Andersen testified he was
aware of the potential of a call prior to February 1.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. When did you first learn of this call? Was it when the roster was sent
out, February 15'?

A. No. I knew that the call was going to happen, because Eddie, myself
had talked about it, and I talked to Jeremy Farrar...This is where I
became aware of all the details surrounding the conference call.”®

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Garry testified he was also aware of the potential
conference call prior to February 1.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. How were you invited to this call?

A I believe I received an email from Jeremy Farrar.

Q. ...[T]o the best of you recollection, what day was that?

A Probably the day before or - - at most 2 days before, but I think it
was the day before.”’

In addition to Dr. Fauci, at least two other federal government officials were on the call
despite not being on the official roster—Dr. Collins and Dr. Tabak.

E-mails suggest that Dr. Fauci personally invited Dr. Collins.”

75 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., et. al.,, Dir., Nat’l Inst. of
Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 1, 2020).

76 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.

7 Transcribed Interview of Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane University School of Medicine, at 16 (June 9,
2023) [hereinafter “Garry TI”].

8 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, & Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 1,
2020, 15:48); E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of
Health, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane School of Medicine, et. al. (Feb. 1, 2020, 15:50).
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From: "Fauci, Anthony (MIH/NI&ID) [E]" ) (8=
Date; Saturday, 1 February 2020 at 15:48

To: leremy Farrar k) 1)
Ce: Francis Collins (b {8}
Subject: RE: Teleconference

Jeremy:
Francis will be on the call, He istrying to phane you,
Tany

From: "Fauci, Anthony (MIH/MIAID) [E]" i) ()
Date: Saturday, 1 February 2020 at 15:50
To: "Garry, Robert F* W6 lgremy Farrar b ()
Cc: Patrick Wallance &8, “Drosten, Chrstian”
B8 parion Koopmans ) (5
B8 Edward Holmes
(b} (6)
B8 "Kristian G. Andersen” (LR
Paul Schreier Wi, rpichael FMedsci {0 ()
Francis Collins B8 "Tabak, Lawrence (NIH/OD) [E]"
) ()
Subject: RE: Teleconference

Please include Francis Collins (copied here) on all subsequent correspondence regarding this
call. Thanks.

On March 24, 2023, the Select Subcommittee requested Dr. Fauci clarify whether he
personally invited Dr. Collins to the conference call.” On March 27, 2023, Dr. Fauci responded,
via Counsel, “[a]s one would reasonably expect, Dr. Fauci advised his immediate supervisor, Dr.
Francis Collins, that the call was taking place. Dr. Collins expressed an interest in joining the
call.”®® In a transcribed interview, Dr. Fauci further clarified this sequence of events.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 9, 2024)

Q. So I want to talk about the first forward of yours to Dr. Collins. Did
Dr. Collins request to be on the call? Like, how did the process --
you obviously forwarded the call-in details to Dr. Collins. How did
that process play out?

A. Well, Dr. Collins is my boss. So this seemed like a pretty important
call for NIH, so I thought it would be a good idea to let my boss
know.

7 Letter from Hon. Brad Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, to Anthony Fauci,
M.D. Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Mar. 24, 2023).

80 Letter from David Schertler & Danny Ornato, Counsel for Dr. Anthony S. Fauci, to Hon. Brad Wenstrup,
Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic (Mar. 27, 2023).
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So you got invited -- or you had the January 31st call, got invited to
the conference call after Farrar set it all up, and then went and was
like, "Dr. Collins, there's this call happening. Would you like to take
part?" Is that fair?

I believe that's the way it went, because -- yeah, I believe that's the
way it went.

Okay. It's been in the news for a while and Dr. Redfield has talked
about this a lot and testified in front of us in March that he was not
included in the call. He was very clear to say he was not -- he's not
testifying that he was intentionally excluded, just that he was not
included. At any point, did —

Actually, he said that I kept him out of the call because he had a
different viewpoint.

He did say that —

He said that clearly.

Do you recall having any conversations with —
Sorry.

No. No problem. Do you recall having any conversations with Dr.
Redfield about the call?

No. No.

Why not?

Because why would I do that? This was a call that was organized by
Jeremy Farrar, who was the organizer of the call, and it wasn't my
call who was in and on. But it was perfectly appropriate for me to

notify my boss.

This is the beginning of a pandemic, discussing how to respond to
the pandemic.

Yeah. Yeah.
Dr. Redfield is the head of the CDC —

No, I'm sorry, I disagree with you.
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Okay.

A. I disagree with you completely. It is my responsibility to notify my
boss. The next morning, I notified the chief of staff of the
Department of Health and Human Services, who is the chief of staff
to the Secretary, who is Bob Redfield's boss.

Q. Did you have any conversations with Dr. Redfield after the fact
regarding the call?

A. I don't recall.®!

Dr. Tabak was also on the February 1 Conference Call.®?

Message

From: Mike Ferguson

Sent: 2/9/2020 12:00:46 PM

To: xga197s || R

cc: coIIinsf- afauci(_ Josie Golding
christian.drosten

Subject: Re: 2019 N-CoV -

Attachments: Summary.Feb7_MF.pdf

Dear Jeremy et al
| have made some comments and suggestions on the pdf attached.
| am not an expert on protein O-glycosylation - however, Dr Tabak, who was on the call last weekend, is and if

| were to consult anyone else on this it would be Henrik Clausen
nttps://icmm.ku.dk/english/research-groups/clausen-group/

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (January 5, 2024)

Q. ...And I don’t - - we don’t know - - I don’t know if Dr. Fauci ever
responded, but did you end up on the February 1* conference call?

A. Idid.®

Dr. Andersen testified to what he presented on the February 1 conference call.

81 Transcribed Interview of Anthony Fauci, M.D., former Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l
Insts. of Health, at 61-63 (Jan. 9, 2024) [hereinafter “Fauci TI 2”].

82 E-Mail from Mike Ferguson, Professor, University of Dundee, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., et. al., Dir., Wellcome
Trust (Feb. 9, 2020, 12:00 PM).

83 Transcribed Interview of Lawrence A. Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D.. Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, at 133
(Jan. 5, 2024) [hereinafter “Tabak TI”].
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Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. And what, to the best of your recollection, and briefly, what did you
present on the call?

A. I presented the main findings I had, which was some of the features
that I found to be unusual in the viral genome, including the receptor
binding domain, the furin cleavage site, the damage, one site which
is a restriction site, and also just outlining some of the research that
have been ongoing at the Wuhan Institute of Virology. And I had a
presentation, which you have as part of your exhibits too.

Regarding the Wuhan Institute of Virology, what did you present?

A. Just in broad terms, the fact that they were culturing viruses from
bats, or attempting to culture viruses from bats, isolate viruses from
bat samples, which is not easy, in BSL-2; and, also, some of their
chimeric work using WIV-1, for example, which is a common
backbone that they are using; as well as just the general strategies
around creating chimeric viruses, much of which I believe was done
in BSL-2 and, as I mentioned, animal work in BSL-3. But those
were my, sort of, concerns around the research and the reason, of
course, for why we need to consider a potential lab leak as a
scientific hypothesis, yes.®*

Dr. Andersen further testified that the primary participants on the call were himself, Dr.
Rambaut, Dr. Holmes, Dr. Christian Drosten,® Dr. Ron Fouchier,*® and Dr. Marion
Koopmans.®” 8 Both Dr. Garry and Dr. Andersen testified about any comments made by Dr.
Fauci or Dr. Collins on the February 1 Conference Call.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. Did [Dr. Fauci] say anything?
A. He didn’t say a whole a lot.

Q. To your recollection - - what did he say?

8 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 89-90.

85 Dr. Christian Drosten: Professor, Deputy Coordinator Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research,
DE.

% Dr. Ron Fouchier: Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, NL.

87 Dr. Marion Koopmans: Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, NL.

88 Andersen T, supra note 55, at 98.
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A. He just acknowledged that he was there, but the details are not really
clear. He really didn't say much of substance. It was, you know -- I
mean, Jeremy Farrar was clearly sort of introducing and ending the
meeting. It was his call to make. Neither Fauci or Collins really
had much to say, other than just, you know, maybe a point of
clarification here or there.

&k

...Was Dr. Collins on the call?

A. He was on the call. What I remember was is that he was basically
on and off the call, because I think he was having some kind of a
social event at the time. So, he did come on and off. But he, you
know, he made his presence, you know, just I'm here, basically,
known a couple of times.

Q. Was that - - to your recollection, was that the substance of his
speaking role?

A. He really didn’t offer anything scientifically.®

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. On the conference call -- we talked a little bit about it -- what do you
recall Dr. Fauci saying, if he said anything?

A. I honestly don't remember Dr. Fauci, Collins -- I believe there
might've been other NIH contingents on the call too. They probably
had some questions, but I don't recollect that they -- they certainly
didn't add anything of substance to the scientific discussion. Again,
the discussions were: Jeremy said a few things to sort of set up the
call and "here's what we're going to do," but, otherwise, the
conversation was just between myself, Eddie Holmes, Andy
Rambaut, Christian Drosten, Ron Fouchier in particular, so among
the experts present on the call.

Do you recall Dr. Collins saying anything on the conference call?

A. I do not, no.*®

8 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 132.
% Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 96.
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In a transcribed interview, Dr. Tabak testified he joined the call to discuss the presence of
O-linked glycans and that the presence of these glycans does not indicate whether COVID-19
emerged as a natural spillover or via a laboratory related incident.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (January 5, 2024)

Q. ...So0 kind of just the invitation just kind of fell into your inbox, and
you went from there?

A. I had a specific reason for wanting to join the call.
Q. What was that?

A. Because I had one observation that [ wanted to share with the group,
and I did.

Q. Was it the O-linked glycans?

A. Correct.
sokok
Q. I appreciate it. I'm not a scientist at all, so, like, anything that I've

learned is because I've just been listening to people like you. But the
presence of the O-linked glycans themselves does not lean one way
or another?

A. I don't think so.
Okay.

A. I think you could argue it either way. I really do.”!

The February 1 conference call was subsequently summarized in a memo.®?

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

°! Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 134- 136.
92 E-Mail from Lawrence Kerr, Ph.D., Dir., Off. Of Pandemic and Emerging Threats, Off. Of Global Affairs, U.S.
Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., to REDACTED (Feb. 5, 2020 1:54 AM).
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DRAFT PROPOSAL: WHO-Convened Discussion on Evolutionary Origins of 2019-nCoV

Since the release of the first full genome sequence of 2019-nCoV on January 10, 2020, the global
scientific community has been rapidly and diligently analyzing the available sequence information and
other data in order to learn more about the origins and properties of this newly emerging virus. Initial
analyses have identified phylogenetic linkages to other betacoronaviruses from bats, and we anticipate
learning more about the origins of this virus as additional sequences are released and further analyses are
performed. However, the combination of the global spotlight on the outbreak, the speed at which the
results of these analyses are being released (not all of which have been peer-reviewed), and the creation
of rumors by multiple and varied interpretations of the results have fueled rumors and suspicion of
potential intentional creation of this new virus. To address responsibly such rumors and more fully
understand the potential future risk to human health from this and other coronaviruses of animal origin,
we propose that WHO bring together scientific experts that are broadly representative of the global
scientific community for the specific purpose of evaluating the evolutionary origins of 2019-nCoV.

On February 1, 2020, U.S. National Institutes of Health Director Francis Collins, U.S. National Institute
of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Director Anthony Fauci, and Wellcome Trust Director Jeremy Farrar
discussed emerging published analyses on potential evolutionary origins of the virus with several highly
esteemed scientists with expertise in evolutionary biology. The group was unanimous in their
assessment that the paper by an Indian research group pointing out that there are HIV gene sequences in
the 2019-nCoV virus and thus indicating intentional insertion were not credible. However, several in
the group noted that the sequences of published isolates of the nCoV included mutations in the virus that
have never been seen before in a bat virus. Although there were some who felt such mutations could
occur naturally, others felt that they were suggestive of intentional insertion, thus questioning the origin
of the virus. Thus, the group agreed that it would be beneficial to gather a larger group of scientific
experts broadly representative of the global scientific community convened by WHO to discuss the
evolutionary origins of 2019-nCoV and its lessons for future risk assessment and understanding of
animal/human coronaviruses.

Participants in the call included:
e Francis Collins, Director of the U.S. National Institutes of Health, U.S.;
e Anthony Fauci, Director of the U.S. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, U.S.;
e Jeremy Farrar, Director of the Wellcome Trust;
e Patrick Vallance, U.K. Chief Scientific Adviser and Head of the Government Science and
Engineering;
e Kristian Anderson, Director of Infectious Disease Genomics, Scripps Research Translational
Institute, CA, U.S.;
e Christian Drosten, Director of Human Virology at the German Center for Infection Research at
Charité — Universitidtsmedizin, Germany;
e Edward Holmes, Professor of Viral Evolution at University of Sydney;
Andrew Rambaut, Professor of Molecular Evolution, University of Edinburgh’s Institute of
Evolutionary Biology, U.K.;
Ron Fouchier, Deputy Head of Department of Viroscience, Erasmus Medical Center, NL;
Robert Garry, Professor of Virology, Tulane University School of Medicine, Louisiana, U.S. ;
Mike Ferguson, Professor of Life Sciences at University of Dundee, U.K.; and
M.P.G. Koopmans, Head of Department of ViroScience, Erasmus Medical Center, NL.

SSCP_NIH004535
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Both Dr. Andersen and Dr. Garry testified regarding if Dr. Fauci ever directed them to
write a paper regarding the origins of COVID-19. Dr. Garry testified, “he never directed that to
me.”**> However, Dr. Garry clarified, “I'm not privy to all the communications that Dr. Fauci had
with the other authors.”** Dr. Andersen testified that in addition to Dr. Fauci “suggesting” a
paper about a potential lab leak on January 31, 2020, on the February 1 Conference Call, Dr.
Fauci “encouraged to, you know, follow the scientific process on this which ultimately ends up
in peer-reviewed publications.”®® Dr. Andersen clarified that Dr. Fauci specifically mentioned
drafting a peer-reviewed paper on January 31, stating, “he specifically mentioned that if
believed this was a lab leak, I should consider writing a peer-reviewed paper on it.”*®

When Dr. Andersen presented a draft of Proximal Origin to Nature, he stated it was

“prompted” by Dr. Fauci and later stated the goal of Proximal Origin was to “disprove the lab
leak theory.””’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

9 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 133-134.

H*Id.

%5 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 145.

% Id.

97 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature (Feb. 12,
2020, 23:09); E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Christian Drosten, Ph.D.,
Deputy Coordinator for Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research, ez. al. (Feb. 8, 2020).
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From: Kristian G. Andersen_

Sent: 12 February 2020 23:

To: Clare Thomas

Subject: Interest in commentary/hypothesis on SARS-CoV-2 origins?

Dear Clare,

[ can only imagine you must be crazy busy at the moment! I wanted to reach out to you to sce if there would be
interest in receiving a commentary/hypothesis piece on the evolutionary origins of SARS-CoV-2? There has
been a lot of speculation, fear mongering, and conspiracies put forward in this space and we thought that
bringing some clarity to this discussion might be of interest to Nature.

Prompted by Jeremy Farrah, Tony Fauci, and Francis Collins, Eddie Holmes, Andrew Rambaut, Bob Garry, Ian
Lipkin, and myself have been working through much of the (primarily) genetic data to provide agnostic and
scientifically informed hypotheses around the origins of the virus. We are not quite finished with the writeup
and we still have some loose ends, but I wanted to reach out to you to see if this might potentially be of interest?
We see this more as a commentary/hypothesis, as opposed to a more long-form Letter or Article.

Best,
Kristian

Kristian G. Andersen, PhD

Associate Protessor, Scripps Research
Director of Infectious Disease Genomics, Scripps Research Translational Institute
Director, Center for Viral Systems Biology

The Scripps Research Institute
10550 North Torrey Pines Road, SGM-300A
Department of Immunology and Microbial Science

La Jolla, CA 92037

0o GY

When asked about this e-mail, Dr. Garry testified:

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9. 2023)

Q. Did Dr. Andersen ever express this to you, the feeling that he was
prompted by Dr. Farrar, Dr. Fauci, and Dr. Collins?

A. I mean, I think in the -- in the broad sense. Yeah, I'm not quite so
sure how to answer that. I mean, you know, this is the first time I'm
actually seeing this email, the way he wrote it here. So, I'm a little
surprised that he wrote it that way. I probably wouldn't have written
it this way. But, you know, I think you're probably going to have to
ask Kristian what he thought about, you know, why he put it that
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way. Maybe he was, you know -- I don't know. I really shouldn't
speculate on that. You probably need to ask him.”8

When asked about this email, Dr. Andersen confirmed that he was referencing the
January 31 phone call with Dr. Fauci.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. What did you mean by “prompted by Jeremy Farrar, Tony Fauci,
and Francis Collins”?

A. I mean specifically that -- again, as I've already explained, is that
they prompted us to the idea of seriously considering the origin of
the virus and to consider producing a paper on that...And, again,
remember my first conversation with Tony Fauci, where he
specifically suggests that if I think this came from the lab, I should
consider writing a scientific paper on it.

Q. So that’s what the - - the prompt he was referencing - - that first
conversation?

A. Correct.”’

The first draft of a report that would become Proximal Origin was completed by 7:40
p.m. on February 1—only hours after the conference call. While it may not have been the goal of
the February 1 Conference Call, a written product of some sort was certainly discussed and
contemplated on the February 1 Conference Call.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Well, you know, of course, we had the teleconference on February the 1st,
2020. And we had already, you know, had many discussions amongst
ourselves, I mean. And by ourselves, I mean Kristian and Eddie and
Andrew and I, with other people. So, you know, there were sort of notions
and ideas circulating around.

And, you know, the possibility of the paper, we're scientists. We write
papers. We communicate. We do, you know, we do science
communication. That's the sort of the final stamp on a lot of work that you
might do is to write up a paper. So, of course, I think that was in everyone's
mind...

% Garry TI, supra note 77, at 166.
9 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 170.
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And so, I think by, you know, by that February 1 teleconference, if you want
to mark it there, I mean, it didn't take too many days after that.'%

The Stated Goals of Proximal Origin

First, on February 8, 2020, Dr. Andersen wrote, “[o]ur main work over the past couple of
weeks has been focused on trying to disprove any type of lab theory, but we are a crossroad
where the scientific evidence isn’t conclusive enough to say that we have high confidence in any
of the three main theories considered.”!’!

On 8 Feb 2020, at 22:15, Kristian G. Andersen — wrote:

A lot of good discussion here, so | just wanted to add a couple of things for context that | think are important - and why
what we're considering is far from "another conspiracy theory", but rather is taking a valid scientific approach to a
question that is increasingly being asked by the public, media, scientists, and politicians (e.g., | have been contacted by
Science, NYT, and many other news outlets over the last couple of days about this exact question).

To Ron's question, passage of SARS-like CoVs have been ongoing for several years, and more specifically in Wuhan under
BSL-2 conditions - see references 12-15 in the document for a few examples. The fact that Wuhan became the epicenter
of the ongoing epidemic caused by nCoV is likely an unfortunate coincidence, but it raises questions that would be
wrong to dismiss out of hand. Our main work over the last couple of weeks has been focused on trying to disprove any
type of lab theory, but we are at a crossroad where the scientific evidence isn't conclusive enough to say that we have
high confidence in any of the three main theories considered. Like Eddie - and | believe Bob, Andrew, and everybody on
this email as well - | am very hopeful that the viruses from pangolins will help provide the missing pieces. For now, giving
the lab theory serious consideration has been highly effective at countering many of the circulating conspiracy theories,
including HIV recombinants, bioengineering, etc. - here's just one

example: https://www.factcheck.org/2020/02 /baseless-conspiracy-theories-claim-new-coronavirus-was-

bioengineered/.

As to publishing this document in a journal, | am currently not in favor of doing so. | believe that publishing something
that is open-ended could backfire at this stage. | think it's important that we try to gather additional evidence - including
waiting on the pangolin virus sequences and further scrutinize the furin cleavage site and O-linked glycans - before
publishing. That way we can (hopefully) come out with some strong conclusive statements that are based on the best
data we have access to. | don't think we are there yet.

Best,
Kristian

Second, on February 20, 2020, Dr. Andersen—in trying to defend the viability of
Proximal Origin—wrote, “[u]nfortunately none of this helps refute a lab origin and the
possibility must be considered as a serious scientific theory (which is what we do) and not
dismissed out of hand as another ‘conspiracy’ theory. We all really, really wish that we could do
that (that’s how this got started), but unfortunately it’s just not possible given the data.”!??

10 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 130-131.

101 E_Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Christian Drosten, Ph.D., Deputy
Coordinator for Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research, et. al. (Feb. 8, 2020, 22:15).

102 E_Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Claire Thomas, Ph.D., Senior Editor,
Nature (Feb. 20, 2020, 17:48).
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From: Kristian G. Andersen

Sent: 20 February 2020 17:48

To: Clare Thomas

Subject: Re: Decision on Nature submission 2020-02-02583

Thanks Clare for letting me know so quickly. I'll discuss with the other authors to see what the best path
would be - just one thing to make clear though, reviewer 2 is unfortunately wrong about "Once the authors
publish their new pangolin sequences, a lab origin will be extremely unlikely". Had that been the case, we
would of course have included that - but the more sequences we see from pangolins (and we have been
analyzing/discussing these very carefully) the more unlikely it seems that they're intermediate hosts. They
definitely harbor SARS-CoV-like viruses, no doubt, but it's unlikely they have a direct connection to the
COVID-19 epidemic. Unfortunately none of this helps refute a lab origin and the possibility must be
considered as a serious scientific theory (which is what we do) and not dismissed out of hand as another
‘conspiracy' theory. We all really, really wish that we could do that (that's how this got started), but
unfortunately it's just not possible given the data.

Thanks again for considering our manuscript and while we had of course hoped for a better outcome, we
understand the decision.

Best,
Kristian

According to Dr. Farrar, in addition to the specific goal of disproving the lab leak theory,
Proximal Origin was to be a “go to scientific statement to refer to.”!% Further, Dr. Farrar e-
mailed Dr. Daszak and stated the goal of Proximal Origin was to “effectively [put] to bed the
issue of the origin of the virus.”!*

From: Jeremy Farrar <

To: "Peter Daszak" "Christian Drosten"

"Michael RYAN" "Bernhard F. SCHWARTLANDER"

Subject COVID-19 issue
Sent: Wed 2/12/2020 9:34:49 AM (UTC-035:00)

Got a taxi to airport and on flight with Peter.

| hope there is a paper/letter ready this week to go to Nature (and WHO) which effectively puts to bed the
issue of the origin of the virus.

| do think important to get ahead of even more discussion on this which may well come if this spreads
more to US and elsewhere and other “respected” scientists publish something more inflammatory.

103 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., Professor, Scripps

Research (Feb. 8, 2020).

104 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D.. Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.
(Feb. 12, 2020, 9:34 AM).
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The Possible Motives of Proximal Origin

The first possible motive to downplay the lab leak theory was an interest by those
involved to defend China. This motive was expressed by numerous individuals including Dr.
Farrar, Dr. Rambaut, Dr. Andersen, Dr. Fouchier. Similarly, Dr. Collins expressed concerns
regarding “international harmony.”!%

1. Dr. Andrew Rambaut

On February 2, 2020, Dr. Rambaut, communicating over a private Slack channel with Dr.
Andersen, Dr. Holmes, and Dr. Garry, wrote, “given the shit show that would happen if anyone
serious accused the Chinese of even accidental release, my feeling is we should say that given
there is no evidence of a specifically engineered virus, we cannot possibly distinguish between
natural evolution and escape so we are content with ascribing it to natural process.”!%

2. Dr. Kristian Andersen

In response to Dr. Rambaut’s message above, Dr. Andersen replied, “[y]up, I totally agree
that that’s a very reasonable conclusion. Although I hate when politics is injected into science —
but its impossible not to, especially given the circumstances.”!?’

3. Dr. Ron Fouchier

Dr. Fouchier, in emails following the February 1 Conference Call, stated, “...further
debate about such accusations would unnecessarily distract top researchers from their active
duties and do unnecessary harm to science in general and science in China in particular.”!%

4. Dr. Francis Collins

Dr. Collins, in emails following the February 1 Conference Call, stated, “...the voices of
conspiracy will quickly dominate, doing great potential harm to science and international
harmony.”!'%

The second possible motive to downplay the lab leak theory was to lessen the likelihood
of increased biosafety and laboratory regulations. Dr. Fouchier stated, “[t]his manuscript would
be much stronger if it focused on the likelihood of the first 2 scenarios as compared to intentional
or accidental release. That would also limit the chance of new biosafety discussion that would

105 E_Mail from Francis Collins, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Jeremy Farrar, M.D., et. al., Dir. Wellcome
Trust (Feb. 2, 2020).

106 Message from Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020, 11:53 a.m.).

107 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020, 11:56 a.m.).

108 E-Mail from Ron Fouchier, Ph.D., Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, et. al. (Feb. 2, 2020, 8:30 AM).

109 E_Mail from Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., Dir. Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome
Trust, et al. (Feb. 2, 2020, 10: 27).
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unnecessarily obstruct future attempts of virus culturing for research and diagnostic purposes for
any (emerging/zoonotic virus).”!°

Message

From: R.A.M. Fouchie

Sent: 2/8/2020 11:36:30 AM

To: Jeremy Farrar Edward Holmes— kga1978_;

Andrew Rambaut rfgarry
CcC: ; ; collinsf (NN - fauci ; Josie Golding
M.P.G.Koopmans ; christian.drosten-; Mike

Subject: Re: 2019 N-CoV
Attachments: Summary.Feb7 RF.pdf

lam not in favor of publishing as is. | fail to see how the last of the three discussed scenarios (passaging) does not fall
under the category of “laboratory manipulation”. There is no evidence that might hint to this scenario and hence it
should be put aside just like the engineering option. As far as | am aware, no laboratory has worked on passaging the
pangolin-origin virus, the bat-CoV RaTG13, or another closely related virus or had access to it prior to the outbreak. That
nCoV-2019 could originate from a SARS-like virus in Chinese labs can also be excluded. This information could be added
after reference 10 in the manuscript, to provide further argument.

If we assume passaging as a possible scenario here, we must assume it is also plausible for all outbreaks from the past,
present and future. This manuscript would be much stronger if it focused on the likelihood of the first 2 scenarios as
compared to intentional or accidental release. That would also limit the chance of new biosafety discussions that would
unnecessarily obstruct future attempts of virus culturing for research and diagnostic purposes for any
(emerging/zoonotic) virus.

I made some additional comments in the attached pdf, also in line with Andrew’s comments.

With kind regards,
Ron

The Involvement of Dr. Fauci, Dr. Collins, and Dr. Farrar

Throughout the drafting process, the authors of Proximal Origin were keenly aware of the
influence of Dr. Fauci, Dr. Collins, and Dr. Farrar.

It appears a draft of Proximal Origin did not leave the authorship group until on or around
February 4 or 5. Dr. Andersen wrote to Dr. Holmes, Dr. Garry, and Dr. Rambaut, “[u]nless others
have further comments, I’d say this is ready to go up the chain.”!!! Dr. Holmes responded,
“[w]orks for me. Should I quickly check with Jeremy to see if he is happy for it to be circulated
to the higher group?”!'? A few hours later, Dr. Holmes sent the first summary to Dr. Farrar.!!?

110 E_Mail from Ron Fouchier, Ph.D., Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, et. al. (Feb. 8, 2020, 11:36 AM).

11 E_Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor Scripps Research, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane
School of Medicine, et. al. (Feb. 5, 2020).

112 E_Mail from Dr. Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor Scripps Research (Feb. 4, 2020).

113 E-Mail from Dr. Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, Tulane School of Medicine (Feb. 4, 2020, 12:36 PM).
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On Tue, Feb 4, 2020 at 12:36 PM Edward Holmes _ wrote:

I've just passed to Jeremy.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

Dr. Farrar immediately sent the draft to Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins. !

From: Jeremy Farrar ) (6)

Sent: Tuesday, February 4, 2020 2:01 AM

To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E] < ®) (6)>; Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]
‘ ® ©6)>

Subject: FW: Prevalence of infection and stage of the epidemic in Wuhan

Please treat in confidence — a very rough first draft from Eddie and team — they will send on the edited,
cleaner version later.

Pushing WHO again today

In response to the draft, Dr. Collins wrote, “...repeated tissue culture passage is still an
option — though it doesn’t explain the O-linked glycans” and “I’d be interested in the proposal of
accidental lab passage in animals (which ones?).” Dr. Fauci responded, “?? Serial passage in
ACE2-transgenic mice.”

After Dr. Farrar received their responses, he recounted them to Dr. Holmes.!!’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

114 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, & Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., Dir.. Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 4, 2020,
2:01 AM).

115 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney. to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane
School of Medicin, et. al. (Feb. 4, 2020, 2:59 PM).
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On Tue, Feb 4, 2020 at 2:59 PM Edward Holmes _wrote:

Agreed. Timing is perfect.

Bob - a question from Jeremy:

"Quick question though - why could passage in animals in lab work add the glycans?”
Any thoughts?

Eddie

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

Around this time, the authors were awaiting new sequences, Dr. Holmes stated, “[s]hould
I tell Jeremy to hold sending the summary out to the group while we investigate more or does
that really matter? He did say that more wildlife needed to be studied. He’s sent it to the
Bethesda Boys.”!!¢ Dr. Rambaut responded, “[p]erhaps we say we are adding new information?
See whether he wants to hold off. I suspect Bethesda will be sending it round already?”’!!” These
are apparent references to Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)
Q. Who do you think the “Bethesda Boys” are?

A. I’m not 100 percent sure, but I think I can make an educated guess
that this was Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins.

Q. Is 1t your estimation that “Bethesda” also refers to Dr. Fauci and Dr.
Collins?
A, Yes!®

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. Who 1s Dr. Holmes referencing when he says, “Bethesda Boys™?

A. I don't know, but I assume he means the NIH folks and -- them, so
that would be my best guess, yeah.

116 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, University of Edinburgh (Feb. 5, 2020).

17 E-Mail from Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Professor, University of Edinburgh, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, University of Sydney (Feb. 5, 2020).

U8 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 174.
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Q. Is it your same presumption that he's referencing NIH?

A. That's my assumption, yes.'!’

On February 7, 2020, Dr. Farrar said, “will share with TC [teleconference] group over the
weekend...”!?° On February 8, Dr. Farrar forwarded a draft of Proximal Origin to the same
participants of the February 1 Conference Call—further linking that call to the conception of
Proximal Origin.'?!

Within hours of receiving the draft, Dr. Fauci, worried about the possibility of serial
passage in animals in a lab, asked the whole group, “[w]ould serial passage in an animal in the
laboratory give the same result as prolonged adaption in animals in the wild? Or is there
something that is fundamentally different in what happens when you serial passage versus
natural animal adaption?”’!?? Dr. Garry responded, “[i]t’s possible to fairly rapidly select for more
pathogenic variants in the laboratory.”!?*

In addition to Dr. Fauci’s and Dr. Collin’s involvement, Dr. Farrar led the drafting process
and made at least one direct edit to Proximal Origin. Dr. Farrar, however, is not credited as
having any involvement in the drafting and publication of Proximal Origin, when in fact he led
the drafting process and made direct substantive edits to the publication.

On February 17, 2020, right before publication, Dr. Lipkin emailed Dr. Farrar to thank

him for leading the drafting process of Proximal Origin, to which Dr. Farrar responded that he
will “push” the publisher.'*

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

119 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 176.

120 E_Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., et. al. Professor, University of
Sydney (Feb. 7, 2020).

121 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., et. al. Professor, University of
Sydney (Feb. 8, 2020).

122 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., et. al., Dir., Wellcome Trust (Feb. 8, 2020).

123 E-Mail from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane College of Medicine, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., et. al., Dir.,
Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 8, 2020).

124 E-Mail from Lipkin to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust (Feb. 17, 2020).
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From: Jeremy Farrar

Sent: Monday, February 17, 2020 10:42 AM EST
To: lan Lipkin
Subject: Re: Connections COVID-19

Yes I know and in US - why so keen to get out ASAP.
I will push Nature

On 17 Feb 2020, at 16:41, Tan Lipkin_ wrote:

Jeremy,
Thanks for shepherding this paper. Rumors of bioweaponeering are now circulating in China.

Tan

Further, Dr. Andersen testified that Dr. Farrar was the “father figure” of Proximal
Origin.!? In addition to leading the drafting and publication process, Dr. Farrar made at least one
direct edit to Proximal Origin. '

From: "Kristian G. Andersen"
Date: Monday, 17 February 2020 at 18:11
To: Jeremy Farrar

: "Garry, Robert F" B
Edward Holmes , lan Lipkin

Subject: Re: Connections COVID-19

Sure, attached.

K

On Mon, Feb 17, 2020 at 9:02 AM Jeremy Farrar_ wrote:

Sorry to micro-manage/microedit!
But would you be willing to change one sentence?

From

It is unlikely that SARS-CoV-2 emerged through laboratory manipulation of an existing
SARS-related coronavirus.

To

It is improbable that SARS-CoV-2 emerged through laboratory manipulation of an existing
SARS-related coronavirus.

This evidence suggests that Dr. Farrar was involved in the drafting and publication of
Proximal Origin and probably should have been credited or acknowledged for this involvement.
Both Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins testified they did not provide edits to Proximal Origin.

125 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 180.
126 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., Professor, Scripps
Research (Feb. 17,2020, 10: 42 AM).
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The Involvement of Dr. Lipkin

Dr Lipkin was the only author of Proximal Origin that was not on the February 1
Conference Call.!?’” Dr. Lipkin confirmed he was not even invited to the February 1 Conference
Call, and he had no prior knowledge of the call taking place.!?®

Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023)

Q. When did you eventually learn of the call?

A. Actually, I learned of it far more recently than you might expect - -
I can’t tell you precisely when, but I did not know about it in
February of 2020.

Q. The existence of the call or what was communicated on the call was
not communicated to you during the drafting or Proximal Origin?

A. That is correct.'?’

Despite the authors completing the first draft of Proximal Origin by February 1, Dr.
Lipkin was not invited to join and was not sent a draft until February 10.!%° In that email, Dr.
Holmes stated, “I’ll have to chat with Jeremy in a little while to see if I can get you more directly
involved.”!3! It is unclear, why Dr. Farrar had approval over Dr. Lipkin’s involvement.

Prior to being added as an author, Dr. Lipkin spoke to Dr. Holmes a few times. On at least
one occasion, Dr. Lipkin raised concerns regarding the furin cleavage site. As Dr. Holmes
recounted on February 10, “Ian Lipkin just called — very worried about the furin cleavage site
and says that high ups are as well, inc. intel.”!*? Dr. Holmes later said, “I think Ian thinks it’s
from a lab.”!3?

After reading the draft shared with him, Dr. Lipkin responded: '3

127 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 92.

128 Id.

129 Id.

130 E_Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to lan Lipkin, M.D., Professor, Columbia
University (Feb. 10, 2023).

131 [d

132 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, University of Edinburgh (Feb. 10, 2020).

133 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor Scripps Research (Feb. 11, 2020).

134 E-Mail from Ian Lipkin, M.D., Professor, Columbia University, to Eddie Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of
Sydney (Feb. 11, 2020, 9:01 AM).
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On 11 Feb 2020, at 9:01 am, Ian Lipkin_ wrote:

It’s well reasoned and provides a plausible argument against genetic engineering. It does not
eliminate the possibility of inadvertent release following adaptation through selection in
culture at the institute in Wuhan. Given the scale of the bat CoV research pursued there and
the site of emergence of the first human cases we have a nightmare of circumstantial evidence
1o assess.

Tan

Dr. Garry testified that Dr. Lipkin ““...made a nice authorship contribution” and that “he
read the paper many times and made some good comments back and forth...”!* Dr. Lipkin
testified that he believed he was added to Proximal Origin because of his prior authorship of
related papers.

Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023)

Q. Why do you think Dr. Holmes invited you to join as an author?

A. I had written an article on why the risk of wild animal markets. I
sent it to him, asked him to be a coauthor with me. He agreed. And

my guess is that it was in that context that he invited me to join this

paper.!36

However, this is not what the other authors discussed when considering whether to add
him to the authorship group. According to Dr. Holmes, the authors added Dr. Lipkin as an author
not necessarily for his expertise but for “safety in numbers” and “gravitas.” !’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

135 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 160.

136 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 93.

137 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 12,2020, 1:15 AM).
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From: Edward Holmes
Sent: Wednesday, February 12, 2020 1:15 AM

To: Kristian G. Andersen_ Garry, Robert F —; Andrew Rambaut
I

Subject: Fwd: A few thoughts on the summary

External Sender. Be aware of links, attachments and requests.
From lan about the Feb 7 summary.

Think we should add him as an author. Safety in numbers. In his own mind he brings a lot of gravitas...plus
because he is involved in the GOF | think it add weights. Happy to be over-ruled though.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T I

E I

Dr. Garry testified that he agreed with Dr. Holmes, stating, “I mean, I think I must have
agreed generally about it because I did concur with adding him as an author. I’'m not sure I agree
with every rationale there. I'm not sure that the GOF really adds much weight.”!38

Dr. Andersen testified that he agreed with Dr. Holmes, stating, “I think he 1s an -- you
know, he has done important work and including collaborated with Chinese authors. He's a well-
known individual within sort of the emerging infectious disease field. So, from that perspective,
adding Ian as an author, yes, that helps add to the weight of the paper and the authors, and, like,
look, these are really experts to have looked at this, yes.”!**

Proximal Origin’s Flawed Scientific Analysis

The conclusions of Proximal Origin rested on three main arguments: (1) the presence of a
non-optimal RBD and that RBD appearing in other viral sequences—particularly pangolins, (2)
the presence or furin cleavage sites in other coronaviruses, and (3) the concept that any
laboratory manipulation would have used an already published viral backbone.'*® Each of these
arguments was flawed and rested on unsupported assumptions.

1. The Receptor Binding Domain

“While the analyses above suggest that SARS-CoV-2 may bind human ACE?2 with high affinity,
computational analyses predict that the interaction is not ideal and that the RBD sequence is
different from those shown in SARS-CoV to be optimal for receptor binding. Thus, the high-
affinity binding of the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein to human ACE?2 is most likely the result of
natural selection on a human or human-like ACE?2 that permits another optimal binding solution

138 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 161.
139 Andersen TI. supra note 55, at 163-164.
140 proximal Origin, supra note 41.
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to arise. This is strong evidence that SARS-CoV-2 is not the product of purposeful
manipulation.”'¥!

As discussed in a May 26, 2020 Working Paper authored independently by DIA scientists
entitled, “Critical analysis of Andersen et al. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2" [hereinafter
“Working Paper”], this argument rested on assumptions rather than facts.'*? Instead of relying on
scientific data or evidence, Proximal Origin assumes a methodology and intent of a fictional
scientist.'* In essence, Proximal Origin argues that this fictional scientist would want to design
the most optimal RBD possible, which COVID-19 does not possess.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

We knew, based on, you know, much of the great research that Dr. Baric did
with SARS-1 is that based on that were predictions of here's the optimal
way in which a sarbecovirus will bind into the human ACE2 receptor. That
is described in the literature, right? So, if you were to design a new receptor
binding domain, presumably you would choose that, right? That would be
the logical way to do it.

And SARS-2 doesn't have that at all. It has a completely different solution,
right, which we had never seen before. Yet it still appeared to bind well to
the human ACE2 receptor -- which we now know, yes, it does bind well to
the human ACE2 receptor, but it binds well to a lot of other ACE2 receptors,
right, not just human.

So, yeah, that's the idea behind, like, if you were to build this from scratch,
you would take the solution that you already know works well. Because
that's how science is done, molecular biology is being done.'**

The Working Paper outlined that a more common approach is to simulate nature in the
lab by taking novel coronaviruses and simulating recombination events—even by inserting furin
cleavage sites—instead of optimizing the virus.'* This was explained further during a
transcribed interview with an author of the Working Paper, CDR Chretien.

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023)

A. Well, they had pointed out that the receptor-binding domain would
not have been predicted to be very good or optimal for infecting
human cells. And for me that implied an assumption that if

141 proximal Origin, supra note 41.

142 CDR Jean-Paul Chretien & Dr. Greg Cutlip, Working Paper 26 May 2020: Critical Analysis of Andersen et. al.
The proximal origin of SARS-Cov-2, DEF. INTEL. AGENCY (May 26, 2020) [hereinafter “Chretien & Cutlip Working
Paper™].

143 Id.

144 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 122.

145 Chretien & Cutlip Working Paper, supra note 144.
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SARS-CoV-2, whatever was in lab, that it probably would have
come about in that way where one might have a priori designed a
sequence to infect human cells. And that certainly is possible, but
we showed examples of the literature of novel coronaviruses being
developed in different ways, and what we -- what we found was
more of an empirical approach where one might take a backbone
virus, a coronavirus from one species and insert part of a coronavirus
from another species to observe the effects, and all serving stated
purposes of developing medical countermeasures or improving
public health. But what we saw in scientific practice was much more
of an empirical approach and not -- not an approach by design to
achieve a specific function.

Q. So, the reality was scientists more taking an approach to try to mimic
natural recombination to see what those viruses would do in a
human population?

A. Yes.

Q. Not with a stated goal of making the most effective coronavirus
possible?

A. That's right. !4

When asked if the arguments in Proximal Origin regarding the RBD rested on
assumptions, Dr. Garry testified:

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. Is that still resting on an assumption that that’s not done, that they
weren’t testing suboptimal RBDs at some point?

A. I suppose, but why would you do that, you know? I mean, especially
if you’re thinking that this virus was somehow engineered to be a
weapon or, you know, at least be a good pathogen, you wouldn’t
make a binding domain that was, you know, as poor as your
computer predicted it would be for either one of those scenarios. '’

“The finding of SARS-CoV-like coronaviruses from pangolins with nearly identical RBDs,
however, provides a much stronger and more parsimonious explanation of how SARS-CoV-2
acquired these via recombination or mutation.”'#

146 Transcribed Interview of CDR Jean-Paul Chretien, Program Manager, Biological Technologies Office, Defense
Advanced Research Projects Agency, at 35 (June 29, 2023) [hereinafter “Chretien TI”].

147 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 151.

148 Proximal Origin, supra note 41.
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Again, according to CDR Chretien, the discovery of a very similar RBD in a naturally
occurring pangolin virus is largely irrelevant.

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023)

So one of the -- the scenarios we laid out as plausible, and I think would
still be plausible, is to begin with a bat origin coronavirus, something along
the lines of RaTG13 but more similar to the -- or very, very closely similar
to SARS-CoV-2, and then -- and then evaluate the effects of inserting a
receptor-binding domain from another species, such as a pangolin. And
that's consistent with work that we've seen published from various
coronavirus research labs and would be consistent with the observed
SARS-CoV-2 as well.'#

Dr. Garry agreed that this scenario was an entirely plausible outcome.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. If I in theory were to take that particular pangolin spike protein and
attach it to a backbone of some other virus, that product that [ would
have created, though, theoretically in a lab, would itself have had
the six key amino acid mutations being discussed here, right? I
know that's a - - hypothetical question.

A. The way you said it, hypothetically, sure.'>

Further, Dr. Garry testified that the pangolin sequences “are interesting, but they, you
know, by themselves, don’t tell you that, the virus was natural or from a lab.”!>!

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. What does this mean?

A. Okay. It means that, you know, the pangolin sequences are
interesting, but they, you know, by themselves, don’t tell you that,
the virus was natural or from a lab...You know, the pangolin viruses,
by themselves you know, they have the similarity in the receptor
binding domain, but, you know, there are other viruses out there like
RaTG13 that is still, you know, a closer virus overall. None of the
viruses that were known have a furin cleavage site, at least in these,
you know, these close -- the ones that we're talking about here. !>

149 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 36.
150 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 112.

151 [d.

152 [d.
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When asked if Proximal Origin’s arguments regarding the RBD ruled out a lab origin,
CDR Chretien testified, “[n]ot in my assessment.”!>* It is clear, the science and facts did not
support Proximal Origin’s conclusion that COVID-19’s RBD “is strong evidence that SARS-
CoV-2 is not the product of purposeful manipulation.”!3*

2. The Furin Cleavage Site

“Polybasic cleavage sites have not been observed in related ‘lineage B’ betacoronaviruses,
although other human betacoronaviruses, including HKUI (lineage A), have those sites and
predicted O-linked glycans. Given the level of genetic variation in the spike, it is likely that

SARS-CoV-2-like viruses with partial or full polybasic cleavage sites will be discovered in other
species.”!>

The central pillar of Proximal Origin’s argument is that science would eventually find a
furin cleavage site in a related coronavirus. This is a clear assumption with no proof nor
evidence. Further, as of December 4, 2024, there still has not been a furin cleavage site
discovered in sarbecoviruses—the subgenus COVID-19 belongs to—despite years of searching.

Dr. Andersen confirmed the rarity of furin cleavage sites in sarbecoviruses, stating,
“...the furin cleavage site itself, which we had not seen in sarbecoviruses before.”!*® Dr. Garry
confirmed this, stating, “...SARS-Cov-2 so far is the only sarbecovirus that has a furin cleavage
site.”'>” Further, Dr. Lipkin stated, “[s]o, amongst the SARS-like viruses, and there are many
coronaviruses, that was the first time that we’d seen that furin cleavage type.”!>® When asked,
“[h]ave there been any other SARS-related viruses...that has had a furin cleavage site?,” Dr.
Farzan testified, “[n]o.”'>® Finally, when asked, .. .has there been a furin site observed in any
viruses in the sarbecovirus family other than COVID-19?,” CDR Chretien stated, “...not to my
knowledge.”!°

“The acquisition of both the polybasic cleavage site and predicted O-linked glycans also argues
against culture-based scenarios. New polybasic cleavage sites have been observed only after
prolonged passage of low-pathogenicity avian influenza virus in vitro or in vivo. Furthermore, a
hypothetical generation of SARS-CoV-2 by cell culture or animal passage would have required
prior isolation of a progenitor virus with very high genetic similarity, which has not been
described. Subsequent generation of a polybasic cleavage site would have then required repeated
passage in cell culture or animals with ACE2 receptors similar to those of humans, but such
work has also not previously been described. Finally, the generation of the predicted O-linked

153 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 36.

154 Proximal Origin, supra note 41.

155 Id.

156 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 95.

157 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 119.

158 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 70.

159 Transcribed Interview of Michael Farzan, Ph.D., Professor of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School (Apr. 21, 2023)
[hereinafter “Farzan TI”].

160 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 37.
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glycans is also unlikely to have occurred due to cell-culture passage, as such features suggest the
involvement of an immune system.”

Again, according to the Working Paper, this argument rested on a false assumption that
all research is published. Dr. Garry testified:

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. Is it possible - - maybe not probable, but possible - - that scientists
do experiments they don’t publish?

A. Sure. ¢!

Dr. Lipkin testified:

Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023)

Q. Do you know of any researchers that don’t publish everything they
sequence?

A. Yes. 162

Dr. Farzan testified:

Dr. Michael Farzan (April 21. 2023)

Q. ...have you ever conducted or known someone to conduct an
experiment that they did not publish or make public?

A. Sure.'®

Further, many involved in Proximal Origin, or the February 1 Conference Call believe
that it is possible to manipulate a novel coronavirus in a lab to force the selection of a furin
cleavage site. In an email, Dr. Garry wrote, “[bJottom line — I think that if you put selection
pressure on a Cov without a furin cleavage site in cell culture you could well generate a furin
cleavage site after a number of passages...” %4

161 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 153.

192 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 70.

163 Farzan TI, supra note 161, at 26.

164 E-Mail from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane School of Medicine, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 4, 2020, 2:50 PM).
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From: Robert Garry N

Date: Tuesday, February 4, 2020 at 5:56 PM

To: Kristian Andersen . c<v2rd Holmes |G
Cc: "rambaut

Subject: Re: Summary - Invitation to edit

Kristian that’s correct about everything he said for the P residue. It's what’s shifted me to thinking that the insert of the
furin site is the result of cell culture passage [or less likely intense transmission in a nonbat host]. Really need to see the
data from Ron about generating the furim cleavage site on in vitro passage. Really!

CoV come with or without a furin site. CoV without a furin site are said to be non-cleaved and rely on endosomal
proteases like cathepsin for entry. However if you infect a virus like SARS in culture in the presense of exogenous
protease like trypsin its 100X more effective at entering because the spike gets cleaved and it can enter at the cell
surface.

You have to infect flu viruses (the ones without the multibasic cleavage site) in the presence of trypsin, and include
trypsin in the overlay if you want to get virus spread aka plaques.

This also contributes to the pathogenicity of - well - highly pathogenic flu virus — different tissues have different
proteases and are able to “activate” flu to different extents - if the flu v has a furin cleavage site it has a lot more
choices and canmore easil go systemic.

This is an excellent review on CoV fusion — deals with all the complexities:
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3397359/

Bottom line — | think that if you put selection pressure on a Cov without a furin cleavage site in cell culture you could
well generate a furin cleavage site after a number of passages (but let’s see the data Ron!). It will infect a lot better if it
can effectively fuse at the cell surface and doesn’t have to rely on endosomal cleavage and receptor mediated
endocytosis..

Via Slack, Dr. Garry stated, “you can synthesize bits of genes de novo with perfect
precision then add them back in without a trace.”'®> This idea was reiterated by Dr. Fouchier,
who stated, “[M]olecular biologists like myself can generate perfect copies of viruses without
leaving a trace, eg the BAM HI site.”!%

Message
From: R.A.M. Fouchier_
Sent: 2/8/2020 2:50:00 PM

To: Andrew Rambaut ; Jeremy Farrar_

cC: Christian Drosten
; rigarry [ . o.vallancel ; collinsf
; Josie Golding E M.P.G. Koopmans
Mike Ferguson
Subject: Re: [ext] 2019 N-CoV

I do not understand Andrews argument “ The sequence data clearly and unambiguously rules out any form of
lab construct or engineering of the virus. *“. Molecular biologists like myself can generate perfect copies of
viruses without leaving a trace, eg the BamHI site. The arguments for and against passaging and engineering are
the same if you ask me.

Ron

165 Message from Robert Garry, Ph.D.. Slack (Feb. 6, 2020, 7:09 p.m.).
166 E-Mail from Ron Fouchier, Ph.D., Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, to
Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Professor, University of Edinburgh (Feb. 8. 2020, 2:50 PM).
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Further, Dr. Garry testified that it would be possible to generate a furin cleavage site in a
lab.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. But a novel coronavirus, if I just bring in a novel coronavirus, its
still possible that I could create a furin cleavage site?

A. I mean, its possible. I - - you know, its possible.'®’

Additionally, Dr. Garry testified that a scientist could conduct serial passaging of a virus
in animals to generate a furin cleavage site and that this virus would be indistinguishable from a
natural one.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. Would past evolutionary passage in an animal in a laboratory look
the same as evolutionary passage in an animal in the wild?

A. In principle, yes. It's a very difficult experiment you are describing
though.

Q. Are people capable of conducting that experiment?

A. They're capable of doing it. There would have to be a reason why

they would want to do that. And just doing it on some random bat
viruses is probably not something that most scientists would
consider.

Q. Could you put enough laboratory selection pressure on a novel
coronavirus to generate a furin cleavage site?

A. I mean, is it possible? It's in the realm of -- it's something -- I mean
most everything is possible, right? Is it probable? Probably not, I
would have to say. I mean, in principle, you know, lots of things can
happen; you know, unexpected things can happen. But designing an
experiment to actually make that happen, I'm not sure that there's
any scientist that's really capable of doing that.!6®

Dr. Andersen agreed when asked, “you could put enough pressure on a coronavirus to
generate a furin cleavage site?” He responded, “I think as a hypothesis, I think it’s a good
hypothesis.” 1%

167 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 34.
18 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 32-33.
199 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 159.

Page 41 of 520




No known SARS-related coronavirus or sarbecovirus—the subgenus that COVID-19
belongs to—has a furin cleavage site and none have been found since the beginning of the
pandemic. Further, those involved with Proximal Origin believed it is possible to artificially
create a furin cleavage site in the lab. When asked if the arguments regarding the furin cleavage
site put forth in Proximal Origin ruled out a lab origin, CDR Chretien testified, “no, not in my
mind.”!7°

3. The Novel Backbone

“Furthermore, if genetic manipulation had been performed, one of the several reverse-genetic
systems available for betacoronaviruses would probably have been used. However, the genetic
data irrefutably show that SARS-CoV-2 is not derived from any previously used virus backbone.’

’

The Proximal Origin authors are correct that COVID-19 does not derive from any
published backbone, but they once again assume that all data has been previously published, a
faulty assumption. As noted in the Working Paper, “[r]ecent technological innovations make it
easier than ever for scientists to develop new reverse genetics systems.”!’! When asked for more
detail, CDR Chretien testified:

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023)

Q. So, it would be possible that there are novel backbones or novel
reverse genetics systems that are out there but not published?

A. Yes.

Q. And even simpler than that, not necessarily a novel backbone, but is
it possible that researchers just used an unsequenced or unpublished
coronavirus as the backbone?

A. Yes.!7?

Via Slack, the Proximal Origin authors rebuted their own argument. Dr. Andersen wrote,
“[j]ust in case people think it is difficult to make a CoV reverse genetics clone from scratch —
these guys did it in a week...”!”3

Further, Dr. Andersen wrote, “[o]ne important thing I came across though — for the SARS
GoF studies they created a reverse genetics system for their bat virus on a whim. So, Ron’s and
Christian’s argument (which I found to be the strongest) about that not being feasible is not true
— they were already creating those.”!”*

170 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 39.

17! Chretien & Cutlip Working Paper, supra note 144,

172 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 39.

173 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 21, 2020 9:05 p.m.)
174 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020 6:48 p.m.)
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The Proximal Origin authors did not believe their own arguments against a lab leak as
written in Proximal Origin. This is exemplified by comparing the authors’ contemporaneous
Slack messages and e-mails, media reports, and interview transcripts with the two primary
conclusions of Proximal Origin—“we do not believe that any type of laboratory-based scenario
1s plausible” and “[o]ur analysis clearly show that SARS-CoV-2 is not a laboratory construct or a
purposefully manipulated virus.”!7

The Publication of Proximal Origin

On February 6, 2020, Dr. Farrar first suggested publishing Proximal Origin.”®

Message

From: Edward Holmes_

Sent: 2/6/2020 2:36:30 AM

To: Kristian G. Andersen

CcC: Garry, Robert F | Andrew Rambaut_
Subject: Re: Summary - Invitation to edit

From Jeremy.
"Do you think in the report....possible to dampen down further the ‘conspiracy’ idea and make totally neutral?

Talking with Marion last night and with the WHO meeting next week....both wondering whether actually publishing this
sooner, but ruthlessly on the science....is worthwhile to put that flag down...”

Thoughts?

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Discases & Biosecurity,

Scheol of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T
B

On February 7, 2020, Dr. Farrar suggested possible journals for publication of Proximal

Origin.!”’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

175 Proximal Origin, supra note 41.

176 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 6. 2020, 2:36 AM)

177 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., et. al., Professor. University
of Sydney (Feb. 7, 2020).
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On 7 Feb 2020, at 5:26 pm, Jeremy Farrar _ wrote:

When can you update?

Lancet

Nature

NEIM

Will all review immediately, after quick QC, will share with WHO.

Can I help with any of the editors?

Who will be authors from your side?

Then, right before Proximal Origin was publicly released, it received the final publication
push and approval from Dr. Collins. In an email from Dr. Holmes, he recounted Dr. Collins
writing, “[t]his is really well done, and I would argue ought to be made public ASAP (Jeremy
sent it this morning).”!”®

Message

From: Edward Holmes

Sent: 2/16/2020 3:06:49 PM

To: Garry, Robert F

cc: lan Lipkin : Kristian G. Andersen _ Andrew Rambaut_
Subject: Re: Paper

Just got this from Francis Collins.
"This is really well done, and | would argue ought to be made public ASAP (Jeremy sent it this morning).
Francis”

I’ll submit and send to Magda/Clare this morning. If they ok we can then put on bioRxiv and perhaps
Virological.org as well?

Cheers,

Eddie

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laurcate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

178 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor. University of Sydney. to Robert Garry, Ph.D., e. al., Professor,
Tulane College of Medicine (Feb. 16, 2020, 3:06 PM).
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Four hours later, according to Dr. Holmes, “[a]ll came together very quickly in the end.
Jeremy Farrar and Francis Collins are very happy. Works for me.”!”

Message

From: Edward Holmes_

Sent: 2/16/2020 6:59:20 PM

To: Kristian G. Andersen

CcC: Andrew Rambaut ; Garry, Robert F_ lan Lipkin_
Subject: Re: Paper

All came together very quickly in the end. Jeremy Farrar and Francis Collins are very happy. Works for me.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

Proximal Origin Gets Rejected from Nature

On February 12, 2020, Dr. Andersen pitched Proximal Origin to Nature.'® In his first
pitch, as described above, he wrote, “[p]rompted by Jeremy Farrah [sic], Tony Fauci, and Francis
Collins, Eddie Holmes, Andrew Rambaut, Bob Garry, lan Lipkin, and myself have been working
through much of the (primarily) genetic data to provide agnostic and scientifically informed
hypothesis around the origins of the virus. We are not write finished with the writeup and we still
have some loose ends, but I wanted to reach out to you to see if this might be potentially of
interest? We see this more as a commentary/hypothesis, as opposed to a more long-form Letter
or Article.”!®!

Senior Editor at Nature Clare Thomas responded, “Yes please!”!®?

On February 17, 2020, Dr. Holmes, on behalf of Dr. Andersen, submitted a manuscript
titled, “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2” to Nature for review.'®® Later that day, Dr.
Andersen followed up writing, “[s]orry for contracting you again. The manuscript was put on
Virological this morning, which has created some urgency from Wellcome, WHO, and

179 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 16, 2020, 6:59 PM).

180 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature (Feb. 12,
2020).

181 [d

182 E_Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 13,
2020).

183 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 17,
2020).
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others...this is an extremely rapidly evolving situation — which has unfortunately been amplified
due to some recent “speculations” from parts of the US media.”!#*

Ms. Thomas responded, “I have two reviewers looking at it already...”!®

The Proximal Origin authors, themselves, recommended reviewers. According to Dr.
Garry, “[s]o as you know when you submit, you’ll need to suggest reviewers to include and
exclude. Seems easy — there are some natural choices for both lists.”!%¢ Dr. Holmes responded,
“[o]h, yes the reviewers are easy...I think this is a slam dunk.”'®” These comments raise serious
bias concerns with both the review of Proximal Origin and the scientific peer review process
generally. Neither Dr. Andersen nor Dr. Garry knew which suggested reviewers were included or
excluded.

On 16 Feb 2020, at 7:36 pm, Garry, Robert F _wrotc:

Yeah I know and that’s a good choice for him.
So, as you know when you submit you’ll need to suggest reviewers to include and exclude. Seems easy - there
are some natural choices for both lists. Nature commentaries are peer reviewed iirc but I'm guessing they’ll

push this as fast as possible.

Sent from my iPhone

Message

From: Edward Holmes

|

Sent: 2/16/2020 2:38:46 AM
To: Garry, Robert F

cc: lan Lipkin

External Sender. Be aware of links, attachments and requests
Andrew Rambaut

Kristian

G. Andersen

Subject:Re: Paper

Oh yes, the reviewers are easy...I think this is a slam dunk.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

184 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature (Feb. 17,
2020).

185 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 18,
2020).

186 E-Mail from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane College of Medicine, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., ef. al,,
Professor, University of Sydney (Feb. 16, 2020, 7:36 PM).

187 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor. University of Sydney. to Robert Garry, Ph.D., e. al., Professor,
Tulane College of Medicine (Feb. 16, 2020, 2:38 AM).
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On February 20, 2020, Nature officially rejected Proximal Origin for publication. Ms.
Thomas stated, “[w]e’ve now obtained two ref reports on the paper (appended below), and I’ve
had the opportunity to discuss them with our chief editor Magdalena Skipper. In the light of the
advice received I am afraid we have decided that we cannot offer to publish in Nature.”!® The
primary reason for denial, as stated by Ms. Thomas, was, ““...one of our referees raised concerns
(also emphasized to the editors) about whether such a piece would feed or quash the conspiracy
theories.” !’

Regarding the denial, Dr. Andersen testified:

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. Did you ever get told why Nature originally rejected Proximal
Origin?

A. They -- I think they rejected the paper because I think the reviewers
felt that probably -- I mean, reviewer two was pretty critical about
our conclusions of the paper and felt that they should have been
stronger, and I think he had relayed those concerns to the editor, and
I think that that would have been the reason.

The conclusions that -- what do you mean?

A. Basically, that we -- because, again, we kept the possibilities
of -- remember the submitted version to that was open-ended,
agnostic as to whether it could have been a lab passage of the two
versions of the natural origin that we discuss. And I think the editor
probably felt that that was too open-ended. That was clearly
what -- especially reviewer two pointed that out in their review,
which we disagreed with. !

Dr. Garry testified:

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. What were the reasons for the rejection?

A. They -- well, I mean, you can read all the reviews of the paper. They
thought that we came down too strongly on the side that the virus
had been of possible lab origin. And some of the reviewers wanted
us to take that out, and we didn't think that was appropriate. '’

188 E_Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 20,
2020).

189 [d

190 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 186.

1 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 176,
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After the denial, Ms. Thomas suggested submitting Proximal Origin to Nature
Medicine."?

Proximal Origin Gets Accepted at Nature Medicine

On February 27, 2020, Dr. Andersen submitted Proximal Origin to Nature Medicine.'** In
his submission, Dr. Andersen wrote:

I believe Clare over at Nature might have mentioned our commentary on
the proximal origins of the hCoV-19 virus last week. We have been
incorporating some critical changes to the reviewer's comments, so I just
wanted to reach out to you to see if you're still interested in having a look
at this manuscript? We're still incorporating a few changes but will have all
of this wrapped up shortly as we're on a tight deadline - the media interest
in this has been enormous and hasn't slowed down (we have refrained from
commenting until formal publication). The public interest has also been
very high, with more than 65,000 reads of the blog post version over the last
week. %4

After having been denied by Nature for not downplaying the possibility of a lab leak
strongly enough, the authors decided to make this submission stronger.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. You, and correct me if I'm wrong, said something along the lines
earlier that the line: We do not believe that any type of
laboratory-based scenario is plausible was added at some point?

A. Correct. That was added to the final version of -- this was added
after it went over to Nature Medicine, yes.

Did Nature Medicine add the line?
No.

How did that process play out? How did that line get added?

> o> R

That's based on our edits to the paper. Again, as the editor at Nature
Medicine states, is that he thought that the paper had grown
significantly since the one he had seen from Nature. We had to
shorten it. You need to trim this back down, more or less, to the size

192 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 20,
2020).

193 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor Scripps Research, to Joao Monterio, Editor, Nature Medicine
(Feb. 27, 2020).

194 14
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of the Nature version while retaining the major changes in response
to the reviewers. And some of the responses to the reviewers was
that the reviewer felt that we could be more specific on, for example,
that lab origins were less likely than we initially entertained, and I
agreed with that. I think we all agree with that, and those were
changes that we incorporated. So that includes that we don't believe
that any type of lab origin is plausible. It's something that was added
in response to the reviewers, our own thinking of the topic, and then
getting it published in Nature Medicine, as opposed to Nature.'*®

On March 5, 2020, Nature Medicine accepted Proximal Origin for publication. ¥

The Anonymous Whistleblower to Jon Cohen

On July 25, 2020, an anonymous whistleblower emailed Mr. Jon Cohen, a reporter for
Science magazine, and alleged that Proximal Origin plagiarized the arguments of others from the
February 1 conference call.'”” The whistleblower also alleged that this was one of the reasons
that Nature rejected the paper.'*® Mr. Cohen forwarded these claims to Dr. Andersen and Dr.
Holmes and said, “[h]ere’s what one person who claims to have inside knowledge is saying
behind your backs...”!”

Dr. Andersen and Dr. Holmes then drafted a response to Mr. Cohen and forwarded their
draft to Dr. Fauci and Dr. Farrar for approval.?”’ In this email, Dr. Andersen expressed concerns
about confirming that the February 1 Conference Call took place, stating, “[w]e need to reply
back to Jon, which would include confirming that this meeting took did indeed take place with
you and Jeremy present. Please let me know if you have any comments or concerns in this
regard.”?"!

In response to Dr. Andersen, Dr. Farrar replied, “[c]an we get the sequence of events right
and agreed before a substantive reply goes back to Jon?’?*? Dr. Holmes, responded with a
revised draft and wrote, “[f]or Tony’s benefit a revised draft of the email to Jon is pasted
below.”%

While the identity of the anonymous whistleblower is still unknown, the Proximal Origin
authors had their own suspicions. Dr. Holmes opined, “...I'm 100% sure it was Ron who leaked

195 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 186-187.

196 E-Mail from Nature Medicine, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Mar. 5, 2020).

197 E-Mail from Jon Cohen, Reporter, Science, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, & Edward
Holmes, Ph.D., Professor University of Sydney (July 25, 2020).

198 Id.

1991d.

200 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., et. al., Dir., Nat’l
Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases (July 28, 2020).

201 [d

202 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., Professor Scripps
Research (July 28, 2020).

203 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., et. al., Dir.
Wellcome Trust (July 28, 2020).
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it — he was the most angry — and I still think it was like Baric who emailed Jon Cohen.”?% Dr.
Rambaut responded, “I agree — most likely Ron doing the leaking.”?%

On 28 Jul 2020, at 6:21 pm, Andrew Rambaut ||| GG v ote:

I agree - most likely Ron doing the leaking. Whoever it was that talked to the emailer was indignant that 'non-
coronavirus-experts’ were involved. I can’t see any of the others having this sort of pompous, arrogant view of
the world. Marion approached me well after this to help analyse the Dutch data. Christian I have worked with
before on MERS. I doubt even that Ron was that bothered - probably just told the story to whoever it was and
misremembered or ‘enhanced’ it for effect.

A

On 28 Jul 2020, at 03:58, Edward Holmes _ wrote:

Pohlmann as on it and very good. Christian was also v. interested in the furin cleavage site (I’ve other emails).

Despite this, I’'m 100% sure it is Ron who leaked it - he was the most angry - and I still think it was like Baric
who emailed Jon Cohen.

I just thought "I would conclude that a follow-up discussion on the possible origin of 2019-nCoV would be of
much interest” was very interesting.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

Dr. Baric denied being the anonymous individual that e-mailed Mr. Cohen.

Dr. Ralph Baric (January 22. 2024)

Q. After the fact -- and then there's a reporter at Science Magazine
named John Cohen.

A. I know him.
Q. He put out some emails after the fact of an anonymous person that
claimed that the "proximal origin" authors plagiarized some ideas

and went a little bit too far. Are you aware of those emails?

A. John contacted me.

204 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, Scripps Research (July 28, 2020, 3:58 PM).

205 E-Mail from Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Professor, University of Edinburgh, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, University of Sydney (July 28, 2020, 6:21 PM).
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Q. Were you the —

A. No, I was not. I was not. I was building suspense.
Q. So Dr. —

A. And it worked.

Q.

It did. Part of it is because Dr. Holmes thinks you were the one that
contacted John Cohen.

A. Well, that's why he may say it. He and -- I'm forgetting his name,
sorry -- Andersen. If that's what they thought, he may have been
really irritated with me if he felt that it was me, but it was not.

What did Mr. Cohen contact you about?

A. He was asking me the same question you asked me, was I the author
of that statement? And I said, no, I was not.

Do you know who is?

A. No, I don't.2%

The Critical Reception of Proximal Origin

On February 19, 2020, Proximal Origin was cited in the letter in 7he Lancet titled,
“Statement in support of the scientists, public health professionals, and medical professionals of
China combatting COVID-19.”27 Proximal Origin was cited as proof “this coronavirus
originated in wildlife.”2%

On March 17, 2020, Dr. Andersen’s employer, Scripps Research, put out a press release
regarding Proximal Origin entitled, “The COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic has a natural origin,
scientists say.”?? Dr. Andersen is quoted in this release saying, *...we can firmly determine that
SARS-COV-2 originated through natural process.”!° Dr. Farrar’s organization, The Wellcome
Trust, is also quoted in the release, stating, “they conclude that the virus is the product of natural
evolution.”?!!

NIH and NIAID were keenly anticipating the release of Proximal Origin. On February
19, 2020, the NIAID Office of Communications spoke internally regarding the paper and stated,

206 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 124-125.

207 Charles Calisher, Ph.D., et. al., Statement in support of the scientists, public health professionals, and medical
professionals of China combatting COVID-19, THE LANCET (Feb. 19, 2020).

208 17

209 The COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic has a natural origin, scientists say, SCRIPPS RESEARCH (Mar. 17, 2020).
210 77

211 g
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“[t]he Office of Communications asked if we could alert them if this paper is accepted in a peer
review journal. Do you know if the authors have submitted it to a journal?”?!2

From: Coleman, Amanda (NIH/NIAID) (<] || NNk

Sent: Wednesday, February 19, 2020 1:21 PM
To: Shabman, Reed (NIH/NIAID) [E] I
Cc: Brown, Liliana (NIH/NIAID) [E] I N

Subject: RE: COVID-19 preprint of interest

Hi Reed — The Office of Communications asked if we could alert them if this paper is accepted in a peer reviewed journal.
Do you know if the authors have submitted it to a journal?

Thank you,

Amanda Coleman [C]

An NIH employee responded, “I reached out to Kristian and team...the text is submitted
to Nature. Kristian suggests that the office of Communication can communicate directly with
Chris Emery [Scripps Research].”?!3

From: Shabman, Reed (NIH/NIAID) [E]
Sent: Wednesday, February 19, 2020 3:30 PM

To: Coleman, Amanda (NIH/NIAID) [C!

Ce: Brown, Liliana (NIH/NIAID) [E] Chris Emery_

Subject: RE: COVID-18 preprint of interes!

Hi Amanda,

| reached out to Kristian and team and copied his response below in italics. As you can see from his note, the text is

submitted to Nature. Kristian suggests that the Office of Communications can communicate directly with Chris Emery
(copied here).

REV0002496

Thanks,

Reed

Yes, it's been submitted for peer review (in Nature) and we are holding off on giving further comments to the media until
it's been through that and published. Chris Emery from our communications department (cc'd here) is taking the lead on
creating a press release / summary in lay language, as well as a Q&A with questions the public and policy makers might
have - Wellcome is involved as well to help out. If there's interest on NIAID's side, I'm sure Chris and the team would
welcome coordination/coliaboration, so if you can please reach out to him directly.

Best,
Kristian

212 E-Mail from Amanda Coleman, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to Reed
Shabman, Program Office, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Feb. 19, 2020, 1:21
PM).

213 E-Mail from Reed Shabman, Program Office, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health,
to Amanda Coleman, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Feb. 19, 2020, 3:30 PM).
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On March 26, 2020, Dr. Collins wrote a blog post for the NIH regarding Proximal
Origin.?'* Dr. Collins wrote, “[a] new study debunks such claims by providing scientific
evidence that this novel coronavirus arose naturally.”?!> Dr. Collins concluded, “[e]ither way, this
study leaves little room to refute a natural origin for COVID-19.”216

On April 16, 2020, more than two months after the original February 1 Conference Call
and a month after Proximal Origin was published, Dr. Collins emailed Dr. Fauci and expressed
dismay that Proximal Origin did not successfully squash the lab leak theory. He stated, “I hoped
the Nature Medicine article on the genomic sequence of SARS-CoV-2 would settle this...”?!”
Then Dr. Collins asked Dr. Fauci, “[w]ondering if there is something NIH can do to help put
down this very destructive conspiracy...Anything more we can do?”?'®

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

214 Francis Collins, Genomic Study Points to Natural Origin of COVID-19, NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH (Mar. 26,
2020).

215 I1d.

216 I1d.

217 E-Mail from Francis Collins, Dir., Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to Anthony Fauci M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Apr. 16, 2020, 10:45 PM).

218 17
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From: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E]

To: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD] [E
subject: RE: conspiracy gains momentum
Date: Thursday, April 16, 2020 10:45:00 PM
Francis:

what seems to be growing momentum:

Q@"\.

https://www.mediaite.com/tv/foxs-bret-baier ssurue\;'tm’e\ y-confident-coronavirus-outbreak-

NN
Q& R

Y
| hoped the Nature Medicine article on the %&@m@quence of SARS-CoV-2 would settle this. But
probably that didn’t get much visibility. C)

started-in-wuhan-lab/

2 g\,\o
Anything more we can do? Ask thg&atio@%cademy to weigh in?
&
_ rz, »\\CQ
Francis \EZ)

O
o

e

| would not do anything about this right now. Itis a shiny object that will go away in time. Q}?
Best, QLQJ
Tony Sg\\_ (Z)CD

&>
N
From: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]_ Ox\@ 0_3@
Sent: Thursday, April 16, 2020 5:02 PM Q}Q\
To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) (€] || G \}((\
Ce: Tabak, Lawrence (NIH/0D) [E] ||| G 2. ciff (vH W |%‘|%T
I -~ > (/o) - > <
Subject: conspiracy gains momentum Q \(\@
: (.r
Wondering if there is something NIH can do to help put down g@%r\ggg‘tructwe conspiracy, with

Dr. Collins testified that “Nature Medicine article” was in reference to Proximal
Origin.?"” The next day, on April 17, 2020, Dr. Fauci cited Proximal Origin from the White
House podium.

White House Press Conference (April 17, 2023)

Q. Mr. President, [ wanted to ask Dr. Fauci: Could you address
these suggestions or concerns that this virus was somehow
manmade, possibly came out of a laboratory in China?

Dr. Fauci. There was a study recently that we can make available to

you, where a group of highly qualified evolutionary

219 Transcribed Interview of Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., former Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 12, 2024)
[hereinafter “Collins TT”].
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virologists looked at the sequences there and the sequences
in bats as they evolve. And the mutations that it took to get
to the point where it is now is totally consistent with a jump
of a species from an animal to a human. So, I mean, the paper
will be available — I don’t have the authors right now, but
we can make that available to you.??°

After the briefing, a reporter directly asked which paper Dr. Fauci cited and was then sent
Proximal Origin. The reporter wrote, “Dr. Fauci on Friday said he would share a scientific paper
with the press on the origin of the coronavirus. Can you please help me get a copy of that

paper?”ZZI
<
s
On Apr 19, 2020, at 2:21 PM, Bill Gertz Redacted o5 Qrote:
S L
; e ™.
Katie 0 o
; “ %o
O
Dr. Fauci on Friday said he would share a scientific paperﬂhh nress on the origin of
the coronavirus. Can you please help me get a copy of at pdpier? Thanks in advance.
S &
Bill Gertz Lo
VC &
Mational Security Correspondent CA Q“;
@BillGertz | direct, _Redacted SRS
TheGerzFile.com -
A
7y -
<twtlogo.jpg> QU o~
O N
> &
3600 Mew York Ave NE |Wash|@§)n D@ 0002
o, &
S o

Dr. Fauci responded, “[h]ere are the links to the scientific papers and a commentary about
the scientific basis of the origins of SARS-Cov-2" and lists Proximal Origin.?*?

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

220 Remarks by President Trump, Vice President Pence, and Members of the Coronavirus Task Force in Press
Briefing, The White House (Apr. 17, 2020) [hereinafter “Remarks by President Trump April 17, 20207].

221 E-Mail from Bill Gertz, Correspondent, The Wash. Times, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Apr. 19, 2020, 2:21 PM).

222 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’1 Insts. Of Health, to
Bill Gertz, Correspondent, The Wash. Times (Apr. 19, 2020, 9:25 PM).
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On Apr 19, 2020, at 9:25 PM.L@M J\ha:m},' (NIH/NIAID) [E] =i  Redacted > wrote:

o~
Bill: £ S

Here are the links to t cig&ﬁ?ic papers and a commentary about the scientific basis of the origins of SARS-

Cov-2. Q o~

~J
The proximal origigg%ﬁﬂ%uv—z. Andersen KG, Rambaut A, Lipkin WI, Holmes EC, Garry RF. Nat Med. 2020

Apr;26(4):450-452 (doi: 038/s41591-020-0820-9. No abstract available.
i i igin a

https:// [ 2¢m1UGe
(@]

Best(_géa r&'s};

T
ony'S. Fauci, MD
Q' rector
SSCP_NIHD02046
&

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases ;\?‘
Building 31, Room Redsces QJ\J
31 Center Drive, MSC 2520 Q_ &
National Institutes of Health %, @
Bethesda, MD 20892-2520 .0
Phone: Redacted | \Q) ,ﬂ‘
FAX: (301) 496-4409 &Co 2y
E-mail Redacted } @ CO
The information in this e-mail and any of its attachments is confidential and may conrﬁens@e information. It
should not be used by anyone who is not the original intended recipient. If you have ived.this e-mail in error

please inform the sender and delete it from your mailbox or any other storage devic Th tional Institute of
Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) shall not accept liability for any statements"aiade that are the sender's
own and not expressly made on behalf of the NIAID by one of its mpmsnntatives&}w \2\

D>

Dr. Fauci later stated he may not have ever actually read Proximal Origin.?** This raises
questions of why he would cite a paper, he did not even read, from the White House podium as
proof COVID-19 was not the result of a lab leak.

Dr. Collins testified that despite his e-mail suggesting he desired more action to “put
down” the lab leak hypothesis, he did not instruct Dr. Fauci to cite Proximal Origin from the
White House.??* Dr. Fauci also testified that his statement at the White House was not in
response to Dr. Collins’ e-mail.??

On January 9, 2024, Mr. Don McNeil, former science and health reporter for the New
York Times, published “The Wisdom of Plagues: Lessons from 25 Years of Covering
Pandemics.” In Wisdom of Plagues, Mr. McNeil recounted:

223 Megan Stack, Dr. Fauci Could Have Said a Lot More, THE N.Y. TIMES (Mar. 28, 2020).

224 See Collins TI, supra note 221.

225 See, Transcribed Interview of Anthony Fauci, M.D., former Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases,
Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 8, 2024) [hereinafter “Fauci T 17°].
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Far more serious errors occur when sources deliberately deceive reporters.
In late July 2023, this book was almost in print when I learned, from emails
and Slack chats [released] by the Congressional Subcommittee on the
Coronavirus Pandemic and posted on Public, a Substack magazine, that |
was the victim of deception in the pandemic’s earliest days. In February
2020, four eminent scientists whom I respected had discussed with each
other various ways to throw me off track when I asked whether it was
possible that the virus had been manipulated in a lab or might have leaked
from one. Their efforts affected how I viewed the controversy over Covid’s
origins and how the 7imes covered it. My publisher allowed me to quickly
rewrite this chapter.??

Mr. McNeil also confirmed that the Proximal Origin authors’ deception altered how the
New York Times reported on COVID-19 origins.

226 Donald G. McNeil, Jr., The Wisdom of Plagues: Lessons from 25 Years of Covering Pandemics (Simon &

Schuster, 2024).
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II. The Failures of EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.

EcoHealth is a non-profit scientific research organization that is primarily funded by U.S.
taxpayer dollars. Its President is Dr. Daszak, and both EcoHealth and Dr. Daszak are long time
collaborators with the WIV and Dr. Shi. Beginning in April 2020, NIH investigated both
EcoHealth and Dr. Daszak for numerous grant policy violations and accusations of facilitating
dangerous research at the WIV.

Starting in February 2023, the Select Subcommittee began its own investigation into
EcoHealth.??” In July 2023, HHS debarred the WIV for a period of 10 years for non-
compliance.??® Further, in May 2024, as a direct result of the Select Subcommittee’s
investigation, HHS immediately suspended and proposed for debarment both EcoHealth, as an
institution, and Dr. Daszak, as an individual.??° As of December 4, 2024, neither EcoHealth’s nor
Dr. Daszak’s debarment is finalized. Both NIH and Dr. Fauci support the debarment of
EcoHealth.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (November 14, 2024)

Q. And does NIH still support the debarment of EcoHealth and Dr.
Daszak?

A. We do. And we have provided all necessary documents to the
Department. >3

Dr. Anthony Fauci (June 3, 2024)

Q. During previous TIs and hearings, when asked if they supported
every one of these actions..., both Dr. Collins and Dr. Tabak said
yes. Sitting here today, do you support the suspension and
debarment of EcoHealth?

A. Yes. 3!

FINDING: EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. Facilitated Gain-of-Function Research at the Wuhan
Institute of Virology.

227 Letter from Hon. Brad Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, to Peter Daszak,

Ph.D., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Feb. 13, 2023).

228 Letter from Deputy Assistant Sec’y for Acquisitions, Suspension and Debarment Official, to Yanyi Wang, Dir.,
Wauhan Institute of Virology (July 18, 2023).

229 Letter from Henrietta Katrina Brisbon, Suspension and Debarment Official and Deputy Assistant Sec’y for
Acquisitions, HHS, to Peter Daszak, President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (May 2024).

230 Preparing for the Next Pandemic: Lessons Learned and the Path Forward: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. on
Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong. 2, at 19 (Nov. 14, 2024) (testimony of Dr. Tabak) [hereinafter “Preparing for the
Next Pandemic™].

21 A Hearing with Dr. Anthony Fauci: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. on Coronavirus Pandemic, 118th Cong. 2,
at 122 (June 3, 2024) [hereinafter “Fauci Hearing”]. (The actions referenced in this question refer to NIH’s
enforcement and oversight actions preceding the 2024 suspension and debarment.)
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What Is Gain-Of-Function Research?

The term gain-of-function research encompasses a wide swath of life sciences research, a
subset of which involves creating potential pandemic pathogens. The meaning to the public
versus the scientific community is different and ever shifting, especially as federal government
oversight policies and procedures have shifted. However, the term gain-of-function is not tied to
any specific policy or oversight framework and, instead, has a long-established lay definition.

Throughout this investigation, the Select Subcommittee found the term “gain-of-
function” could mean something completely different to one person in the field than to another
person simply using the term. In fact, different experts also have different understandings of the
term. Consequently, a nuanced understanding of the term is essential to facilitate effective
oversight and understanding of this type of research.

As of October 19, 2020, according to the NIH website, gain-of-function meant “a type of
research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers a new or enhanced activity to that
agent.,,232

Gain-of-Function Research

The term gain-of-function (GOF) research describes a type of research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers new or enhanced activity to that agent. Some
scientists use the term broadly to refer to any such modification. However, not all research described as GOF entails the same level of risk. For example, research that
involves the modification of bacteria to allow production of human insulin, or the altering of the genetic program of immune cells in CAR-T cell therapy to treat cancer
generally would be considered low risk. The subset of GOF research that is anticipated to enhance the transmissibifity and/or virufence of potential pandemic pathogens,
which are likely to make them more dangerous to humans, has been the subject of substantial scrutiny and deliberation. Such GOF approaches can sometimes be
justified in laboratories with appropriate biosafety and biosecurity controls to help us understand the fundamental nature of human-pathogen interactions, assess the
pandemic potential of emerging infectious agents, and inform public health and preparedness efforts, incuding surveillance and the development of vaccines and
medical countermeasures. This research poses biosafety and biosecurity risks, and these risks must be carefully managed. When supported with NIH funds, this subset
of GOF research may only be conducted in laboratories with stringent oversight and appropriate biosafety and biosecurity controls to help protect researchers from

infection and prevent the release of microorganisms into the environment,

This definition was confirmed by multiple witnesses interviewed by the Select
Subcommittee.

Dr. Hugh Auchincloss (Dec. 20, 2023)

Q. So, this is the NIH website for gain-of-function research involving
potential pandemic pathogens, and this version was last updated July
12, 2021. There has since been a new version, and under the header
"Gain-of-Function Research" is that definition that I just read to you.
It does have the qualifier, not all research described as gain-of-
function entails the same level of risk, and I guess one of the kind of
semantics here is that what a layperson thinks of as gain-of-function,
I think falls under this definition: Any research that attributes a new
attribute to a biological agent, whether it's taking avian influenza
virus that can't infect humans or making it able to infect humans or

232 Gain-of-Function Research Involving Potential Pandemic Pathogens, NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH (last updated July
12, 2021) (last accessed Oct. 19, 2021) (archived version on file with Select Subcomm. Staff).
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taking a bat Coronavirus that can't infect mice and making it infect
mice, either of which would qualify as gain-of-function under that
definition.

Do you agree?

A. I do, and I think that this is making the same points that I've been
making earlier. There's gain-of-function which is common in
virology and that's not the same as the gain-of-function research of

concern.??

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. ...My, kind of, understanding is that there's -- it's a complicated
definition. There's a lot of different pieces to it. There are pieces that
NIH regulates; there's pieces that HHS regulates. There are pieces
that have dual-use problems. So, I'm going to run through each
definition, and you just tell me if I'm kind of on the right page. The
high-level gain-of-function, as was defined by NIH: a type of
research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers new or
enhanced activity to that agent.

Is that right?

A. It -- as an agent, yes.?**

In addition to the above definition, the federal government requires that certain types of
gain-of-function research receive further oversight and review. In 2014 OSTP determined that a
subset of gain-of-function research needed further regulation and paused all new federal funding
for that type of research [hereinafter “2014 OSTP Pause™].

New USG funding will not be released for gain-of-function research
projects that may be reasonably anticipated to confer attributes to influenza,
MERS, or SARS viruses such that the virus would have enhanced
pathogenicity and/or transmissibility in mammals via the respiratory route.
The research funding pause would not apply to characterization or testing
of naturally occurring influenza, MERS, and SARS viruses, unless the tests
are reasonably anticipated to increase transmissibility and/or
pathogenicity.?*

233 Transcribed Interview of Hugh Auchincloss, M.D., Dep. Dir., Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l
Insts. of Health, at 100-101 (Dec. 20, 2023) [hereinafter “Auchincloss TI”].

234 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 27.

235 U.S. GOVERNMENT GAIN-OF-FUNCTION DELIBERATIVE PROCESS AND RESEARCH FUNDING PAUSE ON SELECTED
GAIN-OF-FUNCTION RESEARCH INVOLVING INFLUENZA, MERS, AND SARS VIRUSES, OFFICE OF SCIENCE AND TECH.
PoLicy, WHITE HOUSE (Oct. 17, 2014).
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This definition is clear—it is not a pause on all gain-of-function research, but on a
specific subset. Therefore, it is possible for research to qualify as gain-of-function without
qualifying for the 2014 OSTP Pause.

In 2017, as a result of and replacing the 2014 OSTP Pause, HHS released the
“Framework for Guiding Funding Decisions About Proposed Research involving Enhanced
Potential Pandemic Pathogens (P3CO)” [hereinafter “P3CO Framework™].2*¢ Similar to the 2014
OSTP Pause, the P3CO Framework did not apply to all gain-of-function research but only a
specific subset.

The P3CO Framework applies to “[p]roposed intramural and extramural life sciences
research that is being considered for funding and that has been determined by the funding agency
as reasonably anticipated to create, transfer, or used enhanced PPPs [potential pandemic
pathogens]...”%*” A PPP is defined as a pathogen that:

(1) “is likely highly transmissible and likely capable of wide and
uncontrollable spread in human populations” and

(2) “is likely highly virulent and likely to cause significant morbidity and/or
mortality in humans.”?3#

An enhanced PPP—the type of pathogen the P3CO Framework is designed to oversee—
is defined as a potential pandemic pathogen “resulting from the enhancement of the
transmissibility and/or virulence of a pathogen.”?*° This applies to only a very narrow subset of
research. In fact, out of all the grants issued since the P3CO Framework went into effect, HHS
has only reviewed three potential studies that fall under this definition.?** Again, the P3CO
Framework is clear—it only applies to a small subset of gain-of-function research. Therefore, it
is possible for research to qualify as gain-of-function without qualifying for the P3CO
Framework.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. Can there be a subset of research that would qualify under that
definition of modifying -- of providing a new function to a
biological agent --

A. Uh-huh.

236 FRAMEWORK FOR GUIDING FUNDING DECISIONS ABOUT PROPOSED RESEARCH INVOLVING ENHANCED POTENTIAL
PANDEMIC PATHOGENS, U.S. DEP’T OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVS. (2017).

237 [d

238 Id.

239 Id.

240 Research Involving Enhanced Potential Pandemic Pathogens, NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH, U.S. DEP’T OF HEALTH
& HUMAN SERVS. (last updated June 5, 2023) (last accessed Apr. 23, 2024).
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Q. -- without falling under the categories of being regulated by the
P3CO?

A. Absolutely. !

Applying the Definition of Gain-Of-Function to EcoHealth’s Reported Experiments.

The Select Subcommittee endeavored to determine if research facilitated by EcoHealth—
paid for with U.S. taxpayer dollars—and conducted in Wuhan by the WIV qualified as gain-of-
function research. The research in question was published by EcoHealth in its Year 5 Research
Performance Progress Reports (RPPR) [hereinafter “Year 5 Report”].?*?

3.1 In vivo infection of Human ACE2 (hACE2) axp“rhﬁsmgmma with SARSr-CoV 5 protein

wvariants f“' h:‘_
In Year 5, we continued with in wivo infection exﬁbn’nms of diverse bat SARSr-CoVs on
transgenic mice expressing human ACE2 I'-.ulir-.'.ercr‘nfc ted with 4 sirains of SARSr-CoVs
with different S protein, induding the full-keabth cimbinant virus of SARSr-CoV WIV and
three chimeric viruses with the backbone §FWh and S proteins of SHC014, WIV16 and
Rs4231, respectively. Pathogenicity ui-tf‘pi;'d SARS~CoV's was evaluated by recording the
survival rate of challenged mice in a Mﬂp{q{rﬁjrﬁe Al of the 4 SARSr-CoV's caused lethal
nfection in hACEZ transgenic mice, ot § hq?horralr.y rate vary among 4 groups of infected mice
(Fig. 13a). 14 days post mfcctu:um‘oula‘t mice infected with WIV1 remained alive (71.4%),
while only 2 of 8 mice infected with r"a'l‘ff' SHCO14 5 survived (25%). The survival rate of mice
nfected with AWIVA-WIV1ES 400 AVEMT-42315 were 50%. Viral replication was confirmed by
quantitative PCR in spleen, ‘E!n [\T\té‘thp and brain of infected micea. In brain, rWIV1, Wi 1-
WIV16S and IW-'IU‘-dzgk{uanr_@tbe detected 2 days or 4 days post infection. However,
rWIv1-SHCO14 was deitefed-staall time points and showed an increasing viral titer after
nfection. The viral I:&:Q{cacﬁ‘&d more than 107 genome copies/g at the dead point (Fig. 13b).
We also conducted h.fs-::upﬁinlugucal section examination in infected mice. Tissue lesicn and
lymphocytes inf Itraﬁ:nr l:ah‘EE observed in lung, which is more significant in mice infected with
rWIV1-SHCO14 $_fF|g.k“ﬂ3dj than those infected with r'WWiV1 (Fig. 13c). These results suggest
that the parh%wg@d"SHG‘ 14 is higher than other tested bat SARSr-CoVs in transgenic
mice that E‘ﬂ_tfbs haCEZ.

The Year 5 Report describes an experiment in which the WIV infected transgenic mice
with four different coronaviruses, three of which were chimera or recombinant viruses with
different spike proteins. The WIV then measured the pathogenicity of the novel laboratory
created viruses as compared to the control, which was a full-length backbone of WIV1. The

pathogenicity of the three chimeras was then compared to the control—the full-length backbone
of WIV1.

In the experiment, the survival rate of mice infected with WIV1 was 71.4 percent while
the survival rate of the mice infected with one of the chimeric viruses (WIV1-SHC014) was just
25 percent. Therefore, the laboratory generated chimera was more pathogenic than the control
virus and the mice infected with that chimera became sicker.

241 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 29.
24 Interim Research Performance Progress Report, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., at 15 (Aug. 3, 2021).
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In the October 20, 2021 letter to Mr. Comer, Dr. Tabak described this experiment and its
result as “unexpected.”?*’ Regardless of whether the results were expected or not, it appears this
experiment would constitute gain-of-function research.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. NIH has said a lot that the experiment in the EcoHealth grant was
not gain-of-function research, that it didn't qualify. Did NIH mean it
wasn't ePPP research?

A. It is certainly an example of generic gain-of-function, if that’s what
you mean.

Q. Yes. So, I'm trying to get at, like, words matter. And using a term
that has an established definition, "gain-of-function" -- it's on the
NIH's website —

A. Right.

Q. -- has an established definition, that when people say that what

EcoHealth did was not gain-of-function research, that's not true. It's
not gain-of-function research of concern or that HHS would
regulate. Is that fair?

A. That is fair. And I have always, when asked, tried to make that
distinction.

All right.

A. Because, as you point out, there's lots of gain-of-function research,
and, as is written here, however, not all such research entails the
same level of risk.

And I agree with that. I'm just —
A. Yeah.

Q. When there's such a -- like, I don't remember the infection count or
the death toll in 2021. And origins has been such a hot-button issue.
But, like, when I write things for my bosses that are going to go out
and speak or if I was prepping someone for congressional testimony,
I'd want to make sure that they're using the right phrases. And
whenever we've talked to NIH -- I think I was briefed by you once;
it might've been on this letter -- maybe outside of that, we've heard

243 Letter from Lawrence Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health to Hon. James Comer,
Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & Reform (October 20, 2021).
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A.

"NIH did not fund gain-of-function research in Wuhan," period.
That's, at best, misleading.

I have always tried to make sure that whoever is asking the question
is speaking about gain-of-function research of concern. I can only
speak for how I'm trying to answer questions of this type. Because
you're right, words matter.

And I won't harp too long, but just -- you would agree, what's
described in this letter, what's described in the EcoHealth year
progress report, would fit the definition -- the broad definition of
gain-of-function research?

The generic, broad description of what gain-of-function is, yes.***

Dr. Ralph Baric (Jan. 22, 2024)

Q.

ook ok

Dr. Baric, you've read the year 5 paragraph now, the in vivo
infection where five of the seven mice infected with just the WIV1
backbone survived, but only two of the eight mice infected with the
WIV1 SHCO014 [survivied].

You should be able to do the statistics on that, and it should show
that there's a statistical difference, which means there was an
increase in virulence and the entire review process would have been
triggered.

So, my question is, and we've gotten different answers on
everything, and it depends on if you're using the P3 definition or
whatever definition. This reads like gain-of-function to me.

Okay. So what year was this? I just want to make sure I'm in the
right gain-of-function regulation.

2019.

So, it's the NSABB regulation...So based on those regulations, yes,
this is -- as my interpretation, is that, yes, these would be exempt.
But is it a gain-of-function phenotype? Absolutely. You can't argue
with that.?*

244 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 95-97.
24 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 181-184.
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Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. ...Dr. Tabak, did the NIH fund the gain-of-function research at the
Wuhan Institute of Virology through EcoHealth?

A. It depends on your definition of gain-of-function research. If you are
speaking about the generic term, yes, we did...%*

Dr. Baric previously stated and testified that the WIV should not have been conducting

this type of research at BSL-2. This is a divergence from the beliefs of Dr. Daszak. This

divergence was exemplified by the following email exchange.

247

From: Ralph Baric
Sent: Monday, May 10, 2021 12:21 PM

Subject:

B5L2 noled in methods

JW¥irol. 2016 Jul 15; 90{14): 6573-6581.

Published cnline 2016 Jun 24. Prepublished online 2016 May 11. doi: 10.1128/1V1.03079-15

PMICID: PMC4935131; PMID: 27170748

Bat Severe Acute Respirgtory Syndrome-Like Coronavirus WIV1 Encodes an Extra Accessory Protein, OREX, Involved in
Modulation of the Host Immune Response Lei-Ping Zeng.a Yu-Tao Gao.a Xing-¥i Ge.a Qian Zhang,a Cheng Peng.a Xing-
Lou Yang.a Bing Tan,a Jing Chen,a alaksei A. Chmura,b Peter Daszak,b and Zheng-Li Shicorresponding author

I¥irol. 2020 Oct; 94(20): e00302-20.

Published online 2020 Sep 29. Prepublished online 2020 Jul 22, doi: 10.1128/1V1.00202-20

PMCID: PMLCT527062

PMID: 32659095

Evolutionary Arms Race between Virus and Host Drives Genetic Civersity in Bat Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome
Related Coronavirus Spike Genes Hua Guo,#a,b Bing-lie Hu#a Xing-Lou Yang,a Lei-Ping Zeng.a Bei Li,a Songying
Quyang,c and Zheng-Li Shicorresponding author

Ithink there are at least one more such paper. i'll forward letter to the editor shortly, but thought you should be
informed this methodology continued into 2020

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

246 Qverseeing the Overseers: A Hearing with NIH Deputy Director, Dr. Lawrence Tabak: Hearing Before Select
Subcomm. On the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong., 2, at 95-97 (May 16, 2024) [hereinafter “Tabak Hearing”).
247 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 181-184.
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From: Ralph Baric

Sent: Monday, May 10, 2021 4:44 FM

Subject: Re:

Hi Peter, 1t 15 true that this isn't defimtive proof and | agree there 15 no evidence of a SARS2 like virus in their
collection that is closer than RaTG 13, which is still pretty distant. 1 also still agree that a natural origin from
nature 15 the most likely scenario. Take care, Ralph

On Mon, "q.-'Iu:v 10, 2021 at 1:57 PM Peter Daszak _ wrile:

Thanks Ralph = I'd seen those and | understand your rationale for signing the letter. I've already seen a copy—
reporters are already lining up guestions for me, towhich I'm saying — you should contact WHO.

The real issue that everyone seems ta forget is whether they had a virus similar to SARS-CoV-2 in their collection.
Given that we publishad ~850 novel RdRps [alpha and beta covs) in spring 2020, and that they were piling in every
single positive they had, it just seems like a very implausisle scenario. Yes, they cultured bat-CoVs at a safety level you
don’t, but there's no evidence anywhere that they had SARS2 or & progenitar. lournalists will write whatever they
want | guess...

Cheers,

-SSCPL{V-Uﬁam

Peter

Peter Daszak

President

EcoHealth alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
Mew York, NY 10018-6507
USA

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

Page 66 of 520




MMessage

From: Ralph Baric
Sent: f27/2021 7:00:34 AM
Ta: Peter Daszak

Subject: Re: ESL levels Il::-r viral culturz in !!-na, !! a:!ﬂr countries

Sarry Peter. Your being told a bunch of BS. Bsl2 w negative pressure, give me a break. There last paper
mentioned bsl2 w appropriate PPE. This last part was the first and only time this was ever mentioned, never in
earlier pupers, and in the latest paper never defined either. 1have no doubt that they followed stale determined
rules and did the work under bsl2. Yes china has the right to set their own policy. You believe this was
appropriate containment if you want but don't expect me to believe it. Moreover, don't insult my intelligence
by trying to feed me this load of BS.

Ralph

On Thu, May 27, 2021, 1:08 AM Peter Daszak _wmte.

Hi Ralph,
Hope all's well, given this ridiculous wezk for politics around covid origins in the news!

Since we last spoke, I'va checked ona bunch of rules governing culture of viruses in the US, China and other countries,
Hope you don’t take this the wrong way = 'm sending you this 0 you're aware, and in case you get questions from
reporters, and other scientists, or the govt agencies etc., not to disagree with your opinion, which | respect.

In China, the rules allow for organizations to conduct culture of animal viruses at BSL-2, including chimeras, We
checked with Zhengli, who let us know that she used “B5L-2 with negative prassure and appropriate PPE”. | also know
that they are stricter now on SAD5-CoV (it's BSL-3 | believe) ever since you showed it was able to infect human airway
epithelial cells, so that's evidence they do take these things more seriously than it would seem on the surface.

| also checked the rules an a bunch of viruses for the US and was surprised to find lethal human pathogens cultured at
BSL-2 (e.g. Rabies, some vector borne viruses) as well as ma ny wildlife viruses. | also spoke with Chris Broder who let
me know that the bat paramyxovirus Cedar virus (close to Mipah/Hendra) is cultured at BSL-2, including the
recombinants he fas made witn Nipah and Hendra elemeants. Reference here:

hitps:/'www nebinlm.nih.sov'pmefarticles PMCS 869790/

I've attached a list of some of the findings with refs. Hope it's useful in case there are questions about this. I'm sure
thers are reasons for all of the above classifications, and justifications that can be debated, but | just want you to know
that | did the due diligence on this, and checked that they were following the rules, and that similar rules exist here. I'm
sure it will ba eriticized, and maybe there will be tightening of biosafety levels given the hype around the lab leak
hypothesis at the moment. However, I'm still very confident that nothing untoward happened there, and have good
reasons for that based on the protocols they used, and the results they were sharing as we wrote a paper for Nat.
Communications in the lead up to the cutbreak

Cheers,

B sscPoo406590

Peter
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FINDING: EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. Submitted its Year 5 Annual Progress Report Nearly Two
Years Late.

During the life cycle of a grant, the principal investigator must provide annual reports,
known as RPPR, to its funding agency.?*® These reports provide the funding agency with updates
on the progress of the work funded by the grant and any anticipated changes in the research
approach or direction going into the next funding year. In the case of EcoHealth, these reports,
especially its Year Five Report, have come under scrutiny from the NIH Office of Extramural
Research and the Select Subcommittee’s investigation.

EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report was due September 28, 2019. However, the report was not
submitted until August 3, 2021—nearly two years late.** This failure was first reported to
Congress via an October 20, 2021 letter from Dr. Tabak to Mr. Comer.>>°

Each year, regardless of whether a grant is being evaluated for a competitive renewal, the
principal investigator must submit an annual progress report. As stated above, EcoHealth’s Year
5 Report—the report that included the results of research and experiments for June 2018 through
May 2019, the time period immediately preceding the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic—
was due September 28, 2019. However, EcoHealth submitted this report nearly two years later
on August 3, 2021.

For project years one through four, Dr. Daszak, in addition to submitting the annual
report via the NIH online reporting system, would routinely also send it via e-mail to his
program officer, Dr. Stemmy. The Select Subcommittee are in possession of these e-mails for
reporting years one, two, and four:

1) On May 1, 2015, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 1 RPPR stating, “[w]e just
uploaded our Y1 Report for our Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus Emergence
award (1R0O1AI110964-01). I wanted to send you a copy of the report as well.”?*!

2) On May 13, 2016, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 2 RPPR stating, “I just
wanted to let you know that we submitted our Year 2 Report yesterday (attached as

pdf).”252

248 Research Performance Progress Report (RPPR), NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH (last updated Nov. 2, 2022) (last
accessed Apr. 24, 2024).

249 Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus Emergence, RPPR (Aug. 3, 2021).

250 Letter from Lawrence Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Hon. James Comer,
Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & Reform (Oct. 20, 2021).

231 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer,
Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, ef al. (May 1, 2015) (On file with Select
Subcomm. Staff).

252 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer,
Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, ef al. (May 13, 2016) (On file with Select
Subcomm. Staff).
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3) On April 25, 2018, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 4 RPPR stating, “I just
wanted to send you a pdf of our Year 4 Report which I submitted last week.”?>

When asked why he did not continue this pattern for the Year 5 Report, Dr. Daszak testified
that he “wish[ed]” he did email the Year 5 Report to the NIH grants office but did not.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 13, 2023)

Q. Okay. And I think we had seen in, I think at least 1 year prior, maybe
year 4, a practice of submitting the annual report through the
Commons system —

Yeah.

-- of course the way that it's submitted?

Yeah.

And then separately from that, emailing it over to your grants office?

Yeah. [ remember doing that a couple of times, yeah.

Did that happen here?

SR S S

No, unfortunately. I wish I'd done that. I didn't do it. You know, it's
unfortunate.?>*

Dr. Stemmy was the NIAID official responsible for tracking and ensuring EcoHealth’s
progress reports were submitted on time. According to Dr. Stemmy, Dr. Daszak did not send an
e-mail with the Year 5 Report until Dr. Daszak officially submitted it August 3, 2021.

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023)

Q. So this is minority exhibit G. It is the year 4 progress report along
with the sort of cover email from Dr. Daszak to you in April 25th,
2018. So we have this email attaching the year 4 report where he's
going outside of the eRA Commons system to sort of personally
hand you a copy of what he's up to. They had the big success with
SADS and some other notable events.

Did he do this for year 5?

253 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, et. al., Ph.D., Program
Officer, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Apr. 25, 2018) (On file with Select
Subcomm. Staff).

254 Transcribed Interview of Peter Daszak, Ph.D., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance Inc. (Nov. 14, 2023) (hereinafter
“Daszak TI”).
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A. I believe he sent me an email in -- contemporaneous with when he
submitted the progress report in 2021, I believe that August, right?
Is that when that one came in? So I believe he copied me on a

message then, but not around the time that it would have been
due.?*

Dr. Daszak also testified that “the information from the Year 5 Report was in the
resubmitted - - [year 6 competitive] renewal submission, in the first part of that renewal
submission.”23

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. Could I ask —
A. But -- yeah, go ahead, go ahead.

Q. Could I ask why not, in other words, it seems as if there was a
knowledge that you can always just attach the PDF to the email and
send it over to Erik Stemmy.

A. Yeah.

Q. We're struggling, I think, a little bit to understand why that would
not have occurred here.

A. Well, you know, one, it's me second-guessing my decisions 4 years
ago, but one reason why there's less concern is, the information from
the year 5 report was in the resubmitted -- the renewal submission,
in the first part of that renewal submission. We had information of
relevance to the work we were doing in China in that submission.
So Erik Stemmy, the program officer, had seen that, without a doubt.
That was part of his job to read that proposal.?’

This sentiment was reiterated by multiple witnesses throughout the inquiry. However,
after a review of the Year 6 competitive renewal, the Select Subcommittee does not believe the
experiment in question in the Year 5 Report was in the renewal application. Regardless, simply
because there is a renewal application, does not exempt EcoHealth from following the terms of
its grant and submitting its Year 5 Report on time. As multiple NIH witnesses testified, the Year 5
Report is still due on time regardless of the competitive renewal application.

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023)

255 Stemmy TI, supra note 260, at 142.
2% Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 52.
257 Id.

Page 70 of 520




Q. If a grant is suspended or terminated, does the prime awardee
still have to complete the requirements under the grant --
administrative requirements?

HHS Counsel. If you know.

A. So my understanding is that this was a unique
situation. I do recall that, when they came up for their
first annual progress report, I believe the, they
reached out to grants management to ask what they
should submit. So I believe they still have to submit
something, but, in essence, it was a paper that said,
"This grant is terminated," and no action has been
undertaken.

Q. No. I'm saying -- so the grant that was suspended was
the renewal, the type 2, right? But they hadn't
completed all the requirements on the type 1 prior to
having the funding for the type 2.

A. Correct.

Q. If the type 2 is suspended, does it just waive their
requirements to complete the type 1?

A. No.>*

As an excuse for why EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report was late, Dr. Daszak testified that he
attempted to submit it but was “locked out” by the NIH system.

Dr. Peter Daszak (May 1, 2024)

Q. Right. ’'m sorry. September 28, 2019?

A. Yes.

Q. Perfect. Thank you. But it is also true that you did not submit this
report until August 2021, nearly 2 years later, as my colleague just
represented.

A. Well—

Q. You did not submit the report at the end of September 2019?

258 Transcribed Interview of Erik Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases,
Nat’l Insts. of Health, at 140-141 (Nov. 13, 2023) [hereinafter “Stemmy TI].

Page 71 of 520




A.
out...

We uploaded the report into the system. The system locked us

259

This testimony does not stand up to further scrutiny. Dr. Lauer and NIH conducted a
forensic audit across their systems to attempt to confirm Dr. Daszak’s claim, however, NIH could

not verify the claim.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q.

Okay. Oh, I meant to -- I had one other question on this late year-
five report. You said earlier to somebody's questioning today that
you were not convinced that EcoHealth -- EcoHealth sent a product.
They had a submission. They were trying to submit it in July 2019,
and they experienced a lockout. They were locked out of the eRA
Commons system, and they weren't able to do it. Now, you said you
were not convinced. So could you explain why you were of that
view?

Yeah. So our office did an electronic forensic investigation of
EcoHealth's encounters with our grant system, and that included
both looking at activity logs. Every time that anyone interacts with
our system, there is an activity log that describes when they came
in, who came in, what actually happened. And it also involved our
help desk ticket. So we have a help desk. And so whenever
somebody calls in and says, "I am having problems with the
system," that encounter that they have with our staff is recorded. We
never found any evidence that they had been locked out of our
system. We did see that on one day somebody from EcoHealth had
attempted to log in through one -- you can log into our system in
multiple different ways. And they had attempted to log in in one way
and had entered the wrong password, I think, three times. And so
that particular channel did get blocked. But then, on the very same
day, later they were interacting with our system having logged in
through a different route. And then we looked at the help desk
tickets, we also looked at emails with NIAID staff, and we never
saw any evidence that they claimed that they were unable to submit
their progress report because the eRA system had locked them out.

Okay. And if it had locked them out, weren't there other ways they
could have gotten the report into NIH if they had called somebody?

If they were unable to submit any document because they had been
locked out of the system, then what they would do is they could call

2% A Hearing with the President of EcoHealth Alliance, Dr. Peter Daszak: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. On the

Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong. 2, at 23 (May 1, 2024) [hereinafter “Daszak Hearing”].
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up our help desk, and then our help desk would work with them to
figure out what was going on.?®°

In response to Dr. Lauer’s testimony, Dr. Daszak deflected by stating that both the fact
that Dr. Lauer’s forensic investigation failed to find evidence supporting Dr. Daszak’s claim, and
his underlying claim can both be true.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. So I'm going to show you what's going to be majority exhibit No. 5.
This is an excerpt of a transcribed interview with Dr. Lauer that the
committees took earlier this month. So we asked Dr. Lauer what, as
part of his compliance review of the grant, what steps he did to look
into this lockout issue...So we plan to ask for that, the results of that
forensic audit. But, again, wanted to get your impression as to how
correct that is.

A. It's absolutely possible. What Dr. Lauer says there is true and what
I'm saying to you is true. It can be true that there is, as he states,
there's no evidence of us contacting the help desk and getting a help
desk ticket because we maybe didn't do that. We contacted the grants
officer. It can also be true that Dr. Lauer doesn't have any evidence
that we'd been locked out of the system and that we were locked out
of the system. Just because he can't find evidence of that doesn't
mean it's not true. We were locked out of the system. Not only were
we locked out of the system then, when Dr. Lauer wrote to us
demanding that we immediately send the year 5 report and upload it
into the system, NIH couldn't get the system to work for 11 days.
We have it on record. And that's how we did keep email. So look,
Dr. Lauer is a very senior manager at NIH. I'm sure that it's logical
to him that someone would go to the help desk. But we had a direct
point of contact in charge of grants management who never
responded to us by phone. All we can do is try. And if NIH was
unable to, even when they demanded the report 2 years later, they
were unable to unlock the system for a number of days, it was clearly
locked.

Q. Sure. I'm just giving you the opportunity to comment on his [sic].
And we don't have the forensic audit so we don't have a firm idea of
the scope.

A. Well, if the forensic audit tests whether we got a help desk ticket or
assesses whether we tried to log into a system or assesses whether
we sent an email, then maybe the forensic audit won't find that. But

260 Transcribed Interview of Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir., Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, at 102-103
(Nov. 2, 2023) [hereinafter “Lauer TI”].
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we tried to upload that report. We even tried when NIH told us 2
years later immediately send it and we weren't able to. The system
locked us out. It's a fact.

You said that you had emailed your point of contact at NIAID or
NIH to try to rectify the situation, right?

My admin staff called the point of contact.
Called?

I believe so, yeah. I think they emailed her, received no response,
called.

Because Dr. Lauer also testified that during the course of this audit
they looked at emails with NIAID staff and still never saw any
evidence that EcoHealth claimed you were unable to submit a
progress report because the eRA system had locked them out?

Well, again, like I said, they may find no email evidence, but we did
try to submit the report. It did lock us out. I mean, you can't get much
more clearer than when NIH specifically instructed us to upload it
immediately, 2-1/2 years later, in a matter of urgency, where they
knew all about it and were waiting for it, they still couldn't get the
system to unlock. Clearly that system needs to be fixed.?®!

The forensic analysis of the NIH reporting system concluded “[t]he user was never
locked out of the system.”?6? Further, the analysis determined that EcoHealth accessed the
reporting system at least once a day for 72 days between July 24, 2019 and July 27, 2021.2%° The
analysis stated, “[e]ach of those times accessing Commons was an opportunity to route the RPPR
so it could be submitted to NIH.”2% In summary, EcoHealth could have chosen to submit its Year

5 RPPR and chose not to.%

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

261 Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 139-141.

262 RPPR Related Activities for RO1AT110964-05 and Other Actions Performed, NAT’L INSTITUTES OF HEALTH (on

file with Select Subcomm. Staff).
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RPPR related activities for R01AI110964-05 and other actions performed
The user was never locked out of the system;
1. eRA logs show that there was activity by Pl and SO from the organization.

2. Pl has a proven history of familiarity with and usage of eRA Commons, having initiated and routed 7 RPPRs during
years 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2021.

3. Pl Initiated the Interim RPPR through the link provided on 07/24/2019 but he did not route it to the SO.
The day before the I-RRPR was routed by the PI to the SO (07/26/2021), the Pl linked his account to Login.gov.

Then on 07/27/2021 he unsuccessfully attempted to change his eRA Commons password, and the password'was
locked.

6. He continues accessing eRA using Login.gov
Details:
Interim RPPR for Year 5
¢ RO01AI110964-05 went into the systematic Closeout Process at the end of the project period.

« 06/04/2019 first email regarding documents needed for closeout was sent to-the Pl the SO and the Closeout email
identified by the organization in their Commons Institutional Profile.

e (7/19/2019 grant was removed from closeout and the Interim RPPR ink became available systematically to both
the PI and all SOs of the organization.

e 07/24/2019 - PI Initiated the Interim RPPR through the link provided:

o (05/26/2020 - Pl accessed this Interim RPPR to upload a decument’and to enter data.
« 07/27/2021 - Pl routed this Interim RPPR to SO.

e (08/02/2021 - SO uploaded documents for this Interim RPPR.

e 08/03/2021 - SO submitted this Interim RPPR to NIH:

From 7/19/2019 to 8/3/2021 the Interim RPPR.link-was available to access in both the Pl and SOs Commons Status.
Both the Pl and SO accessed other applications and grants via their Commons Status, including but not limited to Just-
In-Time actions and Application viewing.

During the timeframe after Pl initiated.the Interim RPPR through routing to the SO (07/24/2019 - 07/27/2021), the PI
successfully logged into and was active in eRA systems (Commons, Commons Status, Assist) a total of 72 days. Each
of those times accessing Commons was an opportunity to route the RPPR so it could be submitted to NIH.

+ 12 more days in 2019 (07/25/2019, 0B/05/2019, 08/16/2019, 09/10/2019, 10/02/2019, 11/08/2019, 11/18/2019,
11/21/2019, 11/2272019,'12/03/20189, 12/05/2019, 12/06/2019)

+ 38 days in 2020 (01/24/2020, 01/28/2020, 01/29/2020, 01/30/2020, 02/20/2020, 02/21/2020, 05/08/2020,
05/15/2020, 05/25/2020, 05/26/2020, 06/01/2020, 06/02/2020, 06/09/2020, 06/11/2020, 07/03/2020, 07/07/2020,
07/11/2020,.07/15/2020, 07/28/2020, 08/07/2020, 08/10/2020, 08/13/2020, 08/20/2020, 09/16/2020, 09/17/2020,
09/23/2020,/09/28/2020, 09/30/2020, 10/05/2020, 11/06/2020, 11/11/2020, 11/16/2020, 11/27/2020, 11/19/2020,
12/01/2020, 12/14/2020, 12/19/2020, 12/21/2020)

e 22(days in 2021 (03/10/2021, 03/156/2021, 03/22/2021, 03/23/2021, 03/24/2021, 03/25/2021, 03/29/2021,
03/30/2021, 03/31/2021, 04/08/2021, 04/09/2021, 04/25/2021, 05/19/2021, 05/21/2021, 05/24/2021, 06/08/2021,
06/09/2021, 06/10/2021, 06/11/2021, 06/15/2021, 07/26/2021, 07/27/2021)

Pl Account details regarding "locked account”
o (07/26/2021 Pl mapped their Commons account to Login.gov.

o 07/27/2021 Pl was logged in with their Commons account to route the Interim RPPR to the SO and entered invalid
credentials 5 times to lock their Commons password. However, before the password was locked, the Pl had
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already successfully logged in, was using multiple browser windows (logs show same IP and browser) and was
able to continue working in another active browser window.

o (07/28/2021 - Pl logged into Commons using Login.gov and logs show continued activity through present day.

“Regenerated” Annual RPPR

» 09/16/2020 - Signing Official contacted the eRA service desk about filling out the Inclusion Enroliment data. During
that call, the eRA service desk agent inadvertently regenerated the RPPR, which caused the date and list of

publications to be updated.

+ Grant Folder: the Annual RPPR in the eAppls section reflects the regenerated RPPR and the original RPPR is
included in the eAdditions section.

Dr. Daszak, himself, publicly and via e-mail appeared to contradict his own claims that
he was “locked out” from submitting the Year 5 Report on time. On October 1, 2021, Dr. Daszak
wrote in an email regarding the late Year 5 Report, “[f]or your interest, here’s the truth behind the
mystery: We got our report ready to file for yr5 of the grant, but when it was re-funded we
assumed we didn’t need to...eventually NIH wrote to us and told us to file, so we did.”?°

Date: Fri, 1 0cl2021 3:.02:44 PM -0400
Sent: Fri, 1 Oct2021 3:02:20 PM -0400

Subject: Biggest non-story yet
To: David Morens keuschF Roberts, Rich Robert
) Kessler ; Aleksel Chmura

Attachments: image001.jpg; image002.jpg; image003.jpg; image004.jpg; image005.jpgy; imagel06.jpy

It Iwasn’t sosick of being pilloried in the press, I would find thisone amusing! These investigative reporters have found out in
our pile of foia’d docs that we were late submitting a report to NIH, and managed to turn it into an innuendao filled hit job. Just

awful. ..

hitps:/iheintercept.com/202 1/10/01/nib- bat-coronavirus- grant-2cohealth-alliance/

For your interest, here’s the truth behind this mystery: We got our report ready to file for yr 5 of the grant, but when it was re-
funded we assumed we didn’t need (o, It was the first time we’d had a renewal. We then had our grant terminated by Trump and
assumed we definitely wouldn’t need to at that point. Eventually NTH wrote to us and told us to file, so we did.

Meanwhile, I can’t believe that people like Larry Gostin are willing to be quoted in this sort of crap. I used to think he did good
work, buthe's repeatedly spoken out over the last few months to support Tedros and whine about our ‘lack of ransparency’.

Furthermore, on September 24, 2024, EcoHealth published a document [hereinafter
“EcoHealth’s document] that included more information regarding the Year 5 Report
submission.?®” This document did not support Dr. Daszak’s testimony that he was “locked out”
of the NIH reporting system. In fact, this document directly contradicts Dr. Daszak’s sworn

testimony.

266 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor,

Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectios Diseases, et al., (Oct. 1, 2021, 3:02 PM).
267 EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., EcoHealth Alliance Corrects the Record (Sept. 24, 2024).
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1) On page one, EcoHealth’s document stated, “[e]vidence shows that EcoHealth Alliance
made substantial efforts to upload its Year 5 Report, but was stymied by confusing
instructions, and an NIH reporting system that had a history of substantial glitches and

eITors 99268

2) On page two, EcoHealth’s document stated, “[w]e provide public records of other
organizations and scientists that have been locked out from submission to eRA
Commons, or had difficulties uploading reports.”?%

3) On page nine, EcoHealth’s document stated, “...a lack of clarification and the subsequent
renewal grant award without any further request for the Year 5 report led EcoHealth to its
mistaken impression that the Year 5 report was not required by NIH for its work to be in
compliance.”?”°

4) On page 19, EcoHealth’s document included an email from NIH that informs EcoHealth,
“[a]s reflected in the terms and conditions in the Notice of Award, NIH grant closeout
policy requires the submission of three final reports no later than 120 calendar days after
the termination of the grant. The following documents must be submitted no later than
09/28/2019.”271

In fact, nowhere in the 139-page document does it state EcoHealth, itself, was locked out
from submitting its Year 5 Report on time. None of the above statements support Dr. Daszak’s
testimony that EcoHealth was locked out or otherwise prevented from submitting its Year 5
Report.

Dr. Daszak also testified that, once NIH formally requested the late Year 5 Report, NIH
could not open the system for 11 days.

Dr. Peter Daszak (November 14, 2023)

A. We were locked out of the system. Not only were we locked out of
the system then, when Dr. Lauer wrote to us demanding that we
immediately send the year 5 report and upload it into the system,
NIH couldn’t get the system to work for 11 days. We have it on
record...?’?

A. Again we went online, and it was locked out. And we contacted
NIH, and then it took something like 11 days to open up that system
to allow us to submit...?"3

268 1d. at 1.

29 Id. at 2.

270 Id. at 9.

21 Id. at 19.

272 Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 140.
273 Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 197.
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Dr. Peter Daszak (May 1, 2024)

A. But let me explain, please I if I can. NIH told us 2 years later to
submit that report. It took NIH 11 days to unlock the system—so
any assertion that the system was not locked are demonstrably
false—11 days...?’*

Dr. Daszak’s testimony is directly contradicted by NIH.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. Thank you. When EcoHealth eventually submitted its year-5 report,
Dr. Daszak testified it took 11 days to unlock the NIH system. Is this
true?

A. We have no evidence of that.?””

The fact is that Dr. Daszak was able to submit the Year 5 Report on time and he simply
chose not to. This is supported by both the NIH’s internal forensic analysis and Dr. Daszak’s own
statements.

FINDING: EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. Failed to Timely Report a Dangerous Experiment to the
U.S. National Institutes of Health.

EcoHealth was required to “monitor the activities of the subrecipient as necessary to
ensure that the subaward is used for authorized purposes, in compliance with Federal statutes,
regulations, and the terms and conditions of the subaward . . .”?7® As stated in the Notice of
Award, “[a]cceptance of this award including the ‘Terms and Conditions’ is acknowledged by the
grantee when funds are drawn down or otherwise obtained from the grant payment system.”?”’
Even grantees that function as pass-through entities must monitor the activities of subrecipients,
including foreign subrecipients, to ensure that subawards are used for authorized purposes in
compliance with relevant laws and the terms and conditions of the subaward.?”®

This was particularly true when NIAID identified possible gain-of-function research
concerns in an experiment proposed by EcoHealth and to be conducted by the WIV. In a July 7,
2016 letter to EcoHealth, as a grantee undertaking potentially dangerous gain-of-function
experiments, NIAID officials advised:

NIAID acknowledges that if any of the MERS-like or SARS-like chimeras
generated under this grant show evidence of enhanced virus growth greater

274 Daszak Hearing, supra note 261, at 25.

275 Tabak Hearing, supra note 248, at 8.

276 45 C.ER. § 75.352(d).

277 NIAID, Notice of Award, EcoHealth Alliance, Grant Number 1R01A1110964-01, Understanding the Risk of Bat
Coronavirus Emergence (May 27, 2014).

278 45 CFR § 75.352.
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than 1 log over the parental backbone strain, Dr. Daszak will immediately
stop all experiments with these viruses and provide the NIAID Program
Officer and Grant Management Specialist, and Wuhan Institute of Virology
Institutional Biosafety Committee, with the relevant data and information
related to these unanticipated outcomes.?”’

This advisement was memorialized in EcoHealth’s Notice of Award.

SECTION IV - Al Special Terms and Conditions — 5R01AI110964-03 REVISED

REVISED AWARD: This Notice of Award Is revised to provide approval for collaboration with the
Wuhan University School of Public Health (CHINA) in accordance with the request submitted

by Aleksel Chmura, Ecohealth Alliance, Inc. on October 6, 2016.
Supersedes previous Notice of Award dated 7/26/2016.

HRERRAEEATATRRATLRR

Mo funds are provided and no funds can be used to support gain-of-function researeb/coveiad
under the October 17, 2014 White House Announcement (NIH Guide Notice NOT-©D-15.0:1).

Per the letter dated July 7, 2016 to Mr. Aleksei Chmura at EcoHealth Alliance~should™any of the
MERS-like or SARS-like chimeras generated under this grant show evidenc&of enhanced virus
growth greater than 1 log over the parental backbone strain you must stop_all expesiments with
these viruses and provide the NIAID Program Officer and Grants Management-3pecialist, and

Wuhan Institute of Virology Institutional Biosafety Committee with the relevant data and
information related to these unanticipated outcomes.

In Dr. Tabak’s October 20, 2021 letter to Mr. Comer, he noted that an experiment

published in EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report exhibited greater than one log growth and should have

been reported to NIAID but was not.

However, out of an abundance of caution and as an additional layer of
oversight, language was included in the terms and conditions of the grant
award to EcoHealth that outlined criteria for a secondary review, such as a
requirement that the grantee report immediately a one log increase in
growth. These measures would prompt a secondary review to determine
whether the research aims should be re-evaluated or new biosafety
measures should be enacted. EcoHealth failed to report this finding right
away, as was required by the terms of the grant.?%

NIH concluded that EcoHealth facilitated an experiment that was published in its Year 5

Report that violated this grant term and was not reported. EcoHealth argued that if an experiment
did violate the one log notification requirement, it was previously reported in its Year 4 Report.

279 Letter from Erik J. Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’] Insts. of

Health to Mr. Aleksei Chmura, Chief of Staff, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (July 7, 2016).

280 Letter from Lawrence A. Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Hon. James Comer,

Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & Reform (Oct. 20, 2021).
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This argument is contested by NIH. Regardless, the grant term required “immediate
notification”, and witness testimony confirms that notification should occur within one or two
business days and that simply adding the experiment to an annual report does not satisfy that
requirement. 8!

As stated, whether the experiment in question occurred during Year 4 or Year 5 is a
matter of dispute between EcoHealth and NIH. After reviewing the experiment, NIH determined
it believed there are two separate experiments.

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023)

Q. ...That all seems, I think, consistent with what you're describing,
which is, at this point, which is after the submission of the year 4
report, neither the NIAID side of things nor it sounds like Dr. Daszak
understood the one log rule to have been previously implicated. In
other words, you all sort of were on the same page that year 4 report
did not show growth greater than one log. Is that right?

A. Yes. That's my best recollection, yes.?*?

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. It says in the fourth paragraph, the first sentence, "The limited
experiment described in the final progress report provided by
EcoHealth Alliance...." Is it your understanding or recollection that
the experiment in year 5 was different from the experiment in year

47
A. That was our conclusion.
Okay.
A. That was our conclusion. Yes.?®3

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. OK. I appreciate that clarification. So, going back to that, whether it
was conducted in Year 4 or 5 of that grant, what is NIH’s
determination? Did it occur in Year 4 or 5?

281 Stemmy TI, supra note 260, at 73-743; Transcribed Interview of Emily Erbelding, M.D., M.P.H., Dir., Division
of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, at 102-103 (Nov. 28, 2023)
[hereinafter “Erbelding TI].

282 Stemmy TI, supra note 260, at 106.

283 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 81.
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A. It was our evaluation that it occurred in Year 5, but because of the
uncertainty, we asked for the original metadata, that is the electronic
records, and the actual lab notebooks, that would have memorialized
the actual events. And as you know, we never received those.

Further, Dr. Baric testified that he believed this to be two separate experiments and
should have been reported to NIAID.

Dr. Ralph Baric (Jan. 22, 2024)

Q. Dr. Baric, you've read the year 5 paragraph now, the in vivo
infection where five of the seven mice infected with just the WIV1
backbone survived, but only two of the eight mice infected with
the WIV1 SHCO14.

A. You should be able to do the statistics on that, and it should show
that there's a statistical difference, which means there was an
increase in virulence and the entire review process would have
been triggered.

So that's --
A. I think, if you did the statistics on those numbers.

Q. That's my question, is that this wouldn't have triggered P3 because
it's not a human virus.

A. It doesn't matter whether it triggered P3 or not. It triggered the
regulation that they agreed to in the document to follow.?%*

To support Dr. Daszak’s claim that the Year 4 and 5 experiments were the same, he called
Dr. Shi who assured him.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. This is 2021. We've had a year of all this controversy. We've had
the grant canceled. We've had President Trump making his
statements, Senator Cotton making his statements. And you just
have this -- you have like a standing -- maybe not a standing call,
but a call with the WIV, and you ask them, "One experiment or
two?" "One." "I thought so. It seems like that was the case." And
there was no further follow-up?

284 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 181-182.
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| A.  Correct.?®

On Oct 23, 2021, at 00:56, Peter Daszak _mte:

Just wanted to give you some very good news from China just now.

Wwe’ve checked with Wuhan and they only did the one experiment on humanized mice. It was done during year 4
of our grant and we reported initial results from this as soon as we received them back in 2019. They didn’t do viral
titers, just genome copies, and we reported lung tissue data and weight loss data. The figure in the year 5 report
(filed in 2021 due to grant termination etc) is from the same experiment — it’s simply the follow-up histopath and
survival data from that same group of mice —all done under BSL3, and all permitted by NIH. Isuspected as much
today hecause the pattern is the same for all outcomes: Genome copies per gram in lung and brain, weight loss and
survival all increase more rapidly in the chimera SHC014, but level off to insignificant differences by the end of
the experiment.

This is good news because it means NIH’s assumption that we failed to comply with timely reporting is dead
wrong, and we can push back directly to Michael Lauer in our letter about both the timing of our reporting, and
about the substance of it on that issue of titers vs. genome copies, and the fact that all variables had equalized by
Day 6-8 of the expt.

Breathing a slight sigh of relief here. We’ll still be pilloried in the press until this new information comes out, but it
gives us a chance for strong but diplomatic pushback that can then be shared with reporters at some point next
week...

occurred, did result in a chimeric virus that grew more than one log faster.

Dr. Daszak also confirmed that the experiment in question, regardless of when it
286

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

285 Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 146.
286 E_Mail from Dr. Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance Inc., to David Morens, M.D., Senior
Advisor, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases (Oct. 20, 2021, 8:14 PM).
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Date: Wed, 20 Oct 2021 8:14:29 PM -0400
Sent: Wed, 20 Oct 2021 8:13:08 PM -0400
Subject: NIH is now accusing me publicly of not following GoF rules; Republicans are saying we lied to NIH

From: Peter Daszak

To: Keusch, Gerald T

cc piksei comura

NIH_NOA_SR01AI110964-03.PDF; NIH letter to James Comer Oct 20th 2021 fif; NIH letter to James
Attachments: Comer Oct 20th 2021 2nd page ffif; Year 4 NIAID CoV Repart.pdf; To EcoHealth 10 13 21 R0O1A1110964 10
20 21.pdf

I need some help and advice here, and it’s complicated.

In year 3 of our NIAID grant, we were given the go-ahead to conduct experiments with chimeric viruses based on SARSr and
MERST backbones, but with a proviso that:

“Per the letter dated July 7, 2016 to Mr. Aleksei Chmura at EcoHealth Alliance, should any of the

MERS-like or SARS-like chimeras generated under this grant show evidence of enhanced virus

growth greater than 1 log over the parental backbone strain you must stop all experiments with

these viruses and provide the NIAID Program Officer and Grants Management Specialist, and

Wuhan Institute of Virology Institutional Biosafety Committee with the relevant data and

information related to these unanticipated outcomes.”

That text is in the NoA pdf attached NIH-NOA_5401A1110964-03.PDF

We asked WIV for a report on the year’s work during year 4, and put a graph of an experiment they did where one of the chimeric
viruses did grow a more than 1 log faster, but by day 4, the parental strain had leveled this out. We heard about this after the fact,
and reported it in our end-of-year report. No one said anything about it at NIH until now.

NIH was FolA’d for all documents on our original China grant, including this, and a Congressional member James Comer has
asked them to explain, I think. NTH have now responded to him (and he’s made the letter public) - see two image files “NIH letter
to James Comer Oct 20 20217, These are from Lawrence Tabak, and they state that we “failed to report this finding right away,
as was required”. They’ve now written to us with 5 days notice to send them the IACUC and all unpublished data. They state this
in the letter to James Comer as a way of saying they’re calling us to task, but it seems like nothing to do with the experiments
anyway.

My problem is that James Comer is now saying EcoHealth hid GoF work from NIH.

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak
President

EcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
usa

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474
Website: www.ecchealthalliance.org
Twitter: (@ PeterDaszak
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Dr. Tabak testified that simply calling Dr. Shi to “verify” when the experiment occurred
is not sufficient and that production of the underlying data and lab notebooks was necessary and
required.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. Thank you. Dr. Daszak wrote in an email that he “verified” this
experiment by calling Dr. Shi at the Wuhan Institute of Virology and
asking her. Is that alone sufficient to meet his requirement to oversee
subgrantees?

A. It is not, sir, which is why we asked to see the metadata, electronic
records, and the laboratory notebook.

Q. [Would] the lab notebooks that Dr. Daszak failed to produce,
provide information that may potentially validate this experiment?

A. I certainly hoped they would, yes.?*’

Without verifiable evidence—such as what may be in the NIH requested laboratory
notebooks that Dr. Daszak has failed to provide—Dr. Daszak’s claim lacks credibility.

FINDING: EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. Failed to Provide National Institutes of Health with
Research the U.S. Taxpayer Funded.

On November 5, 2021, Dr. Lauer requested Dr. Daszak produce “original laboratory
notebook entries” to verify certain experiments and determine if those experiments violated
EcoHealth’s grant terms and conditions—specifically the condition requiring notification to NIH
of any experiment that exhibits excessive growth.?*®

Dr. Daszak testified that he was not required to have access to or produce the underlying
original lab notebooks.

Dr. Peter Daszak (November 14, 2023)

Q. ...Pursuant to these regulations did EcoHealth get the lab notebooks
and the lab electronic files at the time the human mice experiment
were conducted in 2017 to 2018, and reported it in the year 4
progress report?

A. No, we did not. Had we got those reports, we would have submitted
them to NIH when requested].]

287 Tabak Hearing, supra note 248, at 8-9.
288 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Nov. 5, 2021).
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Q. So I guess my question then is, why didn’t you send off the alarm
bells that something wasn’t right, that we weren’t getting the data
that we were contractually obligated to get?

A. No, no, no. We definitely got the data we were contractually
obligated to get, which is the results of the experiments. There is no
contractual obligation at that time that a grantee should get the lab
notebooks. That’s a very different thing].]

It’s in the regulations as part of what you’re operating under.

A. No. I understand your interpretation of regulations, but my
interpretation, our administrative team, at the time, the regulations
were not considered by any organization that you should get all the
lab notebooks. And I want to point out that NIH has now made it a
new rule to get hold lab notebooks to clarify what is clearly not
obvious in the codes and regulations.*®

However, according to witnesses, EcoHealth should have had and was required to have
access to these notebooks.

Dr. Emily Erbelding (Nov 28. 2023)

Q. Thank you. Yes. That's what I was asking. When Dr. Lauer -- he's
asked for the notebooks a couple times. We've already discussed
EcoHealth hasn't produced them. And it is EcoHealth's
responsibility to produce them when requested. Is that correct?

A. [Nonverbal response. ]

You have to give an audible answer.

A. Yes. Oh, I'm sorry. Yes.>

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. And, in your opinion, NIH had the authority to ask for those
notebooks and files?

A. Yes.

289 Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 77-78.
20 Erbelding TI, supra note 281, at 101.
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Q. And, in your opinion, EcoHealth should've had access to those
notebooks and files?

A. Yes.?!

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. So, at the time of the EcoHealth enforcement actions, it would have
been a requirement, if NIH requested lab notebooks, for EcoHealth
to provide them?

A. Yes, it would've been.??

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. Dr. Tabak, when the National Institute[s] of Health requested the
notebooks from EcoHealth, was EcoHealth required to produce
them under its grant’s terms?

A. Yes, they were.

Q. OK. Thank you. When NIH requested notebooks from EcoHealth,
should EcoHealth have been able to access them or already have
access them?

A. That is correct.

Q. OK. Thank you. Did EcoHealth ever produce the requested
notebooks?

A. They have not.
Q. Never did. Thank you. Dr. Daszak testified 2 weeks ago that he was

not required to produce the lab notebooks. Would NIH disagree with
that testimony?

A. Yes, we disagree with that testimony.

On November 18, 2021, Dr. Daszak said that, despite the requirement to do so, he does
not have access to the requested laboratory notebooks. Specifically, Dr. Daszak stated, “[w]e do
not have copies of these, which were created by and retained by the WIV. Nonetheless, I have
forwarded your letter to the WIV, and will let you know their response soon as the WIV replies

21 Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 74.
292 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 100.
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to our request.”?*® It appears Dr. Daszak never explicitly requested the notebooks from the WIV,
but instead simply informed it of the request from NIH.

Letter from NIH

Peter Daszak > Man, Nov 15, 2021 at 6:55 PM
Ta: Zhengli Shi >

Dear Zhengli,

FPlease see the attached letier, There are two questions that NIH have asked me to answer. The first one, on the
permission to work with vertebrate animals (bats in caves etc.), | have the information for and will respond to NIH. The
sacond issue, | will wiite 1o NIH and explain that I've fonvarded it to WIV, because | dont have that information.

On April 26, 2024, NIH followed-up and asked EcoHealth for more information
regarding its efforts to recover the laboratory notebooks.?%*

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

293 Letter from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir.
Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Nov. 18, 2021).

2% Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance Inc. (Apr. 26, 2024).
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Here's the brunt of Lauer’s email:

By the way — we just received a response from Michael Lauer re. the lab notebooks. We voluntarily shared the email
from us to WIV that the SSCP has asked for, that shows we forwarded NIH’s demand for us to get WiIV’s notebooks. As is
typical for Lauer, rather than say ‘thanks’ and move on, he’s come back with further questions and demands, written in
the style of a suspicious NKVD operative under Stalin. He knows these will be foiad at some point, and has written them
in a way that once again implies we're either hiding information or didn’t’ fully comply with their request 2 yrs ago.
They’re also designed to make a point — if we are still communicating with WIV (which we have to if we’re going to
publish papers from our prior work), why aren’t we demanding the notebooks? This, even though NIH has specifically
told us no work in China, and HHS has debarred them from federal funding. It's a massive overreach from NIH and more
like the sort of work a CIA operative would do...

Dear Dr. Chmura,
Thank you for your response. We have some follow-up questions:

. When you (EHA) received no response from W1V, did you follow-up with WIV to confirm receipt of the
email, or did you otherwise follow-up with them after not hearing back?

» Did you communicate with or attempt to communicate with WIV after NIH sent a follow-up letter in
January 2022 (3"attachment)?

o Did you ever explicitly request that WIV send the lab notebooks and electronic files to you? All we see
is that you forwarded the NIH email to WIV and stated, “I will write to NIH and explain that I've forwarded it to
WIV, because | don’t have that information.”

° Were there any other EHA communications with WIV during the period of November 15, 2021, and
February 1, 2022?

Sincerely,
Michael S Lauer, MD

Dr. Daszak’s responses to NIH indicate that the WIV did receive the request for lab
notebooks—but ignored it, EcoHealth did not follow up and re-request the lab notebooks, and
that communications between EcoHealth and the WIV were allegedly “strained.”?*>

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

293 Letter from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance Inc., to Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of
Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Apr. 26, 2024).
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Message

From: Peter Daszak _

Sent: 5/10/2024 1:15:44 PM

To: eff Sturchio
Aleksei Chmura

Subject: What we sent to NiH re. contacting WIV for their lab notebooks

Attachments: EcoHealth Alliance - Letter to NIH re Grant Suspension 8-13-2020 (with Exhibits).pdf; To EcoHealth RO1AI110964 11 5
21 clean.pdf; January 2022 To EcoHealth RO1AI110964 final.pdf; Response to NIH April 2021 re. reactivation and
suspension of 2RO1AI110964.pdf; EHA to WIV Lab Notebook Email (1).pdf; To EHA document request 4 12 24[94].pdf

Importance: High

Re. Jeff’s earlier email. In early April, after the SSCP made public the letter of them asking us for further information we
got an email from Michael Lauer of NIH asking us to share with them everything we were going to send to the SSCP re.
questions about our handing over of the lab notebooks from WIV. There was just one email — me forwarding the letter
to WIV with NIH’s demand for us to acquire their lab notebooks and hand them over. We did contact them ahead of that
and let them know that the email would be coming and what it was about.

Of course, as usual, Lauer came back with more questions, which we carefully answered below, with Jeff's help. | can’t
remember if we ran this by you — there was a lot on and he upped the ante yesterday by emailing again, demanding a
faster response.

Please read what we sent so you're aware. It's all true, and I’'m fairly certain does not provide anyone any evidence of
any willful negligence, violation of CFRs etc. but of course, it’s all about public show and Lauer’s email is written in a
‘breathless’ way designed to imply we're stonewalling.

Final point is that we might get another letter by COB today from Michael Lauer requesting us to provide detailed

information to all the points that the SSCP has asked Tabak. That would put us in a difficult position — tipping our hand to
the people who are willing to throw us under the bus. I'll let you know if one emerges.

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak
President

FcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
USA

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474

FOIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033211
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halliance org

From: Aleksei Chmura
Sent: Thursday, May 9, 2024 12:03 PM
To: Jeff Sturchio
Cc: Peter Daszak
Subject: Fwd: REPLY REQUESTED - Re: Re: Time sensitive document request from NIH

Begin forwarded message:

From: Aleksei Chmura
Subject: REPLY REQUESTED -- Re: Re: Time sensitive document request from NIH
Date: May 9, 2024 at 11:51:07 EDT

To: "Lauer, Michael (NIH/OD) [E]"
Cc: "Liza (NIH/OD) [E] Bundesen™ "Bulls, Michelle G. (NIH/OD) [E]"
"Ta, Kristin (NIH/OD) [E]" Peter Daszak

ison Ancre -

Dr. Lauer,
Thank you for your email of April 26th. We have answered your questions below.

However, first we would like to remind you that in April 2020, you wrote to EcoHealth Alliance with questions
about WIV’s current status on ROl AI110964. We informed you that we did not have an active contract with the
W1V and would not execute one until further instructions from NIH. You then terminated our grant at the
behest of President Trump. You then reinstated and instantly suspended in July 2020 with a number of
conditions that were impossible to address in the middle of a pandemic, and with COVID-19 origins allegations
causing a political storm between the USA and China, specifically around issues related to the WIV. In your
‘reactivation and suspension’ letter of July 2020, you instructed us that “Additionally, during the period of
suspension, EcoHealth Alliance may not allow research under this project to be conducted.” The
communication from NIH to EcoHealth Alliance in November 2021 requesting the WIV lab notebooks was
therefore sent during a time when we had no contractual obligation with the WIV, and when the WIV had been
non-responsive to multiple joumnalist requests on similar issuces, and did not comply with direct requests for
their audits made by Dr. Daszak as part of the WHO mission to Wuhan in January and February 2021 (scc
attached 11 April 2021 letter that Dr. Daszak sent to you detailing the requests that he made to the WIV during
the WHO mission). It’s also important to remember that public reporting prior to our request to WIV included
NIH Director Dr. Collins” comments about NIH wanting to see the lab notebooks
(https://www.cnbec.com/2021/08/23/covid-origin-nih-director-doesnt-rule-out-that-virus-could-have-leaked-
from-lab.html) and there were already stories in the press (e.g.
https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2020/04/14/state-department-cables-warned-safety-issues-wuhan-
lab-studying-bat-corenaviruses/) clearly indicating that the US intelligence agencies were investigating
allegations that WIV was the source of a lab leak that led to COVID-19. Therefore it is not unreasonable to
conclude that any request for WIV’s lab notebooks, whether from a non-profit, or a US agency, would be dealt
with at the highest political levels within China, and given the pattern of prior responses, ignored.

Despite these difficulties, and our lack of a formal business relationship with the WIV, EcoHealth Alliance
made a good faith effort to obtain the lab notebooks. We were, not surprisingly, unsuccessful. This was part of a

FOIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033212
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pattern of non-responsiveness from Chinese institutions on issues of political tension, and in particular on
COVID origins, which culminated in the debarment letters sent by HHS to Wuhan via UPS being ‘returned to
sender’. It is unreasonable, therefore to expect a US-based non-profit to get a response on this issue where a US
government agency was unable to.

Your request then, and your questions now, put our staff in an unfortunate position. We owe a duty to the
American people to get the best value for the taxpayer funding that we used to collect thousands of samples in
China, and for the scientific research we did in collaboration with the WIV. We have therefore continued to
keep the scientific channels with collaborators in China open to the best of our ability, allowing us to analyze
data, finish scientific manuscripts, and upload sequences into the US NIH Genbank database — without any
further expenditure of US taxpayer funds. While communication is difficult, we have been able to do that
successfully and we hope that you agree that securing the data and publishing them in the peer-reviewed
literature is a worthy goal consistent with the objectives of our RO1 grant from the NIH.

We have responded to your questions below, to the best of our ability.
Sincerely,

- Dr. Chmura

Aleksei Chmura, PhD, MBA
Chief of Staff &
Authorized Organizational Representative

EcoHealth Alliance
520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-4182

+1.917.385.5267
www.ecohealthalliance.org

Fooienlth Atfance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promote conservalion.

1. When you (EHA) received no response from WIV, did you follow-up with WIV to confirm receipt of
the email, or did you otherwise follow-up with them after not hearing back?
We were informed that they had received our email. This was communicated to us by phone.

2. Did you communicate with or attempt to communicate with WIV after NIH sent a follow-up letter in
January 2022 (3rd attachment)?

Your letter of January 2022 stated that “We [NIH] are following up to confirm whether you received a response
from WIV and whether the materials are forthcoming.” It also asked that “Upon receipt of this letter, please
confirm whether you have received a response from WIV and whether the materials are forthcoming. If the
materials are forthcoming, we request that they be provided to us no later than close-of-business on January 14,
2022.” We had received no response from the WIV at that time (nor have we since) regarding the lab
notebooks, and informed you of that rapidly. We did not send further communications to the WIV to request the
laboratory notcbooks, since it scemed to us that their lack of a response was a clear indication that our cfforts
would have been futile, and because it was also in keeping with their prior lack of response to media, WHO or
US agency requests, and also that NIH or HHS would have been able to take this up directly with the WIV or
the Chinese Government at a higher level.

FOIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033213
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3. Did you ever explicitly request that WIV send the lab notebooks and electronic files to you? All we see
is that you forwarded the NIH email to WIV and stated, “I will write to NIH and explain that I’ve
forwarded it to WIV, because I don’t have that information.”

Yes, we informed WIV by phone ahead of our email request to make sure they understood the nature of the
letter and what was required of them by NIH. We then sent the letter by email, as we shared with you and the
SSCP. The letter is crystal clear in its request from NIH that WIV supply the lab notebooks (your letter is
attached). Additionally, it is commonsense that WIV were fully aware of the contents of that request — it was
international news at the time.

4. Were there any other EHA communications with WIV during the period of November 15, 2021, and
February 1, 2022?

Communications were extremely strained at that time. Our search of emails reveals none directly related to this
issue — in keeping with our understanding that the WIV were not willing to hand over lab notebooks. The only
other communications represented our staff trying to obtain information to finalize research papers related to
earlier work from RO1 AI110964 and other publication issues.

From: Lauer, Michael (NIH/OD) [E]
Date: Friday. April 26, 2024 at 5:00 A
To: Aleksei Chmura

- - M D) [E] , Bundesen, Liza (NIH/OD) [E]
Bulls, Michelle G. /OD) _ Ta, Kristin (NTH/OD)
©
Subject: Re: Time sensitive document request from NIH

Dear Dr, Chmura,

Thank you for your response. We have some follow-up questions:

1. When you (EHA) received no response from WIV, did you follow-up with WIV to confirm receipt of the
email, or did you otherwise follow-up with them after not hearing back?

2. Did you communicate with or attempt to communicate with WIV after NIH sent a follow-up letterin
January 2022 (3™attachment)?

3. Did you ever explicitly request that WIV send the lab notebooks and electronic files to you? All we see
is that you forwarded the NIH email to WIV and stated, “l will write to NIH and explain that I've forwarded it to
WIV, because | don’t have that information.”

4. Were there any other EHA communications with WIV during the period of November 15, 2021, and
February 1, 20227

Sincerely,
Michael S Lauer, MD

Michael S Lauer, MD

NIH Deputy Director for Extramural Research
Director, NiH Office of Extramural Research

1 Center Drive, Room 144, Bethesda MD 20892

FOIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033214
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From: Alcksei Chmura

Date: Tucsday, April QW
To: Lauer, Michael (NIH/OD) [E]
Peter Daszak Bulls,
L Ta, Kristin (NIH/OD) [E] | Alison

Ce: Bundesen, Liza (NIH/OD) [E
Michelle G. (NIH/OD) [E] ;
Subject: Re: Time sensitive document request from NIH

Dear Dr. Lauer,

The Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic (SSCP) and the Committee on Energy and Commerce
requested item on page 6, a.iii referenced in your letter from the 12th of April, asked for "Documents and
communications regarding EcoHealth’s efforts to obtain WIV laboratory notebooks pursuant to NIH oversight
and compliance efforts”. On the SSCP deadline of the 18th, EcoHealth Alliance provided the following file:

This file is an email in which Ecolealth Alliance conveyed NIH's request for the Wuhan Institute of Virology
laboratory notebooks. EcoHealth Alliance received no response from Wuhan Institute of Virology at the time,
nor has it ever received any response, nor ever seen the requested laboratory notebooks.

Sincerely,

-Dr. Chmura

Aleksei Chmura, PhD, MBA
Chief of Staff &
Authorized Organizational Representative

EcoHealth Alliance
520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-4182

www.ecoheal

EeoMealfth Alflance develops science-based solutions to preveni pandemics and promote conservation.

On Apr 12, 2024, at 16:00, Lauer, Michael (NTH/OD) [E] _ wrote:
Dear Dr. Chmura,

Please see attached.

Many thanks, Mike

Michael S Lauer, MD
NIH Deputy Director for Extramural Research
Director, NIH Office of Extramural Research

1 Center Drive, Room 144, Bethesda MD 20892

FOIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033215
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EcoHealth’s document contended that “[a]t the time of NIH’s request for WIV lab
notebooks from EcoHealth Alliance, there was no specific requirement for NIH grantees to
require foreign subrecipients to provide laboratory notebooks and other raw data.”?%° This
statement is disputed by NIH.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (November 14, 2024)

Q. Okay. Thank you. One final question for you. Dr. Daszak has
routinely said that the regulations did not require that he provide
NIH with lab notebooks from the Wuhan Institute of Virology. Last
year, NIH put out a new rule regarding this issue. So, just to clarify,
when NIH asked for these lab notebooks, was Dr. Daszak required
to produce them?

A. He was indeed.?®’

According to Dr. Daszak’s consultant, Dr. Sturchio, they agreed that pursuant to
regulations “NIH has the right to review original lab notebooks and data, and that EHA would in
the normal course of events be able to obtain these data from the WIV.”?%

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

26 Executive Summary: EcoHealth Alliance responses to recent allegations from the SSCP, ECOHEALTH ALLIANCE,
INC., available at https://www.ecohealthalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/EcoHealth-Alliance-Responses-to-
Questions-from-SSCP.pdf.

297 Preparing for the Next Pandemic, supra note 232, at 20.

298 E-Mail from Jeffrey Sturchio, Ph.D. Consultant, Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance Inc., ef al. (Jan. 17,
2022, 10:40).

Page 94 of 520




Message

From: leffrey Sturchio_

Sent: 1/17/2022 10:40:04 PM

To: Peter Daszak— Keusch, Gerald T _
cC: Aleksei Chmura [chmura@ecohealthalliance.org)

Subject: RE: Draft response to the first of the two letters from NIH

Peter: | think the response is a good draft. Let's spend some time refining and
tightening the argument. On issue 1, the IACUC approval, Lauer continues to move
the goalposts on you. In his initial letter, he asked for the WIV IACUC approval for
field wark, which you quite rightly pointed out is not required by Chinese regulations, so
there is no WIV IACUC approval for field work. He then dings you for non-compliance
for not sending him the information about the Tufts IACUC approval — when it was
available in the NIH system all along. This is at most a misunderstanding, and seems
to me hard to construe as non-compliance with NIH regulations.

Issue 2 is a bit more complicated, as you appreciate, but | think we can boil it down to
the following. Yes, there is CFR language that NIH has the right to review original lab
notebooks and data, and that EHA would in the normal course of events be able to
obtain these data from the WIV. But his pedantic insistence on these rules completely
ignores the context of his request — the NIH unilaterally suspended your relationship
with the W1V for political reasons in April 2020 and thus your usual interactions with
WIV collaborators were abrogated through no fault of EHA’s. Since that decision by
the NIH — due to White House political pressure stemming from the then President’s
fraught relationship with China — the situation surrounding this grant was disrupted in a
unique way. ltis disingenuous, to say the least, for Lauer to now demand that you turn
over WIV’s laboratory notebooks and related data, when the actions of NIH and the
USG have made it impossible for you to maintain the usual kind of relationship with
your Chinese collaborators on which that exchange of data would usually be

based. Under the circumstances, you have taken the appropriate action — asking the
WIV to provide the data, which is under their control. If Lauer feels it is so important to
see the original data, it is unreasonable of him to expect EHA to be able to provide it,
given the political context of this grant; under these circumstances, he should use NIH
intergovernmental channels to gain access to the data. That kind of cooperative
action would be more appropriate than the confrontational approach he is taking.

As ever,
Jeff

In addition to Dr. Daszak arguing that he was not required to provide the laboratory

notebooks to NIH, he also stated “[t]he geopolitical tensions with China regarding COVID-19
made NIH’s requests effectively impossible for EcoHealth Alliance to fulfill.”?*° Despite this

29 Executive Summary: EcoHealth Alliance responses to recent allegations from the SSCP, ECOHEALTH ALLIANCE,
INC., available at https://www.ecohealthalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/EcoHealth-Alliance-Responses-to-
Questions-from-SSCP.pdf.
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claim, Dr. Daszak and Dr. Shi maintained a friendly relationship, even discussing the Select
Subcommittee’s hearings via email.>*

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

300 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Shi Zhengli, Ph.D., Wuhan Institute of Virology
(Apr. 29, 2024, 7:44 AM); E-Mail from Shi Zhengli, Ph.D., Wuhan Institute of Virology, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D.,
EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr 28, 2024, 11:50 PM); E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to
Shi Zhengli, Ph.D., Wuhan Institute of Virology (Apr. 15, 2024, 5:48 AM); E-Mail from Shi Zhengli, Ph.D., Wuhan
Institute of Virology, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr 11, 2024, 10:39 PM);
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From: A IERT [zIshi@wh.iov.cn]

Sent: 4/29/2024 8:37:37 PM

To: Peter Daszak [daszak@ecohealthalliance.org]
CC: Hongying Li [li@ecohealthalliance.org]
Subject: Re: RE: RE: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Importance:  High

Received, thanks.

R A :"Peter Daszak" <daszak@ecohealthalliance.org>
& 3ERTIE]:2024-04-30 01:14:25 (2H D)

ek N "B IEFN" <zlshi@wh.iov.cn>

#3%: "Hongying Li" <li@ecohealthalliance.org>

ZF/i: RE: RE: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Here’s the paper as promised!

Cc’ing Hongying so she can make sure you get the attachment if this one doesn’t work.

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak

President

EcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
USA

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474

Website: www.ecohealthalliance.org

EHA_0003630
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Twitter: @PeterDaszak

EcoHealth Alliance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promote conservation

From: & IE i <zlshi@wh.iov.cn>

Sent: Sunday, April 28,2024 11:50 PM

To: Peter Daszak <daszak@ecohealthalliance.org>
Subject: Re: RE: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Dear Peter, I fully support you! I'll try to connect the hearing and I believe you will beat them down. Shame
those stupid politicians!

& A:"Peter Daszak" <daszak@ecohealthalliance.org>
K IERTE]:2024-04-29 07:44:49 (2H#—)

Ytk A : "BEM" <zlshi@wh.iov.cn>

Pik:

FE&B: RE: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Thanks for your positive message that | just noticed Zhengli. Yes, it's pretty horrible that it’s now 4 years and 4 days
since President Trump canceled out grant, and we’re still being attacked. In these past 4 years, we’ve had over 100
Freedom-of-Information-Act requests, where people go through your emails and make them public in nasty news
articles. We've had 8 lawsuits trying to claim we caused COVID and people’s deaths. We've had multiple Government
committees doing ‘investigations’, as well as the OIG for the HHS (NIH) and USAID. We estimate we’ve produced
around 15 million pages of emails/documents/financial data for these investigations.

Worse still, we’re still being harassed by Michael Lauer, the person at NIH who attacked Chinese Americans, many of
whom had innocent connections to China but had to lose their jobs https://www.science.org/content/article/pall-
suspicion-nihs-secretive-china-initiative-destroyed-scores-academic-careers. He's effectively preventing EcoHealth
from working internationally and on animal research. We’ve had over 50 official letters from NIH and all of them ask us
to do more work and produce more detailed documents, but still they’re holding us back. | hope it will end soon.

Here is a link to the public hearing on May 1%t 10am Washington DC time (10pm your time | think). It’s worth listening
to my opening statement that will be in the first hour, where I'll give a summary of how important our work is, and
how wrong these ‘rumors’ are...

WHAT: Hearing titled “A Hearing with the President of EcoHealth Alliance, Dr. Peter Daszak”
DATE: Wednesday, May 1, 2024

TIME: 10:00AM ET

LOCATION: 2154 Rayburn House Office Building

WITNESS:

EHA_0003631
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Dr. Peter Daszak
President
EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.

WATCH: The hearing will be open to the public and press and will be livestreamed online
at https://oversight.house.gov/hearing/a-hearing-with-the-president-of-ecohealth-alliance-dr-peter-daszak/.

By the way — I'll be sending you the SADS-CoV paper back with comments befor the end of your Monday — apologies
for the delay!

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak

President

EcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
USA

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474
Website: www.ecohealthalliance.org

Twitter: @PeterDaszak

EcoHealth Alliance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promote conservation

From: 5 IEfi <zlshi@wh.iov.cn>

Sent: Sunday, April 14, 2024 8:57 PM

To: Peter Daszak <daszak@ecohealthalliance.org>
Subject: Re: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Importance: High

Dear Peter,

EHA_0003632
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It's a shame those peoples called them as "experts" of CIVID-19 origin investigation. I've read the letter to you from the
Congressional Committee. It's incredible this happed in USA, a so called "most developed and democratic" country. I believe your a
public hearing with the Congressional Committee will be good opportunity to show our invaluable contribution to EID research
field. I'm staying together with you!

Best regards,
Zhengli,

& A:"Peter Daszak" <daszak@ecohealthalliance.org>
R EMTE):2024-04-15 05:48:30 (2H—)

YA "BEM" <zlshi@wh.iov.cn>

#3%: "Hongying Li" <li@ecohealthalliance.org>

FE & RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Hi Zhengli — great to see the manuscript and | would be honored to be involved as a co-author.

Give me a couple of weeks to make some comments. | hope it doesn’t clash at all with the other paper which is in
review at PNAS right now (I've attached that manuscript to remind you). |think it should be fine — there are many
differences between the two papers, and | will read through and edit before the 28" of April.

You’re right that | have to be in a public hearing with the Congressional Committee that is attacking us about COVID
origins. It is on May 1%, and it will be very unpleasant, but | have no choice. My main goal will be to try to let people
know the simple truth about our work and try to reduce the damage from these attacks.

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak

President

EHA_0003633
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EcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
USA

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474
Website: www.ecohealthalliance.org

Twitter: @PeterDaszak

EcoHealth Alliance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promote conservation

From: A IEfi <zlshi@wh.iov.cn>

Sent: Thursday, April 11, 2024 10:39 PM

To: Peter Daszak <daszak@ecohealthalliance.org>
Subject: SADS-CoV analysis

Dear Peter,

We have completed the sequences of SADS-related CoV (or HKU2-CoV) and wrote the preliminary manuscript. I would like to
invite you as a coauthor for this paper. I've not yet edited the paper and I'm sending it to you for your review at your available time.
I would also like to suggest to combine the recently submitted one: "Diversity and spillover risk of Swine Acute Diarrhea
Syndrome and related coronaviruses in China and Southeast Asia". Please let me know what do you think.

For the SARS-related CoV paper, have you had the time for the final check?

I heard that you will be in the congressional hearing in May, Is that true?

Best regards,
Zhengli,

EHA_0003634
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FINDING: To Get a Grant Reinstated, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc Misled the U.S. National
Institutes of Health Regarding the Physical Location of U.S. Funded Samples.

It is NIH policy to make every possible attempt to return grantees to compliant status.
However, in the case of EcoHealth, NIH turned a blind eye to potential issues with the
reinstatement of this grant. Evidence gathered by the Select Subcommittee suggests that Dr.
Daszak omitted a material fact during the grant reinstatement process—a fact that may have
changed whether EcoHealth’s grant was reinstated or not.

On April 26, 2023, NIAID reinstated EcoHealth’s grant.**! On May 8, 2023, EcoHealth
publicly announced this reinstatement.??> In NIH’s notification to Congress, it stated that
EcoHealth had been organizing and implementing a corrective action plan to satisfy NIH’s
compliance efforts.>*> NIH’s goal during compliance investigations is to bring the grantee back
into compliance and to design a corrective action plan to support that outcome.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2. 2023)

So, again, our philosophy -- and it's not just a philosophy; it's what's
grounded in the uniform guidance regulations -- is that, when a recipient is
out of compliance, the goal is to bring them back into compliance. And we
can do that, as I said, through a variety of means -- through revising terms
and conditions of award, through specific award conditions, through a
corrective action plan. Because, ultimately, what we want is we want the
recipient to be successful and we want them to be compliant with terms and
conditions.3%

However, in the case of EcoHealth, one of the required conditions could not be remedied.
NIH requested EcoHealth provide laboratory notebooks to establish what gain-of-function
experiments involving coronaviruses were conducted with U.S. taxpayer dollars at the WIV.
EcoHealth failed to provide these notebooks. "’

e However, NIH also identified one non-compliance requirement under the grant
RO1ATI110964 (R0O1) that could not be remedied with SACs. NIH had requested EHA
provide NIH the laboratory notebooks and original electronie files from the research
conducted at WIV. Since EHA failed to provide these records and WIV was unable to
fulfill its duties for the subaward. NIH notified EHA on August 19, 2022, that it would be
terminating the WIV subaward for failure to meet aiward terms and conditions.

301 See, Grant Summary, RO1AI110964, USASpending (last accessed Apr. 24, 2024).

302 EcoHealth Alliance Receives NIH Renewal Grant for Collaborative Research to Understand the Risk of Bat
Coronavirus Spillover Emergence, ECOHEALTH ALLIANCE, INC. (May 8, 2023).

303 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Hon. Brad
Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, H. Comm. on Oversight & Accountability
(Apr. 26, 2023).

304 Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 80.

305 Lauer Letter, supra note 303.
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In a notification to EcoHealth sent on the same day, NIH wrote, “[t]he award
ROTAI110964 beginning on April 19, 2020, remains suspended pending the renegotiation of
specific aims for the award without the involvement of the Wuhan Institute of Virology.”** The
Select Subcommittee proceeded to gather evidence regarding the rationale for the renewal. One
of the primary reasons for reinstating the grant to EcoHealth was its alleged access to sequences
and samples previously paid for by the federal government and not yet analyzed.

Dr. Emily Erbelding (Nov. 28, 2023)

Q. And then I want to somewhat briefly parse out a little bit more on
the samples. So you referenced earlier you and Dr. Lauer provided
a briefing to a number of committees over the summer on the
EcoHealth Alliance reinstatement. And one of the reasons given for
reinstating the grant were that there were these bat samples collected
from China and Southeast Asia with funding that still needed to be
tested or sequenced, or I forget the exact language that was used.

Is that correct?

A. Is it correct that I said that to the committee —

Q. Yes.

A. -- or --

Q. Is that your understanding of the grant, the reason for the grant
reinstatement?

A. That was part of the reason, yes, that we wanted to get the most out

of existing sequences from prior work. We wanted to get the most
out of prior work.

What were the other rationales?

A. Well, that they could address a scientific priority of NIAID in
understanding how pandemics occur. I think that it would be -- that
they had been scientifically productive in the past. That was another
part of the rationale for reinstatement.

Q. If you know, at the time of reinstatement, how many samples did
EcoHealth have access to that remained untested?

A. I don't know the number.

306 Letter from Michelle Bulls, Dir., Office of Policy for Extramural Research Administration, Office of Extramural
Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr. 26, 2023).

Page 103 of 520




Q. Did EcoHealth -- was it EcoHealth that told you that they had
samples?

A. They did -- they did give an approximate number. I don't recall what

it was.
Q. Did they tell you that the samples were in their possession?
A. I believe I asked, You have access to these samples? Do you have

access to these samples? I think that, to my -- to the best of my
recollection, that's how I phrased the question. And I got an
affirmative answer. That was, I think, the conversation.

Q. You asked, do you have access, and they responded yes?

A. This was Peter Daszak. Yes.

Q. There wasn't an elaboration on the yes?

A. I did not ask further questions. I took his representation as
truthful.>"’

Dr. Erbelding testified that, at the time of the reinstatement, NIAID believed that
EcoHealth had access to sequences and samples the federal government had previously paid to
have collected but that had yet to be analyzed. For reasons that are not clear to the Select
Subcommittee, NIAID apparently never asked EcoHealth where the samples were located.
Instead, NIAID relied solely on the representations of Dr. Daszak that the samples existed and
that he had access to them. In reality, EcoHealth was relying on the WIV, an institute debarred
for failing to produce laboratory notebooks, to provide them with the virus samples and
sequences that were the justification for reinstatement.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. I have got a few quick questions on the reinstatement. And then one
circle back on the intelligence community issue. So the reason you
should know this, but Drs. Lauer and Erbelding gave us a
congressional briefing a few months ago on the reinstatement and
some of the decisions and, you know, additional terms put in place.
One of the reasons -- one of scientific rationales for reinstating the
grant is that there remains thousands of bat samples collected from
China with funding basically paid for by the grant before it was
suspended, but still need to be tested for the presence of the virus. Is
that still the case?

307 Erbelding TI, supra note 281, at 55-56.
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Well, we have new data from China on some of those -- on the
results from some of those samples. We are currently analyzing it.
Very important critical data. And yeah, I think it's -- we're getting
there. It's good to have new information, but there are still many
samples that we don't have direct control over.

Sure. Who is the custodian for those samples presently?

Right now, they are in the Wuhan Institute of Virology. And
theoretically, a sample collected in a foreign government belongs to
the foreign government so yeah.

But the WIV has been debarred. They can't participate in this grant?
Yeah. And they are not participating in this grant.

But they have custody of all the samples?

But we have got information, data from the samples that has not yet
been analyzed. We have that information here in the U.S.

But the Latinne paper, you said that was all your information?

Since the Latinne paper, since the pandemic began, Wuhan Institute
of Virology's staff has continued to sequence out some of those
initial small fragments to get whole genome sequences, critical
information. 1 agree with what Dr. Erbelding and Stemmy or
whoever it was has said that that was paid for by U.S. taxpayers. It
is our right to get that information. We've got it and we're now
working on it to publish that information.

Is there information derived from the samples that you don't have?
From what I hear, no. Not -- until they do more work on them. And
then we have an understanding that we'll be able to get some access

to those data too.

I'm trying to understand how this works. With the WIV debarred,
and not talking to you anymore, which —

Well, they do talk to us. I can talk to them. It's not illegal to talk to
them.

No, no, no. But you said, like, we've asked them for the progress
reports, they never answered an email.
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I asked them for the lab notes.
For the lab notes.
Yeah, yeah.

But your -- I'm trying to understand how we have debarred them,
but we're still paying them to process samples.

No, no. There's no money going to Wuhan Institute of Virology at
all. No money going to China.

So there's a bolus of data that left the WIV before they were suspend
-- between -- before they were suspended that has yet to be analyzed,
that has to be analyzed or that need - -

My understanding is that the debarment is they are not able to take
Federal funds, now for 10 years. I think at least that is, what I
understand, from what the phrase means. They have other samples.
If they are going to do further work on those samples and they are
willing to give us that information, that's a positive win for the U.S.
taxpayer.

Sure.

I'm going to take the opportunity and publish it, and I think that's a
good thing.

So why do you think the difference? Why do you think the
difference in the WIV is willing to give you access to the samples,
the results of tests on these samples but not the laboratory
notebooks?

Well, you would have to ask WIV about that. I'm very delighted that
we've been able to get that. Information out of WIV and out of
China. It's a good thing.

And they are, functionally, doing it for free? We may have some
prior claim on it because the initial sampling was done with our
money.

Yeah, unfortunately, the legalities of ownership are not good and not

clear in this sort of issue. However, if we can get the data, we're
going to get it and we're going to work it and we are going to make
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it public and we are going to try and get at much good information
as we can out of it.3%

According to Dr. Erbelding, Dr. Daszak failed to inform NIH that a substantial number of
samples or sequences—the same samples or sequences that were a primary purpose for
reinstating EcoHealth’s previously suspended grant—were in the custody and control of the
WIV, a now debarred organization. It remains unclear how many samples or sequences that the

federal government paid for still reside at the WIV.

Since access to sequences and samples was a substantial reason for reinstating
EcoHealth’s grant, it raises the question of whether NIH would have still reinstated the grant if it
had knowledge of this issue. According to Dr. Erbelding, if she had that knowledge, it would

have at least caused her to ask more questions regarding the reinstatement.

Dr. Emily Erbelding

Q.

A.

I have one quick follow-up question, and then I'm going to ask some
more about EcoHealth and their various efforts. If Dr. Daszak had
told you that samples were still in the custody and control of the
Wuhan Institute of Virology, would that have changed your calculus
in reinstating the grant?

I think it depends on -- we would have said those samples, we can't
assume that they're going to be used. It would have depended upon
what other samples he did have access to or he did have in other
locations that were accessible.

So it would have at least prompted some follow-up questions or
more information?

Yes.
All right. Thank you.

I think so0.3%

Dr. Daszak later testified that Dr. Erbelding mistook samples for sequences and that he
clearly stated EcoHealth had access to sequences and then samples from elsewhere in S.E. Asia.

Dr. Peter Daszak (May 1, 2024)

398 Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 263-265.
399 Erbelding TI, supra note 281, at 90.
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Q. You testified a couple of minutes ago that you were very forthright
with NIH and NIAID that you actually didn’t have access to the
samples.

A. Correct.
Q. Is Dr. Erbelding lying?

A. ...Clearly, Dr. Erbelding either wasn’t in the conversation where I
clearly stipulated we do not have access to those samples; we do
have access to the sequences, or perhaps she has mistaken sequences
for samples...what matters is the record, which is the emails sent to
NIH proposing the work to be done and the revised specific [aims],
which clearly state no further samples will be brought out of China
and that sequences are already in EcoHealth’s possession.>!”

Dr. Tabak was asked about Dr. Erbelding’ s testimony.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. ...Dr. Tabak, do you think it is likely that the director of NIAID’s
Division of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases does not
understand the difference between sequences and samples?

A. I am sure she does.>!!

Dr. Daszak omitted the material fact that the sequences and samples the federal
government were paying for were, at least in part, under the custody and control of the WIV.
Further, testimony suggests that if NIH had known this, it would have resulted in more questions
regarding whether to reinstate the grant or not.

FINDING: The Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency Rejected EcoHealth Alliance,
Inc.’s DEFUSE Proposal Because of a Lack of Gain-of-Function or Dual Use
Research of Concern Plan.

In 2018, DARPA began accepting applications for federal funded research pursuant to a
new program entitled PREventing Emerging Pathogenic Threats [hereinafter “PREEMPT”]. This
program was designed to “target viral biothreats within animal reservoir to preempt their entry
into human populations before an outbreak occurs.”*!? Dr. Gimlett was the Program Officer at
DARPA in charge of the PREEMPT program. Dr. Gimlett described his responsibilities as:

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

310 Daszak Hearing, supra note 261, at 52.
311 Tabak Hearing, supra note 248, at 23.
312 PREEMPT Proposers Day, DARPA, available at https://events.sa-meetings.com/ehome/299628/648416/.
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Q. Those were your responsibilities generally. What were your
responsibilities specific to PREEMPT?

A. So basically formulate the concept, which was my concept; canvas
the community to sort of understand where the state of the art was,
potential performers, trying to get the word out that we were
interested in this, solicit feedback; and eventually create a definition
for what the program looks like, get buy-in from the level of
management at DARPA, which meant office directorship and then
DARPA directorship. And basically that means going through a few
hurdles, like acceptance from your colleagues, who are also aiming
to shoot you down if you don't have it thought through. So it's
basically kind of get the details right on how the program gets then
communicate it to the community in a broad area announcement.
Subsequent to that, go through the source selection process, which
means reviewing the proposals. My job as a reviewer would be on
the technical side of the proposal review, and then there's additional
review after that that would come from the office leadership or from
legal or other -- contracts office, for example -- and then manage the

program.’!?

PREEMPT would be divided into two technical areas. According to Dr. Gimlett,
Technical Area 1 was:

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. And what were kind of the goals or strategy of the PREEMPT
program?

A. So it started from sort of a hypothesis that we've had a lot of close
calls in zoonotic spillover and had gotten fairly lucky that most of
them were semi-contained. But I wasn't happy with the overall
approach, which is, okay, let's hope we don't -- let's hope we get
lucky again, wait until another spillover happens and then try to rush
and contain it through all kinds of draconian measures sometimes.
So the idea was can we do a better job of sort of sampling the hotspot
areas of the globe where this is happening frequently, especially both
in the wild animal reservoir, as well as in livestock reservoirs and
humans associating with those two; get a better gauge of sort of a
probabilistic likelihood and try to come up with some models for
how easy -- how likely a spillover could happen; try to get a little bit
in front of the curve and even possibly think about ways of sort of

313 Transcribed Interview of James Gimlett, M.D., Dir., Program Office, Defense Advanced Research Projects
Agency, at 9 (May 9, 2024) [hereinafter “Gimlett TT”].
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stopping it in its tracks before it hits the human population. So that
was the overall goal.*!*

Dr. Gimlett described Technical Area 2:

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. No, no, no. I appreciate it. Would it be more of a surveillance
program? You said, like, kind of the end goal is stopping it before
the human -- before human spillover. And we'll get into DEFUSE
with, like, kind of the aerosolized bat vaccine that they proposed.
But was it more heavily focused on surveillance or more heavily
focused on kind of stopping the spillover?

A. It was more -- in my mind, it was more heavily focused on the
surveillance and analytics at the front end and trying to do a better
job of assessing likelihood of spillover. So the program was divided
into two technical areas. That was technical area one. Technical area
two was sort of -- it was basically pinging the community to see if
there were any ideas on how to preempt, literally, a spillover either
at the vector if it was mosquito borne, at the sort of livestock if it
was passing through livestock before entering the human
population, or directly in the wild animal reservoirs. And it was
more assess what's possible, sort of the art of the possible, and if you
had some solution to validate it in some kind of closed, confined,
safely controlled area. So that was the idea. It wasn't actually go out
and do it. It was to see what is possible to be done in a controlled
experimental environment.?!3

ook ok

Q. And the goal kind of on part two, like you said, would have been to
do it in a controlled research environment, not necessarily go to the
source and release?

A. Correct. That would have been beyond that program's scope.>!¢

After DARPA received proposals, DARPA conducted a three-person peer review.>!”
These reviewers judged each proposal on (1) the “technical approach, competence, plausibility,
innovation, whether [DARPA] thought it was outlined in a way that you could kind of get to the
ultimate goal of the program in a reasonable timeframe”; (2) “[t]he sort of relevance to the

314 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 10.
315 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 11.
316 17

317 Gimlett T1, supra note 313, at 13.
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DOD”; and (3) “cost realism, so was it actually budgeted to do the job.”*!8After the peer review
concluded, each proposal was graded as (1) selectable, (2) selectable, but not recommended for
funding, or (3) not selectable.’!

In the end, it was Dr. Gimlett who would make the recommendation to DARPA
leadership and then the DARPA Director or Deputy Director would make the final funding
decision.3%°

On March 24, 2018, a consortium of researchers led by Dr. Daszak and EcoHealth
submitted a proposal to DARPA named “Project DEFUSE: Defusing the threat of Bat-borne
Coronaviruses” [hereinafter “DEFUSE”].3! In Technical Area 1, the stated goal of DEFUSE
was:

In TA1 we will intensively sample bats at our field sites where we have
identified high spillover risk SARSr-CoVs. We will sequence their spike
proteins, reverse engineer them to conduct binding assays, and insert them
into bat SARSr-CoV (WIV1, SHCO014) backbones (these use bat-SARSr-
CoV backbones, not SARS-CoV, and are exempt from dual-use and gain of
function concerns) to infect humanized mice and assess capacity to cause
SARS-like disease.?*

In Technical Area 2, the stated goal of DEFUSE was:

In TA2, we will evaluate two approaches to reduce SARSr-CoV shedding
in bat caves: (1) Broadscale immune boosting, in which we will inoculate
bats with immune modulators to upregulate their innate immune response
and downregulate viral replication; (2) Targeted immune boosting, in which
we will inoculate bats with novel chimeric polyvalent recombinant spike
proteins plus the immune modulator to enhance innate immunity against
specific, high-risk viruses...The most effective biologicals will be trialed
in our test cave sites in Yunnan Province, with reduction in viral shedding
as proof-of-concept.>??

On its face, this type of research is dangerous and, specifically regarding Technical Area
2, EcoHealth’s proposed experiments—conducting trials in uncontrolled cave environments—
violated the scope of PREEMPT. Furthermore, some scientists have even pointed to DEFUSE as
a type of research that can create a virus like COVID-19.3%

318 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 15.

319 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 16.

320 See generally, Gimlett T1.

321 EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., Proposal - Project DEFUSE: Defusing the threat of Bat-borne Coronaviruses,
HRO001118S0017-PREEMPT-PA-001 (Mar. 27, 2018).

2

234

324 Chan, supra note 18.
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Prior to submission of EcoHealth’s full proposal, EcoHealth had the opportunity to attend
a “Proposers Day” and, subsequent to that, submit an abstract for preliminary review by DARPA.
According to Dr. Gimlett, Dr. Daszak was present for “Proposers Day” and submitted an abstract
for preliminary review.*?> After DARPA and Dr. Gimlett reviewed EcoHealth’s abstract, Dr.
Gimlett and Dr. Daszak discussed it.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. And then the conversation that you had with Dr. Daszak afterwards,
were there tweaks you wanted him to make? How was that, the
encouragement of a proposal, communicated?

A. So it's generally: Here's some really strong pieces that we think have
merit. In their case, it was they have their feet on the ground in a
very hotspot for zoonotic spillover, with access to bats and bat caves
and even a whole repertoire of prior samples that they've collected
and only partially analyzed. So that was attractive. I don't recall the
exact feedback he would have given me on that, other than be sure
to read the BAA. We're particularly interested in quantitative
models, so connect your sampling with some kind of approach to
get a risk map and a likelihood model of spillover. There's a bunch
of safety concerns as well, and please read the BAA about things
that might be of ELSI, which is ethical, legal, societal impact, as
well as safety concerns. So that would have been the feedback to
everybody.?°

It was also at this stage that Dr. Daszak asked DARPA about the inclusion of a Chinese
partner, specifically the WIV.??” According to Dr. Gimlett, DARPA approved the use of a
Chinese collaborator.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9., 2024)

Q. And it sounds like they had -- at this point had they informed
DARPA that they were planning on using the Wuhan Institute?

A. Yes. So he would have talked about that and probably would have
asked us: Is it okay to have a Chinese partner? And I wouldn't have
been able to give him the answer. So this PREEMPT is a 6.1 research
proposal. There's no official restriction on who can perform. And
often DARPA does rely on researchers outside of the country.
They're often teamed with U.S. researchers as well. But DARPA
goes where the expertise is, or in this case where the samples exist.
So there wouldn't have been any official restriction. I basically asked

325 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 20.
326 17
327 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 21.
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up the chain: Is it okay? Because I don't have any awareness of
China being a performer on a DARPA program, certainly didn't have
any on mine. So it would have been a little bit unusual, but probably
not strictly prohibited. So I went up the chain, and the answer came
back: No, we're not going to restrict. Yeah. So that was
communicated back, that, yes, it's okay to have a Chinese partner.

We've heard from NIH and EcoHealth on a different grant that
foreign labs, foreign collaborators are vetted through the State
Department. How does DARPA vet foreign labs or collaborators?

That I don't know.
Would there be vetting beyond just the review process? If you know.

There would probably be vetting at the contractual process, which
generally does not involve the program manager, more on the
technical side, but probably there'd be vetting at that level.

Again, to the extent you know, when particularly work with China,
beyond going up the chain in DARPA, do you know if there was any
question to the intelligence community at large on the use of a
Chinese lab?

No, I don't know. I mean, there certainly would have been concerns
about whether the information flow would allow access to the data,
and that would have been part of that vetting process as well, I'm
guessing, because China had just come out with some new policies
on data export controls. So that would have been something to be
discussed, but not at my level.**

In addition to EcoHealth’s summaries of Technical Areas 1 and 2, EcoHealth—via

DEFUSE—also proposed:

After receptor binding, a variety of cell surface or endosomal proteases
cleave the SARS-CoV S glycoprotein causing massive changes in S
structure and activating fusion-mediated entry. We will analyze all SARSr-
CoV gene sequences for appropriately conserved proteolytic cleavage sites
in S2 and for the presence of potential furin cleavage sites. SARSr-CoV S
with mismatches in proteolytic cleavage sites can be activated by exogenous
trypsin or cathepsin L. Where clear mismatches occur, we will introduce
appropriate human-specific cleavage sites and evaluate growth potential in
Vero cells and HAE cultures.?*

328 Gimlett TI, supra note 313 at 21-22.

329 EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., Proposal - Project DEFUSE: Defusing the threat of Bat-borne Coronaviruses,

HRO001118S0017-PREEMPT-PA-001 (Mar. 27, 2018).
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Scientists believe COVID-19’s furin cleavage site located at the S1/S2 juncture of the
spike protein of the virus to be a primary driver in infectability in humans.**° Furthermore, no
sarbecoviruses—the subgenus of coronaviruses COVID-19 belongs to—are known to have a

furin cleavage site. EcoHealth’s proposed research could have resulted in a unique virus such as
COVID-19.

However, Dr. Daszak did not discuss this specific research during the abstract phase of
the DEFUSE proposal.**! Dr. Gimlett was surprised by this lack of discussion and this specific
research’s inclusion in EcoHealth’s final DEFUSE proposal.>*?

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. So that opens up new questions. So the kind of -- and I'm going to
butcher the science a little bit -- but the proposal of taking 20
percentage divergent SARS-related coronaviruses, dropping in a
furin 1 cleavage site at S1/S2, and testing pathogenicity was not in
the original Proposers Day or abstract?

A. It wasn't at the abstract or Proposers Day that I would remember,
no. That's why I kind of hedged a little bit, surprising.

That part of the proposal was surprising?

A. Yes. 333

In addition to being surprised at this new proposal, Dr. Gimlett also expressed concerns
regarding the safety of EcoHealth conducting this kind of research.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. Why? I mean, beyond that he hadn't mentioned it before, did it pose
particular risks?

A. Well, so to answer that, we kind of have to back up, if it's okay with
you, just to --
Yes.

A. So before the BAA even went out, we did a lot of research on all the
government regulations involving gain-of-function research, dual-
use research of concern. There was some language about basically

330Chan, supra note 18.

331 EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., Proposal - Project DEFUSE: Defusing the threat of Bat-borne Coronaviruses,
HRO001118S0017-PREEMPT-PA-001 (Mar. 27, 2018).

332 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 23-24.

333 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 23-24.
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this P3CO, so potential pandemic pathogen documentation that had
come out. All of which were very -- they all had their own viruses
of interest. Like gain-of-function, the original moratorium was
specifically about avian influenza and SARS and MERS. The P3CO
had a broader set of pathogens, not all viral, and it specifically talked
about gain of transmissibility or virulence, but it said it was not --
that did not apply to wild type viruses not in humans. So when we
put together the BAA, I was concerned that regardless of what the
official language is, since this is going out to the academic
community and others who will basically not -- they will not want
to be constrained in terms of how they publish information, being in
a 6.1 research, and DARPA had no formal mechanism to restrict that.
But I'm still concerned that if this ever gets into the area where there
could be dual-use research of concern, you've somehow created
something that you didn't intend and it's more virulent and
transmissive. And I don't want to see that sequence published the
next day in some journal. So we insisted on sort of a safety and
communication plan in the BAA: Tell us what is your mechanisms
to put a halt or a slowdown on anything in case you encounter this
situation. So this is sort of preamble to why this sort of struck us in
an odd way, because the intent of PREEMPT really was to look at
natural spillover processes. So we weren't even expecting that it
would encounter dual-use issues but wanted that protection
mechanism anyway just in case. And I did not want to see sort of,
well, a narrow interpretation, since it's not these specific viruses, it
doesn't apply. And reading the proposal is the first time that they did
talk about engineering chimeric viruses, albeit still just taking
components of wild virus found in bat caves, but mixing and
matching to potentially gain -- probably to gain ability to even
culture in, like, human cell cultures. So I understood the rationale,
but it didn't quite map to what I was looking for, and I wasn't sure
how that would help necessarily in producing probabilistic risk map,
and they didn't go through clearly that motivation and how they were
going to use that data. So all of these were concerns, particularly
the claim that since this is a wild bat virus, gain-of-function, dual
use, none of it is relevant, and we don't have to go any further. That
was not what the BAA specified. So now I don't remember the
original question, whether I got to it in some way, 1 but this is a
complicated story. I just want to get it clear.

No. Absolutely. I think you did a little bit. I think the original
question in this case was does that proposed work strike particular

risks that were not envisioned.

So, I mean, any time you put a virus in some other animal, in a petri
dish, in a cell culture, there are some risks. And any time anyone
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gets infected by a virus, the virus will be looking to gain function in
some respect. So there's always risks. And I wanted to be sure that
this program had clear safety guidelines, where it would be done, in
the BSL-3, if it was a coronavirus with pandemic potential. And
even if it's a bat virus, it could still have risks. I mean, there are
always -- it is spilling over, and there's probably some component in
that viral quasi species that's capable of entering other mammalian
cell types. So this does encounter -- and it's hitting a gray area that
was a concern, and we just wanted to make sure that we never got -
- crossed that line. 33

After review, DARPA marked the DEFUSE proposal as “selectable, but not
recommended.”** A letter was leaked that purported to be the denial letter from Dr. Gimlett to
Dr. Daszak.*® Dr. Gimlett confirmed the accuracy of this letter.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. Okay. I'll introduce majority exhibit 3 and have some preliminary
questions about this before getting into the specifics. At least on its
face, it appears to be the denial letter to EcoHealth under PREEMPT.
It has your signature block that is not signed. So, just an initial
question of, is this a letter that you would have typed out?

A. Yep. That -- that looks like the letter I wrote.

Q. Was it formally sent to EcoHealth, or was it more communicated
verbally?
A.  No, it would have been formally sent.>*’

DEFUSE was not selected for funding by DARPA for numerous reasons. According to
DARPA’s rejection letter, DARPA was concerned that EcoHealth’s research proposed in
DEFUSE would meet the definition of gain-of-function research or dual use research of concern
[hereinafter “DURC”].>*

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

334 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 24-26.

335 Letter from James Gimlett, M.D., Program Manager, DARPA, to Peter Daszak, Ph.d., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance,
Inc. (On File with Select Subcomm. Staff).

336 [d

337 Gimlet TI, supra note 313, at 41-42,

338 Gimlett Letter, supra note 335.
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The team discusses risk mitigation strategies to address potential risks of the research to public
health and animal safety but does not mention or assess potential risks of Gain of Function (GoF)

research and DURC. Given the {eam’s approach does potentially involve GoF/DURC research

(they aim to synthesize spike glycoproteins that may bind to human cell receptors and insert

them into SARSr-CoV backbones to assess capacity to cause SARS-like disease), if selected for:

funding an appropriate DURC risk mitigation plan should be incorporated into contracting.
language that includes a responsible communications plan.

James Gimlett, Ph.D.
~ Program Manager
Biological Technologies Office

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Daszak refuted this, and testified that DEFUSE was not

funded because DARPA did not have sufficient funds.

Dr. Peter Daszak (November 14, 2024)

Q.

And as you said, DARPA denied it. Did you ever submit this
proposal to any other funding agencies?

Well, there was a little bit said about DARPA declining to fund this,
including people who have said that they declined it because of
biosecurity concerns. Absolutely not true. We had an interview with
DARPA specifically so they could inform us why it was rejected. I
have got the contemporaneous notes right here, never once did
biosafety come up. It was too much money. They didn't have enough
money. It was too 1 ambitious, which is standard grant -- agency
language for too ambitious. So just a little miff around that. I forgot
the question, though.*’

However, Dr. Gimlett testified that biosecurity concerns were one of the three reasons

that EcoHealth’s DEFUSE proposal was denied.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q.

Dr. Daszak testified that the reason that this was not funded was
strictly because there was not enough money. This seems to go
further than just it's an expensive proposal. I guess -- and the letter
is in your own words, but sitting here today, what do you recall as
the primary drivers to deny funding?

339 Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 260-261 (As of publication of this Report, although Dr. Daszak testified he had
contemporaneous notes between himself and DARPA, Dr. Daszak never produced those notes to the Select

Subcommittee despite being requested.).
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A. I would say three major things, which we've kind of talked about all
of them. One, no regulatory or ELSI discussion. Two, no, sort of,
justification for collect -- of basically, acquiring a whole set of data
based on, sort of, genetic manipulation of the virus, how that data
would then inform a model, for example. So the model development
which we've talked about in the letter. And then, three, didn't address
-- or basically just denied that they had to address gain-of-function
because it didn't fall under any of the regulatory requirements. So
those three were key reasons in my mind.>*

sksksk

Q. Yeah. So was kind of the lack of safety proposal both in
communications of the results and in the actual research a reason for
denial?

A. It was. I mean, so safety kind of hits on two different levels. One is
safety in terms of how the samples are acquired or how and where
the research is done, and that seemed to be addressed in the proposal.
But it also requires what happens if, during these kinds of assaying
and manipulation tests, you all of a sudden stumble on something
that's highly infectious, how are we going to, sort of, reanalyze
whether we proceed with this research or not. And that was the
safety piece that was missing.

Q. So the actual, like, "Oh, no, we found something that was more
transmissible or more lethal, what do we do next," was the safety --
was the biosafety —

A. Yeah. So, in my mind, regardless of whether that falls strictly under
gain-of-function, the virus has potentially gained some function that
could be hazardous, and we needed -- we need to reassess whether
to proceed with research or put it in a 1 different safety level or
something. 4!

Dr. Gimlett directly contradicted Dr. Daszak’s testimony regarding the rejection of
DEFUSE. Dr. Gimlett testified unequivocally that EcoHealth’s lack of a gain-of-function or
DURC plan was part of the rationale to reject the DEFUSE proposal.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

340 Gimlet TI, supra note 313, at 43-44.
341 Gimlet TI, supra note 313, at 44-45.
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Q. And we've kind of touched on this, but I'm going to ask it a little bit
more bluntly. Did the lack of a gain-of-function or DURC plan affect
the decision to reject the proposal?

A. Yes, it did.>*

EcoHealth and Dr. Daszak proposed research in DEFUSE that was inherently dangerous
and could have created and released a virus like COVID-19. Dr. Daszak initially hid the most
dangerous aspect of this research from DARPA. Dr. Daszak declined to provide a required gain-
of-function or DURC plan, even though his research may have resulted in a virus gaining
function. Finally, DARPA denied to fund DEFUSE in part because of this lack of gain-of-
function or DURC plan—contrary to Dr. Daszak’s testimony.

FINDING: The Department of Justice Empaneled a Criminal Grandy Jury to Investigate the
Origins of COVID-19.

EcoHealth was subject to numerous federal investigations regarding both its potential
role in the COVID-19 pandemic, but also multiple accusations surrounding violated federal grant
policies. The outcomes of most of these investigations are public.

However, the Select Subcommittee discovered that DOJ was also investigating the
origins of COVID-19. The specific details of the investigation are unknown but, based on
documents, it appears the DOJ’s investigation involves EcoHealth’s role in the COVID-19
pandemic.** As of December 4, 2024, the outcome(s) of DOJ’s investigation are not public.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

342 Gimlet TI, supra note 313, at 46.

343 E-Mail from Counsel for EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Peter Daszak, Ph.D, Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Feb. 6,
2023 12:01 PM). (The Select Subcommittee obtained communications between EcoHealth and its counsel that
EcoHealth was with withholding pursuant to attorney-client privilege because Dr. Daszak and his counsel included
non-clients on the e-mails, thus piercing the privilege.)
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Public Affairs

3. Legal (TKD — led by Nels Lippert)

o 1tlawsuit offer to withdraw; 2" lawsuit motion to dismiss;
3" in progress
Dol subpoena for genetic sequences, docs — almost complete
Negotiating with Congressional committees re. scope/timing
of requests

o Costs manageable - mixture of pro bono, reduced rate, and
capacity to request insurance payment of some costs

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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Message

From:

Sent: 2/13/2023 10:56:59 PM

To: Peter Dasza

Subject: FW: Draft Letter to Energy & Commerce Staff [IMAN-DOCUMENTS.FID794944]

Hi Peter. In response to your Oversight/Coronavirus Subcommittee draft letter, received just
now, I'm forwarding as my only comment the highlighted thoughts below from the Energy
draft from last week. (It pertains to the second paragraph of the current draft letter.) Other
than that, | would just cc me in the text or the transmittal e-mail. Let us know if you have q’s
or want to talk. Thanks again, MG

Tarter Krinsky & Drogin LLP
1350 Broadway |New York|NY|10018

AW tarierkrineky.carm jLinkedl

From:
Sent: Monday, February 6, 2023 12:01 PM

W Aleksei Chmura _ Jeff Sturchio
ubject: Draft Letter to Energy & Commerce Staff [IMAN-DOCUMENTS.FID794944]

Hi Peter. I've reviewed the draft and discussed it briefly with Nels. Looks good subject to the one typo and suggestion in
the attached markup.

The only thought is whether to skip for the time being reference to our other government inquiries. | suppose we can
always recite those if we get any pushback on a reasonable extension, but | don’t expect that, given the non-compulsory
nature of the current request. Especially on the Executive Branch frant, where the DOJ grand jury investigation seems so
far to remain nonpubilic, | think it would be better just to say we're acting as promptly as possible under the
circumstances without inviting inquiry into other demands for info.

Just a thought, but subject to thatit’s good to go from our perspective. Thanks.

p.s. Just a reminder, there’s a communication from Ravi Batra we wanted to discuss with you. Don’t really need me for
that, but | know Nels and Matt would like to catch up when you can.

On November 1, 2024, the Select Subcommittee requested EcoHealth confirm the
existence of a DOJ Grand Jury investigation.*** EcoHealth’s counsel responded:

Regarding your inquiry about the DOJ, we decline generally to provide any
information about the existence or nonexistence of any investigation other
than the SSCP’s own. For the avoidance of doubt this response should not
be read to confirm or deny the existence of any investigation.>*’

344 E-Mail from Select Subcommittee Staff to Counsel for EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Nov. 1, 2024 9:54 AM).
345 E-mail from Counsel to EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. to Select Subcommittee Staff (Nov. 1, 2024 6:25 PM)
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On November 15, 2024, the Select Subcommittee again requested information regarding
the existence of a DOJ Grand Jury investigation. During this call, EcoHealth’s counsel assured
the Select Subcommittee the investigation was not into EcoHealth nor Dr. Daszak.

According to documents, DOJ subpoenaed EcoHealth’s communications with, at least,
Dr. Shi. This subpoena included both Dr. Shi’s official WIV e-mail address and her personal
hotmail address.34¢

On Fri, Dec 23, 2022 at 1:25 PM _wrote:

Aleksei,

Can you confirm what methods you used to pull Dr. Shi's emails? Some of the emails collected do not appear to have
made contact with either of the Shi inboxes the DOJ is concerned with.

For example, the attached email is from you to Matt and does not seem to have been directed at Dr. Shi in any form.
The proposal attached to the email does contain Shi’s email and name throughout, so perhaps the email came up
responsive ta a search for “ wh.iov.cn”.

Please let me know when you have the chance. Thanks.

OIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033797

346 E_Mail from Counsel to EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. to Aleksei Chmura, Ph.D., Chief of Staff, EcoHealth Alliance,
Inc. (Dec. 23, 2022 1:25 PM)
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III.  The Failures of the National Institutes of Health and National Institute of Allergy
and Infectious Diseases

FINDING: The U.S. National Institutes of Health and National Institute of Allergy and
Infectious Diseases Failed to Oversee EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.

In response to allegations regarding EcoHealth’s actions—including concerns that the
research conducted at the WIV funded by NIAID and may have started the COVID-19
pandemic—the NIH began compliance actions regarding the grant. These actions centered
around EcoHealth’s administrative and scientific failures.

There is very little accountability regarding the approval of grants. Technically, the
Director of NIAID approves grants for funding. In reality, the peer review process limits
exposure and restricts Congress’ ability to oversee federal funding. Dr. Fauci testified, that as
Director of NIAID, he simply signs off on grants without reviewing them.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 8, 2024)

Q. Who gives the final approval?

A. You know, technically, I sign off on each council, but I don’t see the
grants and what they are. I never look at what grants are there. It’s
just somebody at the end of the council where they’re all finished
and they go, “Here,” and you sign it.>*’

The Trump Administration Identified EcoHealth’s Actions and Instructed NIH To Remedy
It

On April 17, 2020, during a press conference, President Trump identified EcoHealth’s
grant, and any other grants going to China, as potentially problematic.

Coronavirus Task Force Briefing (Apr. 17, 2020)

Q. Thank you, Mr. President. U.S. intelligence is saying
this week that the coronavirus likely came from a
level 4 1ab in Wuhan. There’s also another report that
the NIH, under the Obama administration, in 2015
gave that lab $3.7 million in a grant. Why would the
U.S. give a grant like that to China?

THE PRESIDENT: The Obama administration gave them a grant of $3.7
million? I’ve been hearing about that. And we’ve
instructed that if any grants are going to that area —
we’re looking at it, literally, about an hour ago, and

347 Fauci TI 1, supra note 227, at 83.
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also early in the morning. We will end that grant very
quickly. 34

On April 18, 2020, Dr. Tabak directed Dr. Lauer to send a letter to EcoHealth and instruct
them to terminate all funding to the WIV.**” On April 19, 2020, Dr. Lauer sent this letter.>>° On
April 24, 2020, Dr. Tabak directed Dr. Lauer to send a letter to EcoHealth terminating its entire
grant.*>! Dr. Lauer was not involved in the discussions or drafting of ether letter and did not have
knowledge of how the decision originated. Importantly, however, Dr. Lauer agreed with the
letters’ contents and justifications.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. Did you review the letter before it was sent?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you agree with its contents and the justifications provided
in it?

A. Yes.?3

Through the Select Subcommittee’s investigation, evidence discovered suggests that the
decision to terminate the EcoHealth grant originated from Mr. Mark Meadows, Chief of Staff to
President Trump.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. So like I said, this is Majority Exhibit 7. It's an April 19th, 2020
letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth and Columbia -- I believe
Columbia was on there by mistake -- but primarily to EcoHealth,
notifying EcoHealth that they're not to provide funds to the Wuhan
Institute of Virology anymore pursuant to a couple regulations and
OMB provisions. Were you aware of this letter at the time it was

sent?
A. I was.
Q. Did you have any discussions with anyone about this letter prior to

it being sent?

348 Remarks by President Trump April 17, 2020, supra note 222.

3% Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 40.

330 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., et. al., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr. 19, 2020).

351 Lauer TL, supra note 262, at 48.

352 Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 49.
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Yes.
Who?

I discussed this letter with Dr. Lauer and I discussed this letter with
Dr. Collins. I don't know if I discussed it with anyone else.

Do you remember how this -- the drafting process of this letter, how
it came to be?

Okay. So this was done with the help of a senior administrative
official. That's really all I could say.

Can you give me a little bit more generality about that? A grants
officer? A program officer? Who was the —

A senior administrative official.
Who is that?
That's —

The who isn't deliberative.

Mr. Charrow.

The Office of General Counsel at HHS?

Correct.

All right. Is this the first time or the days preceding this that you
became aware of efforts to suspend or terminate or otherwise alter
the EcoHealth grant?

I don't remember the dates. I remember the -- but I remember the
event that was time-sensitive. Former President Trump was to give
a news conference of some sort, and apparently he wanted to
articulate that this had been suspended, and so that was the time

sensitivity.

And who communicated that sensitivity to you?
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A. Mr. Charrow.

Q. Okay. And do you know who had communicated with Mr. Charrow?

skeksk

A. I was told who it was, but I don't have any evidence of who it was.
Q. Who were you told who it was?

skeksk

A. Okay. My secondhand knowledge is that it was the White House
chief of staff.

Mark Meadows?
A. Correct.

Q. Thank you. I want to then -- well, I'm going to summarize the
timeline then leading up to April 19th without getting into any of the
discussions of how April 19th happened. Your understanding -- and,
granted, some of this is secondhand -- is a conversation took place
between Chief of Staff Meadows and Mr. Charrow, who then had a
conversation with you, and then you had a conversation with Dr.
Lauer that resulted in this letter?

ok

A. That is correct.>>?

This sequence of events was confirmed by Dr. Fauci.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024)

Q. This is a letter sent from Dr. Lauer to Drs. Chmura and Daszak from
April 24th, 2020 -- so 5 days after this one was sent -- that terminates
the entire grant "Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus
Emergence." Were you previously aware of this letter?

A. Let me read it. Hold on. I was aware that the grant was terminated.
I'm not -- I don't recall this particular letter that I saw at the time. I

353 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 53-58.

Page 126 of 520




think I was shown -- I don't think I was shown this, but I don't recall
seeing this letter at the time it was sent.

Q. You testified in June of 2020 before the House Committee on Energy
and Commerce. You were asked about this grant and the cancellation
and said, "Why was it canceled? It was canceled because the NIH
was told to cancel it. I don't know the reason, but we were told to
cancel it." Do you have any recollection of who told you to cancel
it?

skskk

Q. All right. I'll relay to you what Dr. Tabak told us was the chain of
events, and you can just tell me if that's accurate to the best of your
recollection. Dr. Tabak testified that Chief of Staff Mark Meadows
called the Office of General Counsel at HHS, who then called Dr.
Tabak, who then called Dr. Lauer, who was instructed to cancel the
grant. [s that consistent with your memory?

A. Yes.3*

By April 17, 2020, the White House was reviewing both the EcoHealth grant and other
grants that involved China to ensure they were in compliance with all applicable grant terms and
conditions. After this review, Mr. Meadows identified EcoHealth and its subgrant to the WIV as

being problematic and instructed HHS to first terminate the subaward and then the entirety of the

grant. Dr. Lauer, the NIH official in charge of grant compliance, testified that he was unaware of
EcoHealth or that it was out of compliance prior to April 19, 2020.%> If not for the actions of the
Trump Administration, this grantee and grant may have been allowed to continue without proper
oversight.

Between April 19, 2020 and April 26, 2023, NIH conducted an investigation into
EcoHealth’s compliance with its grant terms. This investigation primarily focused on (1)
EcoHealth’s late Year 5 Report, (2) an experiment that showed excessive viral growth, and (3)
EcoHealth’s relationship with the WIV.

1) April 19, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth?°

2) April 24, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth?’

354 Fauci TI 1, supra note 227, at 211-212.

355 Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 22.

336 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., et al (Apr. 19, 2020).

357 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., ef al (Apr. 24, 2020).
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3) July 8, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth®>®

In this letter, Dr. Lauer, because of legal issues surrounding NIH’s decision to terminate
the full grant on April 24, reinstated and then immediately suspended EcoHealth’s grant. The
suspension was pending EcoHealth’s answers to a number of questions regarding activities in
and around Wuhan at the time of the outbreak. NIH witnesses testified they agreed with sending
this letter.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. And did you believe at the time that NIH had the authority to ask
these questions -- make these -- let me rephrase. Did you believe at
the time that NIH had the authority to make these requests of a
grantee?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And is that still your opinion, NIH had the authority to make
these requests of a grantee?

A. I'm comfortable that, you know, with what was happening at the
time, the information I had available at the time, that we followed
appropriate processes.>>’

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. Did you agree with sending this letter?

A. I did agree with sending it.>¢

4) July 23,2021: Letter from Dr. Lauer to Dr. Daszak>®!

In this letter, Dr. Lauer first identified that EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report was later. Dr. Lauer
writes, “[w]e are also writing to notify you that a review of our records for RO1AI110964
indicates that EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. is out of compliance with requirements...”*%> Witness
testimony indicates that neither NIH nor NIAID identified this late report until this letter was
sent.

| Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023)

358 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’1 Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D, et. al., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (July 8, 2020).

3% Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 53-54.

360 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 62.

361 Letter from Dr. Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D,, et. al., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (July 23, 2021).

362 g
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So this is a July 23rd, 2021, letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth. I
don't know if you're -- you are cc'd. Do you recall this letter going -
- being sent?

Just give me 1 minute to flip through. Yes, I think so.
Were you involved in drafting this letter at all?
I don't recall being involved in drafting this letter, no.

Primarily in this letter, in addition to a couple other requests, but Dr.
Lauer informs EcoHealth that at this point they were 22 months late
on their year 5 progress report. When did you first learn that the year
5 report was late?

I don't remember the exact date when I learned this. It may have
been with this letter. But because the award was terminated, I wasn't
doing the normal sort of oversight work that a program officer would

have done, right. Or notifications weren't coming out as well, so --
363

Dr. Emily Erbelding (Nov. 28, 2023)

Q.

ook ok

While you're flipping through it, this is a letter from Dr. Lauer to
EcoHealth from July 23rd, 2021. And in it there's a lot, and it
continues to request in order to review the WIV's records validating
certain expenditures and monitoring safety and financial specifics.
But then also on the second page indicates that EcoHealth has not
submitted their year 5 annual report yet.

"We are also writing to notify you that a review of our records for
RO1 indicates that EcoHealth Alliance is out of compliance with
requirements to submit the following reports," a financial report and
then the Interim Research Performance Progress report.

Okay. I see the paragraph you're referring to.

Were you involved at all in the drafting of this letter?

No.

363 Stemmy TI, supra note 260, at 127-128.
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Q. When did you first learn that the year 5 report was late?

A. I believe I learned of it when it came in, which was about a month
after the date on this letter.>*

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. In this letter, it's also the first time you notify EcoHealth that they're
now 22 months late on their year-five progress report. Is that
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Would that have been consistent with the timing that you testified to
earlier, that the interim progress report would've come up with the
year-seven funding?

A. So —

Or was it later than what you would normally see?

A. It's later than what we would normally see, but -- okay. Well, I'll
answer your question. It's later than what we would normally see.

Q. Okay. When did you learn that the year-five report was late?

A. Shortly before we sent this letter.>%

On numerous occasions Dr. Daszak held President Trump responsible for the cancellation
of the grant.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. Did you ever learn any information, either from government
officials or nongovernment officials, that connected the statement of
intent by then-President Trump to terminate the grant to the decision
that was ostensibly made by NIH to terminate the grant?

A. What I heard was that -- look, when President Trump says
something, he usually does it. Let's face it. I mean, that's one
attribute of President Trump, that when he makes a statement like
that he normally follows through.

364 Erbelding TI, supra note 281, at 96-97.
365 Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 66.
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Q. And from what you heard and what you understand, do you believe
that it was the HHS Secretary making the decision himself at that
point, or through instructions from the President?

A. Well, I think President Trump very clearly stated in that press
conference, "We will end it very quickly." And within a week it was
ended.

Q. And is this, is your understanding of that formed through public
reporting and your sort of connecting the dots, or have people
directly told you that?

A. So all of the above.?%

Notwithstanding Dr. Daszak’s testimony, additional testimony regarding the grant
cancellation is clear—NIH career public health officials supported and did not doubt the actions
undertaken by NIH and Dr. Lauer.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. All right. Thank you. I'm going to go back and ask some
questions -- a blanket one I think you touched on, but maybe not
directly: Would you sign and send a letter if you did not agree with
the contents of the letter?

A. No.>*

Dr. Hugh Auchincloss (Dec. 20, 2023)

Q. I want to first start by, as you know, NIH Office of Extramural
Affairs started compliance efforts with regard to EcoHealth in April
of 2020. Every letter sent by them was sent by Mike Lauer, who
heads that office. When he testified in front of us, he said that he
would not sign and send a letter that he disagreed with. Do you have
any reason to doubt that assertion?

A. None.3%®

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

366 Daszak TI, supra note 256, at 203-204.
367 Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 55.
368 Auchincloss TI, supra note 253, at 147-148.
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A.

So understanding there wasn't, if any, involvement prior to 2020, I'm
going to shift ahead to the 2020 to present timeframe as it pertains
to EcoHealth and start with one question. We had a similar interview
with Dr. Lauer, and he testified at that interview that he would not
sign or send a letter that he disagreed with. Do you have any reason
to doubt that assertion?

I have no doubt at all about that.>®

Dr. Francis Collins (Jan. 12, 2024)

Q.

A.

Moving into 2020. Before we start with individual letters, we asked
Dr. Lauer and he testified that he would not sign or send a letter that
he disagreed with. Do you have any reason to doubt that assertion?

No.

Do you agree with every enforcement action the NIH took against
EcoHealth?

Yes 370

Dr. Fauci was the only official at the Director or Deputy Director level the Select

Subcommittee interviewed who was evasive regarding Dr. Lauer’s integrity.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024)

Q.

Q.

A.

Okay. I want to shift to a time period a little closer -- it's still 2020,
but it's at least closer than 2016 -- and ask a blanket question first.
Dr. Lauer testified that he would not sign or send a letter that he
disagreed with. Do you have any reason to doubt that assertion?
He would not sign —

Or send a letter that he disagreed with.

I can't speak for him.3”!

As discussed above, Mr. Meadows instructed HHS and NIH to terminate or suspend the
grant to EcoHealth because of concerns that arose regarding the WIV and compliance. This
instruction resulted in a multi-year effort to investigate and oversee EcoHealth’s actions,
including an investigation led by Dr. Lauer with the support of NIH leadership—notably Dr.

369 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 51.
370 Collins TI, supra note 221, at 145.
371 Fauci TI 1, supra note 227, at 210.
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Collins and Dr. Tabak. Contrary to Dr. Daszak’s testimony and public reporting, the actions
levied against EcoHealth were not political, but instead supported by facts and evidence and
executed by career public health officials.

FINDING: Dr. Anthony Fauci Played Semantics with the Definition of Gain-of-Function
Research.

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, many scientists and government officials
categorically denied that taxpayer funds were used for gain-of-function research in Wuhan at the
WIV. These assertions rested on semantics and the misapplication of understood definitions.

On May 11, 2021, Dr. Fauci testified before the U.S. Senate Committee on Health,
Education, Labor, and Pensions [hereinafter “HELP”].>7? At this hearing, Senator Rand Paul (R—
Ky.) asked Dr. Fauci if gain-of-function research was occurring with NIH funding at the WIV.
Dr. Fauci categorically denied it three times.

May 11, 2021 Hearing Before Senate HELP

Senator Paul. Dr. Fauci, do you still support funding of the — NIH funding
of the lab in Wuhan?

Dr. Fauci. Senator Paul, with all due respect, you are entirely and
completely incorrect that the NIH has not ever and does not
now fund gain-of-function research in the Wuhan Institute of
Virology.

skoksk

Senator Paul. Will you, in front of this group, categorically say that the
COVID-19 could not have occurred through serial passage
in the laboratory?

Dr. Fauci. I do not have an accounting of what the Chinese may have
done, and I am fully in favor of any further investigation of
what went on in China. However, I will repeat again, the
NIH and NIAID categorically has not funded gain-of-
function research to be conducted in the Wuhan Institute of
Virology.

sksksk

The Chair. I will allow you to respond to that, and then we will move
on.

372 An Update From Federal Officials on Efforts to Combat COVID-19: Hearing Before Sen. Comm. on Health,
Education, Labor, and Pensions, 117" Cong. (May 11, 2021).
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Dr. Fauci. Yes. I mean, I just wanted to say, we — I do not know how
many times I can say it, Madam Chair. We did not fund
gain-of function research to be conducted in the Wuhan
Institute of Virology.3”?

Dr. Fauci’s testimony was, at a minimum, misleading. As established above, at the time
of Dr. Fauci’s testimony senior NIH officials and the NIH website defined gain-of-function
research as “a type of research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers a new or
enhanced activity to that agent.” Further, witness testimony and a plain reading of EcoHealth’s
research conducted at the WIV using U.S. taxpayer dollars confirm it facilitated an experiment
that conveyed new or enhanced activity to a pathogen—thus, satisfying the definition of gain-of-
function research.

Dr. Fauci, during his transcribed interview before the Select Subcommittee, stood by his
Senate HELP testimony.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024)

Q. When you talk about this issue, this broader issue of gain-of-
function and Wuhan Institute of Virology, publicly -- for example,
the high-profile exchange with Senator Rand Paul --

A. Right.

Q. -- and if you say that NIH, quote, "has not ever and does not now
fund gain-of-function research in the Wuhan Institute of Virology,"
is this layman's definition the definition that you are talking about
in those occasions?

A. No.
Great. What would you be talking about in those situations?

A. What I was referring to when Senator Paul asked me and I repeated
multiple times that we were not doing gain-of-function research, no
-- I said that the NIH sub-award to the Wuhan Institute was not to
do gain-of-function research. I was referring specifically to the
operative definition of "gain-of-function" at the time, which is the
P3CO framework. And the P3CO framework is a policy and a
framework that came out of a policy guidance from 3 years of
discussions led by OSTP, the National Academies of Sciences, and
multiple scientific working groups that came out with a very precise
definition. And the precise definition was: any experiment that is

373 Id.
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reasonably anticipated to result in the enhancement of a -- and by
"enhancement," it is meant an increase in the transmissibility and/or
the pathogenesis of a PPP. And what a PPP is is a potential pandemic
pathogen. So if you enhance it, it's referred to as "ePPP." So then
you ask the question, what is a PPP? And by the regulatory
definition, it is the following: It is a pathogen that is likely to be
highly transmissible and spread widely in a population and a
pathogen that likely will cause a high degree of morbidity and
mortality in humans. So, when I was asked the question, did the
grant that was a sub-award to Wuhan fund experiments that were
enhanced PPP, that is what [ was referring to when I said we do not
fund gain-of-function -- gain-of-function according to the strict
definition, which I refer to as the operative definition of "gain-of-
function." So, when someone asks me, as a scientist, are you doing
gain-of-function, is that gain-of-function, I always apply it to the
operative definition of "gain-of-function."

That is very helpful. Thank you for drawing that distinction. And at
the time of that exchange, it was the P3CO framework. There was
also a time, I think from 2014 to 2017, when the gain-of-function
moratorium was the operative policy.

Right.

So a similar analysis, I assume, would've been the case for that —
Right.

-- period of time.

Yes 374

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024)

Q.

ook ok

I want to introduce the year 5 progress report as majority exhibit 18.
And in the nature of time, it's a long report, so I'd ask you not to read
the whole report, but I'm going to draw your attention to a discrete
paragraph. It's on page 15 under aim 3.1.

And I believe, and Dr. Tabak has confirmed that in his letter he is
referring to the experiment outlined in this paragraph. And I'm going
to -- you have it in front of you, but I'm going to read it in kind of

374 Fauci TI 1, supra note 227, at 47-48.
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layman's terms so it's comprehendible. But, in essence, it says that
mice were infected with four strains of SARS-related coronaviruses
with different spike proteins, including full-length recombinant
virus of 4 SARS-related WIV 1 and 3 chimeric viruses, with the
backbone of WIV 1 and the spike proteins from three other bat
coronaviruses. So that's what we were just discussing. All four of
the viruses caused lethal infection in human ACE2 transgenic mice,
but the mortality rate varied among the four groups. Fourteen days
post-infection, five out of the seven mice infected with just the WIV
1 backbone remained alive, while only two out of eight mice
infected with the SHC014 chimera survived. And the paragraph ends
with, "These results suggest that the pathogenicity of SHC014 is
higher than other tested bat SARS-related coronaviruses in
transgenic mice that express human ACE2." I'll give you a minute
to read the full version in the progress report. I know I kind of
summarized it.

[Reviewing.] Yeah.

So to me, it sounds like seven mice infected with the full-length
WIV 1; five survived. Eight mice infected with a chimera of WIV 1
and SHCO14 and two survived. Is that your understanding as well?
That's what it says, yeah.

This to me sounds like the experiment that EcoHealth conducted by
creating a chimera increased the pathogenicity of the underlying
virus. Is that fair?

The underlying virus is WIV.

Correct.

And the spike that they put on indicated that the virus was more
pathogenic than the WIV.

Correct. Is that right? So by replacing the WIV 1 spike with the SHC
spike —

Yes, yes. But, again, you got to put it into context because, again,
these viruses, when you -- if you -- are you hearkening back to the

definition of whether —

I'm getting there.
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Yeah, but then let's go there, okay? The fact is that what was built
into the scope of the conditions was that if you do get an increase in
viral load or pathogenesis, you've got to report it or reevaluate it, but
it still doesn't change the underlying premise that this is not a PPP.
That's the point. That's the conclusion -- that's the confusion people
get. By the operative definition of gain-of-function of concern, even
with this, this is merely an added going the extra mile that if
something like this happens you stop and you look at it and discuss
whether or not to go forward, et cetera. And, to my understanding,
that even if you do that, this still doesn't change that you're not
dealing with a virus that's very likely to lead to widespread
transmission, et cetera, et cetera. So it doesn't change the definition
or the operative guideline for this experiment, but it tells you, you
should report this, because that was part of the fail-safe.

And I don't disagree with you that it's not an ePPP —
Yeah, right.

-- and it doesn't fall under the P3CO framework. What I think we're
trying to understand is this was submitted, I mean, well, late, but the
work was conducted during 2018 for the fiscal year 2018 to 2019
and the year 5 progress report. At that time, this definition of gain-
of-function was still live on the website of enhancing a biological
agent. And I guess what I'm trying to understand, and the minority
talked about it too, is you said what your intent was with Senator
Paul, that when you said NIH does not now and has not ever funded
gain-of-function research in Wuhan was that you meant to say or
you intended ePPP research.

I said that before and I'll repeat it again. When I talk about gain-of-
function, I talk about -- a gain-of-function of concern -- I am talking
about the operative definition of gain-of-function of concern, which
for me is the P3CO that we've discussed multiple times.

And I agree, again, agree that this experiment did not meet the P3
definition. Would you agree that it meets that broad definition of
gain-of-function that was on NIH's website when this research was
conducted?

Again, I don't use the terminology "gain-of-function" because it can
be very confusing, which was the reason why we went through 3
years of discussion to avoid the kind of confusion that we're going
to get into now if we start going back and forth about this. That was
the whole reason for 3 years of deliberation to establish a regulatory
guideline based on a guiding policy that led to a framework. So,
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ok

regardless of how you slice it, when I spoke to -- when I responded
to Doctor -- to Senator Paul, I was referring to the gain-of-function
research of concern as defined by the P3CO framework.

My last question. That hearing was May 11th, 2021. When you
testified, like -- again, I apologize, but if I was a general C-SPAN
watcher or watching the news afterwards it obviously became a big
deal, and I went and I googled NIH gain-of-function research, this
is what would come up. Do you think you could have -- like, you
knew that you meant ePPP.

Yes.
Do you think you could have been more specific in your answer?

Well -

I think -- I think in terms of 3PCO, and that's embedded in my mind,
he didn't appreciate what gain-of-function according to the
regulatory guidelines are. I was speaking in that term. So he was
thinking of a different thing. When I spoke to him, I'll stand by my
statement that when I said we do not do gain-of-function I was
referring to gain-of-function of concern according to the 3PCO
guideline, done, full stop.

The last thing I'll say is we interviewed Dr. Tabak on Friday -- it's
been a long weekend -- and we asked him a similar question.
"What's described in the EcoHealth year 5 progress report would fit
the definition -- the broad definition of gain-of-function research?"
And he answered, "The generic, broad description of what gain-of-
function is, yes." Would you agree with Dr. Tabak?

You know, again, we're going in circles, because it's going to get the
same confusion that the chairman was just talking about.

I'm—
Because then, if I say yes, then, "Ah, yes, he says it was gain-of-

function." It is not gain-of-function of concern that is associated
with the regulatory operative definition of gain-of-function.
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A.

Q.

No. And I'm entirely willing to stipulate that and stipulate that it
didn't need to go through the P3CO and it didn't meet the definition
of ePPP. And I'll end on this, and if it's the same answer it's the same
answer. But we've asked Dr. Auchincloss this question. We've asked
Dr. Tabak this question. Both have said that it meets the definition,
the broad definition of gain-of-function research. I'm not trying to
catch you in a trap. I'm not trying to catch you —

But the thing is I have been living a life over the last few years of

getting total distortion of things that I've said and done, and you
know that. So if you want me to —

You don't need to answer again. I'll take that what you meant is what

Right.

And I agree that that is what you meant. I'm not trying to go against
that. I'm just -- when people read things in black and white and
words are said, it's hard to distinguish sometimes.

Yes.

Our hour is up, and we can go off the record. Our day is up too.*”®

[Whereupon, at 6:57 p.m., the interview was recessed, to reconvene at 10:00
a.m., Tuesday, January 9, 2024.]

Dr. Fauci testified that when he testified before the Senate, he was using the “operative”
definition of gain of function. However, that was not the definition of that term used by the NIH
at that time. Unfortunately, the website containing that definition was unceremoniously removed
and that definition deleted the same day the EcoHealth experiment was reported to Congress. Dr.
Fauci’s testimony to Senator Paul misled the public regarding NIH funding of gain-of-function

research at the WIV.

FINDING:

The U.S. National Institutes of Health and National Institute of Allergy and
Infectious Diseases Granted U.S. Taxpayer Funds to the Chinese People’s

Liberation Army.

375 Fauci TI 1, supra note 227, at 219-226.
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On April 13 2020, Mr. Handley prepared a background document outlining NIAID’s
interaction with China and its current relationship with various grantees.>’® This document was
presented to Dr. Fauci.?”” As an illustrative example of the lack of vetting of both foreign
laboratories and collaborators, this document lists at least three grants that include Dr. Yusen
Zhou—a known CCP member and PLA officer—as a collaborator.>”®

RATIONAL DESIGN AND EVALUATION OF NOVEL MRNA VACCINES AGAINST MERS-COV
(AI137472) , NEW YORK BLOOD CENTER,

Collaborators : Zhou, Yusen, Beijing Institute of Microbiology and Epidemiology, CHINA;
A NOVEL AND EFFECTIVE NANOBODY TO PREVENT AND TREAT ZIKA VIRUS INFECTION
{AI137790) , NEW YORK BLOOD CENTER,

Collaborators : Zhou, Yusen, Beijing Institute of Microbiology and Epidemiology, CHINA;

FOR NIAID USE ONLY

STRUCTURE-BASED DESIGN OF CORONAVIRUS SUBUNIT VACCINES (AI139092), NEW
YORK BLOOD CENTER,
Collaborators: Zhou, Yusen, Beijing Institute of Microbiology and Epidemiology, CHINA;

FINDING: Senior National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Leadership Fostered
an Environment That Promoted Evading the Freedom of Information Act.

FOIA establishes a statutory right of public access to Executive Branch information in the
federal government.3”” FOIA provides that any person has a right, enforceable in court, to obtain
access to federal agency records subject to the Act, except to the extent that any portions of such
records are protected from public disclosure by one of nine exemptions.>°

In the process of seeking official COVID-19 related documents, the Select Subcommittee
discovered documents suggesting senior officials in Dr. Fauci’s office flagrantly used deceptive
tactics to prevent their e-mails and correspondences from being discovered as responsive to
FOIA requests.

On June 4, 2021, Mr. Folkers intentionally misspelled “EcoHealth” as “Ec~Health.”*8!

376 Memorandum by F. Gray Handley, Associate Dir. For International Affairs, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious
Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Apr. 13, 2020).

377 [d

378 [d

379 5 U.S.C. § 552 (2018); see also, John Doe Agency v. John Doe Corp., 493 U.S. 146, 150 (1989) ("This Court
repeatedly has stressed the fundamental principle of public access to Government documents that animates the
FOIA.").

380 See 5 U.S.C. § 552 (a)(3), (a)(4)(B), (b), (c).

381 E-Mail from Gregory Folkers, Chief of Staff, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, to Courtney Billet, et
al., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (June 4, 2021, 9:36 PM).
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From: Folkers, Greg (NIH/NIAID) [E| _

Sent: Friday, June 4, 2021 9:36 FM
Billet, Courtney (NIH/NIAID) [ Routh,
stover, Kathy (NIH/NIAID) [E]

To: NIAID OD AM
In the recent Bulletin of the Atomic Scieniists article, we have this quote

Jennifer (NTH/NIAID) [E]
Subject: ASF and all this may corme up in inierviews

“It is clear that some or all of this work was being performed using a biosafety

standard— biosafety level 2, the biosafety level of a standard US dentist’s office—that would
pose an unacceptably high risk of infection of laboratory staff upon contact with a virus having
the transmission properties of SARS-Cov-2...."

My understanding is that human coronaviruses including sarbecoviruses are routinely worked at
in BSL-2 around the world as are many other viruses that can cause problems [or people. The
BSL level designation is decided by each country and is not related to perceived pandemic
potential hut largely to risk to the BSL workers.

For example, BSL-4 designation generally means deadly virus, infectious by aerosol, no vaccine against
it, and no treatment for it. So, although rabies is 100% fatal in humans, it can be prevented by a vaccine
and prevented by a post exposure serum, and (probably if not totally) not infectious by aerosol, thus it is
BSL-2 even though among the deadliest of human viruses. Working with non-human coronaviruses at
BSL-2 is widespread since these viruses are no: known to infect humans.

David, Alan and others may have additional thoughts.

Attached is a fact sheet that I think comes from Ec~Health

Again, in an original email from June 7, 2021, Mr. Folkers intentionally misspelled

“Andersen” as “anders$n”—an email Dr. Morens eventually forwarded to his Gmail.3*?

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

382 E-Mail from Gregory Folkers, Chief of Staff, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, to David Morens,
M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (June 16, 2021, 1:03 PM).
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Date: Wed, 16 Jun 2021 1:10:19 PM -0400
Sent: Wed, 16 Jun 2021 1:03:57 PM -0400
Subject: FW: anders3n

from: "Morens, David (viavia) (=1 [

Attachments: image001.gif; image002.jpg

:(5,«: > 'n.’f

David M. Morens, M.1,
CAPT, United States Public Health Service

Senior Advisor 0 the Director

Office of the Director

Nativial Instituee of Alleigy and lnfectious Disedses
National Institutes of Health

Building 31, Room 7A-03

31 Center Drive, MSC 2520

Bethesda, MD 20892-2520

Disclaimer: This message is miended for the exclusive use of the recipients) aamed above Ttmay contain information thatis PROTECTED, PRIVILEGED, andier CONFIDENTIAL, and

it shoukd wet be disseminated, disiriboted, or opied (o persons notamthoerieed to receive soch information. AR sensitive decoments moist be prapecly Tabeled before dissemination via emaif,

nit the intended recipient, any dissemination, distribution, er copying is strictly prelibited. If you have received this commumication inemren, please evase all copies of the message

it tac hmments and notify us imaoediale by,

Again, on June 25, 2021, Mr. Folkers intentionally misspelled “gain-of-function” to be
“g#in-of-function.”3%3

383 E-Mail from Greg Folkers, Chief of Staff, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (June 25,
2021, 11:25 AM).
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On Jun 25, 2021, at 11:25, Folkers, Greg (NIH/NIAID) [E] wrote:

David,

The WSJ editorial below argues that the presence of CGG-CGG is
evidence that SARS-CoV-2 is the result of g#in-of-function research.
What do you and the virologists in your orbit make of this? What is the
best argument that this is probably not the case? o

The intentional misspelling of these key words makes the e-mail more difficult to identify
via a keyword search to fulfill a FOIA request. The terms “Andersen,” “EcoHealth,” and “gain-
of-function” were frequently key words searched in many FOIA requests from the media and
others during the pandemic response.

Further, the apparent intentional misspellings of “Anders$n,” “Ec~Health,” and “g#in-of-
function” cannot be reasonably explained as typographical errors. The added symbols could not
be a slip or minor keyboard mistake. None of the “$,” “~”, and “#” are directly adjacent to either
letter they are intended to replace, and to place the symbols in a document, the additional “shift”
key must be pressed. These actions are indicative of a culture of avoiding accountability and
transparency by the unelected public health bureaucracy.

FINDING: A National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Freedom of Information
Act Official Apparently Aided Others in Efforts to Evade the Freedom of
Information Act.

According to documents, Ms. Moore assisted other employees regarding how to avoid
producing responsive documents or ensuring documents are not recoverable.

On February 25, 2021, Dr. Morens stated that he learned tricks to evade the FOIA from
Ms. Moore “who heads our FOIA office,” and she “also hates FOIAs.”3%

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

384 E-Mail from David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of
Health, to Gregory Keusch, M.D. (Feb. 25, 2021, 11:25 AM).
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----- Original Message-----
From: Morens, David (NIH/NIAID) [E] _
sent: Thursday, Febru :06 PM

To: Keusch, Geral
Cc: Peter Daszak

Subject: Re: Briefing Tony

It's more in the Tine of govt secret, but too comp;licated to explain in an
email. But I learned the tricks last year from an old friend, Marg moore,
who heads our FOIA office and also hates FOIAs.

Incidentally, Tony and I and a few other people here all got a huge FOIA
yesterday seeking any and all documents, emails, etc., that mention the
words "wuhan Institute” or "wIV". It appears that this comes from folks
tied to politics, who want specifically to know about anything NIH has had
to do with wiv, or any scientists working with wiv. The original request
was I think far broader, but we negotiated it down to just those two terms.
You names will not show up in this FOIA, at least not from my info. d

david....... PS, I will be on Public Health Service deployment from 10
December 2020 until 23 January 2021. puring this time I will have Timited
access to email and phone contact. Ty, dmm

On February 24, 2021, Dr. Morens again discussed how he learned specific tactics from
“our foia lady” on how to work around FOIA regulations, avoid transparency and accountability,
and “make emails disappear after i am foia’d but before the search starts.”3*> Dr. Morens
concluded “I think we are all safe.”33¢

On Feb 24, 2021, at 9:21 AM, David Morens <dmmorensic gmail .com= wrote:

EHA_DO0S318

You are right, i need to be more careful. However, as 1 mentioned once before, i learned from our foia lady here
how to make emails disappear after i am foia’d but before the search starts, so i think we are all safe. Plus i
deleted most of those earlier emails afier sending them to gmail. D

Sent from my iPhone
David M Morens
0D, NIAID, NIH

385 E-Mail from David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of
Health, to Gerald Keusch. M.D, et al., (Feb. 24, 2021, 9:21 AM).
386 14
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During a public hearing, Dr. Morens testified that these conversations were a “joke” and
stated that Ms. Moore “didn’t give me advice about how to avoid FOIA.”*%7

Considering the conflict between Dr. Morens’ emails and his testimony, the Select
Subcommittee sought to question Ms. Moore regarding knowledge of these issues.

On May 31, 2024, the Select Subcommittee attempted to arrange a voluntary transcribed
interview to obtain Ms. Moore’s testimony. The Select Subcommittee only began the process of
scheduling a transcribed interview after she did not reply to several attempts by Select
Subcommittee staff to schedule an informal briefing by phone.**® Ms. Moore eventually retained
personal counsel.*%

Select Subcommittee staff and Ms. Moore’s personal counsel engaged in negotiations to
facilitate a voluntary interview.**® The Select Subcommittee offered numerous accommodations,
including limiting the scope of the interview.**! On August 5, 2024, Ms. Moore, via her counsel,
formally refused to testify.>?

Subsequently, the Select Subcommittee issued a subpoena for Ms. Moore for a deposition
in Washington, D.C. on October 4, 2024.3** The Select Subcommittee asked Ms. Moore if she
had “any conversations with Dr. David Morens regarding his obligations pursuant to the
Freedom of Information Act or document retention laws and policies?”*** In response, Ms.
Moore invoked her right against self-incrimination pursuant to the Fifth Amendment of the
Constitution.?*

387 A Hearing with the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Senior Scientific Advisor, Dr. David
Morens: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong, 25, (May 22, 2024).
388 Letter from Hon. Brad Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, to Margaret Moore
(Sept. 30, 2024).

389 [d

390 [d

391 [d

392 g

393 Wenstrup Letter, supra note 388.

394 See Deposition of Maragret Moore (Oct. 4, 2024)

395 Id.
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The Efficacy, Effectiveness, and Transparency of the Use of Taxpayer Funds
and Relief Programs to Address the Coronavirus Pandemic, Including Any
Reports of Waste, Fraud, or Abuse

The COVID-19 pandemic left a detrimental impact on small businesses across the U.S.,
resulting in business closures, product shortages, and widespread job losses. Americans faced
instability in their daily lives prompting action by Congress to stabilize the economy and
providing critical resources to affected individuals, businesses and communities.

Congress passed the CARES Act, a $2.2 trillion dollar relief package designed to address
the economic impacts on small business and individuals. This legislation created and extended
programs such as PPP, EIDL, and enhanced UI benefits. The CARES Act also established the
PRAC to provide independent oversight of pandemic relief spending by coordinating IGs whose
agencies administer pandemic relief programs.

The unprecedented scale and lack of transparency in COVID-19 pandemic relief
programs exposed vulnerabilities for waste, fraud, and abuse. Reports of improper payments,
fraudulent claims, and misuse of funds have raised alarming concerns about where these funds
are going and who they are going to.

Federal agencies must do better to prepare for future public health crises to ensure
accountability and transparency in agencies to prevent waste fraud and abuse in emergency relief

programs.

1. The Payvcheck Protection Program

On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed the CARES Act, which created PPP under
section 1102 7(a) of the Small Business Act.3*® PPP provided essential relief for small
businesses, individuals, and nonprofit organizations by offering loans that could be forgiven if
the funds were used in accordance with criteria enumerated in the legislation.

Rollout of the Payment Protection Program

From the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, there was unprecedented public demand
for relief loans, especially for small businesses. A month after PPP was established, individual
and business applicants were granted $349 billion in taxpayer funded loans.**” On April 24,
2020, Congress allocated another $310 billion to PPP—in addition to the original $659 billion—
through the Health Care Enhancement Act.3*

39 Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities (CARES) Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, 134 Stat. 281 (2020)
[hereinafter “CARES Act”].

397 Stolen Taxpayer Funds: Reviewing the SBA and OIG Reports of Fraud in Pandemic Lending Programs: Hearing
Before H. Comm. On Small Businesses, 118" Cong. 1, (July 13, 2023) (Testimony of Hannibal “Mike” Ware,
Inspector General).

3% Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care Enhancement Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, 134 Stat. 620 (2020).
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On June 5, 2020, the PPP Flexibility Act modified the program by extending time under
which recipients had to spend funds from eight weeks to twenty-four weeks.*>*® While this
granted new flexibilities to loan recipients, it also resulted in greater potential for error and
increased opportunities for fraud and improper payments.

On December 27, 2020, Congress extended PPP through the Economic Aid to Hard-Hit
Small Business, Nonprofits and Venues Act in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021.4%
Small businesses financially affected by the COVID-19 pandemic received continued assistance
through March 31, 2021, equaling an additional $147.5 billion in program funding, increasing
total funding to $806.5 billion.*’!

ARPA provided an additional $7.2 billion in PPP funding, increased the total funding to
$813.7 billion.**? President Biden signed the legislation, which extended the deadline to apply
for PPP loans to May 31, 2021.4%

The rapid rollout of pandemic relief funds and lack of adequate systems to determine
eligibility and distribute assistance paved the way for large amounts of improper payments and
fraud. The SBA IG estimated the U.S. taxpayers lost $64 billion in fraud attributable to PPP
alone. ™

Structure of the Payment Protection Program

PPP loans were rapidly disbursed by SBA following the program’s establishment. To
qualify for a PPP loan, of which applicants had to self-certify their eligibility, applicants needed
to have less than 500 employees, been operational as of February 15, 2020, and certify the funds
would be used for specific purposes, such as payroll expenses, interest payments, rent, or
utilities.** Under the CARES Act, 60 percent of funds received had to be allocated for payroll
costs and other eligible employee expenses to qualify for loan forgiveness.*%

Initial Oversight of PPP Loans

In June 2020, GAO released its first bimonthly report which revealed that—because the
loan application process was essentially based on merit and self-reporting—the program was

39 Robert J. Dingler & Sean Lowry, CONG. RESEARCH SERV., R46397, SBA Paycheck Protection Program (PPP)
Loan Forgiveness: In Brief (last updated Sept. 3, 2020).

400 1d.

401 Id. (last updated Apr. 23, 2021).

402 American Rescue Plan Expands PPP Eligibility, PYA (Mar. 31, 2021).

403 Grace Segers, Biden signs PPP extension into law, moving application deadline to May 31, CBS NEWS (Mar. 30,
2021).

404 Dan Nanz, How the FBI is Combating COVID-19 Related Fraud, FBI SPRINGFIELD PRESS OFFICE (Jan. 12,
2024).

405 ppp Borrower Information Fact Sheet, U.S. TREASURY DEP’T.

406 press Release, U.S. Small Business Admin., Joint Statement by SBA Administrator Jovita Carranza and U.S.
Treasury Secretary Steven T. Mnuchin Regarding Enactment of the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act
(June 8, 2020).
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susceptible to fraudulent claims.*’” Eligibility for receiving a PPP loan was based on the claimant
self-asserting their PII without verification by the SBA. This lenient approach to distributing
federal relief funds opened the door for exploitation, with some applicants fraudulently inflating
payroll costs to secure larger loans, misrepresenting their number of employees to falsely appear
eligible, and certifying that the funds would be used for allowable expenses while diverting them
for personal use.*%

FINDING: The Paycheck Protection Program Was Rife with Fraudulent Claims Resulting in
at Least $64 Billion of Taxpayers’ Dollars Lost to Fraudsters and Criminals.

PPP was susceptible to many forms of waste, fraud, and abuse due to its rapid
implementation and reliance on self-verification by applicants. The most common ways this
program was exploited was through inflated payroll costs, misrepresenting employee numbers,
misuse of loan proceeds, submitting multiple applications, creating false certifications,
committing identify theft, loan stacking, and fake documentation.*®

Fraudulent Loan Applications

PPP fraud became one of the most accessible avenues for exploiting pandemic relief
funds. One of the largest PPP fraud cases prosecuted by DOJ involved six individuals who
conspired and submitted 75 fraudulent loan applications.*'® Using fake bank records and
fabricated federal tax forms, these defendants managed to secure $20 million in federal PPP
funds by inflating employee numbers and falsifying payroll amounts of their loan applications.*!!
Like many other cases, these individuals engaged in additional illegal activities, including
cashing more than 1,100 fake PPP paychecks amounting to more than $3 million that was
supposed to go towards employee payroll.*!

In another case prosecuted by DOJ, a California man was convicted for submitting
fraudulent applications to obtain PPP loans.*'3 By simply providing false information, he secured
$27 million in forgivable loans.*!* He claimed his company had more than 100 employees with
an average monthly payroll of $400,00.4'> After receiving $3 million in taxpayer money, he used
the funds for personal expenses, including cash withdrawals, payments on personal credit cards,
and transfers to other personal and business accounts under his control.*!¢ The individual now

47 GAO, GAO-20-625, COVID-19 OPPORTUNITIES TO IMPROVE FEDERAL RESPONSE AND RECOVERY EFFORTS (June
2020).

408 Ken Dilanian & Laura Strickler, 'Biggest fraud in a generation’: The looting of the Covid relief plan known as
PPP. NBC NEWS (Mar. 28, 2022).

409 GAO, GAO-23-105331, COVID RELIEF FRAUD SCHEMES AND INDICATORS IN SBA PANDEMIC PROGRAMS (May
2023).

410 press Release, DOJ, Leader of $20M COVID-19 Relief Fraud Ring Sentenced to 15 Years (Oct. 3, 2023).

411 [d

412 [d

413 Press Release, DOJ, Man Convicted for $27 Million PPP Fraud Scheme (Mar. 29, 2022).

414 [d

415 Id.

416 14
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faces up to 30 years in prison for charges of bank fraud, making false statements, and money
laundering.*!”

Fraudsters Using Unverified Social Security Numbers

Since opening investigations, PRAC identified 69,323 questionable SSNs used to obtain
$5.4 billion from PPP and EIDL programs.*'® Fraudsters used SSNs that were either stolen from
real or dead individuals or completely fabricated to create fake identities, impersonate legitimate
businesses, and submit multiple loan applications under multiple identities.*'® Using fake SSNs
allowed individuals to bypass background checks, receive funds illicitly, and launder money
through transfers, cash withdrawals, or high-value purchases.*?°

One specific investigation from DHS resulted in the conviction and five-year prison
sentence of a Florida man for fraudulently obtaining two Florida identification cards to apply for
three PPP loans using the identities of two separate victims.**! He received approximately
$150,000 in PPP loans.*?? Further investigation by the IRS indicated that the same Florida man
also submitted eight fraudulent tax returns using the stolen identities of six victims unrelated to
COVID-19 relief funds.**

U.S. Agencies IGs continue to investigate PPP fraud and other pandemic relief funds.
Many investigations have led officials to more serious organized criminals. As of August 2023,
the federal government charged 3,195 defendants for offenses related to PPP fraud and seized
more than $1.4 billion in relief funds, many of them from PPP fraud.*** U.S. Attorney Offices
and dozens of federal, state, and local law enforcements agencies have also opened their own
investigations.*?

FINDING: The U.S. Small Business Administration Did Not Properly Define Critical Internal
Roles and Responsibilities and Failed to Provide Actionable Guidance to External
Stakeholders to Manage Fraud Risk and Combat Paycheck Protection Program
Abuse.

417 [d

418 Federal Pandemic Spending: A Prescription for Waste, Fraud, and Abuse: Hearing Before H. Comm. On
Oversight and Accountability, 118" Cong. 1, (Feb. 1, 2023) (Statement of Michael E. Horowitz, Chair, Pandemic
Response Accountability Comm. Inspector General, DOJ).

419 PANDEMIC RESPONSE ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE, PRAC-2023-02, FRAUD ALERT: PRAC IDENTIFIES $5.4
BILLION IN POTENTIALLY FRAUDULENT PANDEMIC LOANS OBTAINED USING OVER 69,000 QUESTIONABLE SOCIAL
SECURITY NUMBERS (Jan. 30, 2023).

420 Id.

41 New Release, Homeland Security Investigations, Florida Man Sentenced for ‘PPP’ Fraud, Identity Theft (Mar.
19, 2024).

422 [d

423 [d

424 Madeleine Ngo, Over 3,100 Charged With Pandemic Relief Fraud, Justice Dept. Says, THE N.Y. TIMES (Aug. 23,
2023).

425 Examining Federal Efforts to Prevent, Detect, and Prosecute Pandemic Relief Fraud to Safeguard Funds for All
Eligible Americans: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Crisis, 117" Cong., (June 14, 2022)
(Statement of Michael E. Horowitz, Chair, Pandemic Response Accountability Committee, Inspector General, DOJ).
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SBA lacked a well-structured organizational framework with clearly defined roles,
responsibilities, and processes to manage and handle potentially fraudulent PPP loans across the
program.*?® SBA did not establish a sufficient fraud risk framework, and therefore lenders had
little to no information on how to handle PPP fraud or recover funds that were already disbursed
that were suspected fraud.*?” Even though lenders continually stressed the necessity of specific
guidance from SBA to ensure they were meeting the agency’s requirements, none was
provided.*?® SBA was one of many federal agencies that did not implement internal controls,
fraud prevention measures, or adequate financial and risk management capabilities even though
they were required by law.**

SBA Did Not Properly Define and Assign Roles and Responsibilities in Combating PPP
Fraud

The SBA did not clearly designate points of contact for handling various aspects of fraud
in the program and never defined their roles and responsibilities.*** During a SBA 1G
investigation, the IG found the SBA’s Office of Capitol Access and Office of General Counsel
were in supportive roles and involved in only a portion of fraud risk effort instead of being fully
integrated into that effort.**! They also found that SBA pointed to their publicly available
“Frequently Asked Questions” site and interim final rules for many questions that were asked.
These documents only contained general statements on SBA preventing fraud waste and abuse
within the PPP.*3

During SBA IG’s investigation, they interviewed employees of offices within SBA
including the Office of Financial Assistance. An official from that office said they did not have a
formal internal process for handling potentially fraudulent PPP loans and referred them to the
Office of Financial Program Operations, an office not associated with the SBA.** When IG
officials met with the Office of Financial Program Operations, an official told them the PPP
guidance did not address fraud and referred them back to the Office of Financial Assistance for
formal processes.***

SBA Lacked Specific Guidance to Lenders Regarding PPP Fraud Schemes
Lenders that distributed PPP loans to “qualifying” applicants lacked clear guidance from

the SBA on how to handle PPP fraud or recover funds obtained fraudulently from scammers.**
Instead, the SBA assumed lenders already established and implemented industry regulations

426 See generally, U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ADMIN., REPORT 22-13, SBA’S HANDLING OF POTENTIALLY FRAUDULENT
PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOANS (May 26, 2022).

427

sy

429 g

430 g
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84y

435 Id. (Lenders that distributed PPP loans to “qualifying” applicants lacked a clear guidance from the SBA on how
to handle PPP fraud or recover funds obtained fraudulently from criminals).
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regarding fraud. As a result, the SBA blamed financial institutions and lenders rather than taking

responsibility for not developing and communicating actionable guidance to manage PPP fraud
risk.*3

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, lenders had little to no communication with OIG
investigative agencies.*” However, SBA OIG received a significant volume of requests from
lenders and financial institutions on how to handle potentially fraudulent PPP loans, with PPP
fraud hotline complaints exceeding 54,000.*% Providing lenders with sufficient information and
guidance on how to address PPP fraud would have established a foundation for addressing fraud
and would have prevented billions of taxpayer’s dollars from going to criminals.

436 Id.
437 Id.
438 Id
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II. Enhanced Unemplovment Insurance

In the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress and the Executive Branch fast-
tracked emergency relief packages aimed at stabilizing the economy and providing crucial
support to individuals and businesses. States quickly issued stay-at-home orders because of
overcrowded hospitals and a rising mortality rate, leading to widespread economic shutdowns
and a surge in unemployment claims.** In April 2020, the unemployment rate reached 15
percent—the highest unemployment rate since data collection began in 1948.*° Within just a
few months, unemployment benefit claims soared to more than 58 million as businesses closed
and workers lost their jobs, with more than 7 million UI applications filed in a 23-week span.*!

The DOL establishes federal guidelines that require each state to manage and fund its
own unemployment benefits program with the federal government allowing extensions and
expansions of benefits during emergencies, including public heath crises.**? In response to
massive unemployment, Congress enacted several pandemic relief packages to provide financial
support to employers, employees, and the newly unemployed:

e FFCRA: The first relief program that required certain employers to provide emergency
paid sick leave and expanded family and medical leave for individuals with reasons
related to COVID-19.443

e CARES Act: The largest relief package that created three new temporary federal
unemployment benefit programs. These fully federally funded programs expanded
existing Ul benefits, created additional weeks of temporary benefits, and increased Ul
benefits to groups that were traditionally not eligible to apply:**

o FPUC: Established weekly $600 payments in addition to regular Ul and extended
benefits.*

o PEUC: Extended the length of time individuals could receive Ul benefits,
allowing the claimant to claim benefits for up to 79 weeks.*
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o PUA: Expanded eligibility of UI to self-employed workers, freelancers,
independent contractors, and part-time workers impacted by COVID-19,
providing up to 79 weeks of unemployment benefits.*’

In total, an estimated $872 billion was allocated to COVID-19 UI benefit programs.**3
These programs were implemented rapidly as Congress, governors, and state legislatures pushed
for state workforce agencies to distribute funds efficiently. However, the unprecedented volume
of claims placed enormous strain on states’ unemployment systems contributing to delays,
confusion, improper payments, and fraud.*** The DOL ETA was tasked with overseeing
traditional Ul benefit claims, ensuring states distributed effectively while maintaining
accountability.*° ETA officials reported that the COVID-19 pandemic led to a tenfold increase in
pandemic-related Ul claims for federal and state programs, overwhelming the capacity of state
systems.*!

The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 202 1implemented refined integrity measures which
required documentation for claimants filing benefits after January 31, 2021. States had to verify
PUA applicants and include a statutory requirement for weekly self-certification. States were
required to have a process which addressed work refusals including a method for employers to
properly report these refusals. 432

ARPA extended pandemic Ul benefits for an additional six months, including continued
weekly FPUC payments and a 29-week extension of PEUC benefits.*>* By March 2021, nearly
all businesses had reopened, and a mass vaccination program was well under way with one-third
of Americans having already reported to at least one dose of the vaccine.*** Extending these
programs, with insufficient oversight, allowed fraudsters, international criminals, and foreign
adversaries to steal billions in taxpayer dollars through Ul fraud.*>

FINDING: Fraudulent Unemployment Insurance Payments Total More Than $191 Billion.

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, unemployment claims skyrocketed to
unprecedented levels. GAO estimated that 11 to 15 percent of Ul claims were fraudulent,
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resulting in between $100 billion and $135 billion of improper payments potentially linked to
fraud.*® After further investigation by DOL IG, it found that at least $191 billion was wrongfully
paid out to bad actors who exploited individuals’ PIL.*’

In December 2021, ETA reported an improper payment rate of 18.71 percent for two of
the three pandemic Ul programs—PEUC and EPUC—excluding monetary losses from the PUA
program.*>® A year later, ETA reported the percentage of improper payments rose almost three
precent for the same two programs.** As of September 13, 2023, DOJ announced more than 700
enforcement actions, including criminal charges, against 371 defendants for more than $836
million in alleged UI fraud.*¢° Most of these losses could have been prevented if Congress and
Federal agencies provided up-to-date technologies along with proper verification methods for
oversight, something GAO has been specifically recommending for more than ten years. ¢!

Agencies are actively working to recover funds lost to fraudsters but are having
difficulties tracking down some of the money, as some was converted into tangible assets.
Fraudsters bought cars, property, and even hired hitmen with the money stolen from taxpayers.*®*
The figure below shows the total estimated fraudulent and nonfraudulent overpayments that
occurred between March 2020 and March 2023 versus how many fraudulent or erroneous
payments have been recovered during this time period.*¢*
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Total State-Reported Overpayment and Recovery Amounts for all Unemployment Insurance (Ul) Programs,
March 2020 — March 2023 (as of May 1, 2023)

Total nonfraudulent and fraudulent overpayments $55.8 billion
across all Ul programs

Total nonfraudulent and fraudulent overpayments $6.8 billion
recovered across all Ul programs )
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States have continuously reported fraudulent UI overpayments in both traditional and
pandemic Ul programs. The data from March 2020 and March 2023 compares the stark
differences in how much money was lost during the pandemic compared to traditional UI
programs.*%° States have only identified $1.2 billion in payment recoveries out of $5.3 billion
lost across FPUC, PEUC, and UI programs.*®® The figure below shows the amount of money lost
to fraudulent overpayments and subsequent recoveries by states for both the traditional and
pandemic UI programs.*®’ The prior lapses in the traditional Ul benefit claim system opened the
door for fraud, waste, and abuse of pandemic-era Ul benefits.

Fig